#### ABSTRACT

# THE POXVIRUS A35 PROTEIN PROMOTES VIRULENCE BY REGULATING THE HOST ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSE

by

Kristina Elizabeth Rehm

Under the direction of Rachel L. Roper, Ph.D.

April 2010

Donald Hoffman, Ph.D., Director

Interdisciplinary Doctoral Program in the Biological Sciences, East Carolina University

Poxviruses are large double-stranded DNA viruses with a broad host range and worldwide distribution. The most infamous poxvirus is Variola virus, the causative agent of smallpox, which caused over 500 million deaths in the twentieth century before it was declared eradicated in 1980 by the World Health Organization. Nevertheless, more than 25 years after its eradication from nature, smallpox remains a threat, as there is now concern for its use in an act of bioterrorism. Other poxviruses have emerged in recent years. In 2003, there was a monkeypox outbreak in the United States, with nearly 80 cases. This disease is similar to smallpox, but can be spread not only from human to human, but also from *animal* to human, which emphasizes the fact that many poxviruses are a zoonotic threat. The current poxvirus vaccine (Vaccinia virus, VACV), while highly effective, is unsafe and its use is contraindicated for an estimated 25% of

the population due to its virulence. The virulence of VACV is attributed to the production of numerous proteins that function to evade the host immune response, including inhibitors of interferons, regulators of apoptosis, and cytokine receptor homologs. Despite the large amount of work that has been done to characterize poxvirus virulence mechanisms, there are more than 25 highly conserved genes that remain uncharacterized. The poxvirus A35R gene is highly conserved in all sequenced mammalian tropic poxviruses and has little similarity to any non-pox protein, suggesting an important and novel function. The A35 protein was not required for viral replication in eight cell lines from various hosts, but removal of A35 from the viral genome resulted in a 1000-fold decrease in virulence in the mouse model. We therefore hypothesized that the poxvirus A35 gene product promotes virulence by affecting viral replication in certain cell types *in vivo* or by regulating aspects of the host adaptive immune response. We show that A35 is not required for viral replication in various cell types from six different mammalian hosts and also in mouse tissues early after infection. Using a model major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II-restricted antigen presentation system, we have shown that VACV and A35 inhibit the amount of numerous cytokines that are produced from both the T cell and the antigen presenting cell (APC) as a result of specific antigen presentation, including IL-2 and nitric oxide. Further data implicated the APC as the viral target, as the T cells used in the assays were unaffected by VACV and A35. The A35 protein did not induce apoptosis of the APC or affect antigen-independent NO production. Furthermore, A35 localized to the endosomal compartments of the APC and decreased MHC class II expression and the amount of peptide presented in the cleft of MHC class II molecules. To determine if A35 would decrease the host adaptive immune response, mice were vaccinated with 500 plaque forming units (pfu) of either VACV (Western Reserve strain, WR) or A35 $\Delta$ . Our data indicate that A35 decreased VACV-

specific immune response including interferon- (IFN)-γ production, cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) killing, serum antibody, and neutralizing antibody. The decreased immune response was shown to be important as it resulted in increased viral replication in target organs. The A35A virus was also an effective vaccine, as it protected mice as well as WR from a lethal challenge. We also made a recombinant A35 deletion mutant virus in the Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA) replication-deficient vaccine strain, which has been shown to be safe when used in immunocompromised individuals. Results with MVA were similar to studies performed with WR: A35 was not required for virus replication and decreased VACV-specific immune responses. Furthermore, the MVA35Δ vaccine protected mice as well as MVA from a lethal respiratory challenge. Our data expands the knowledge of what is known regarding poxvirus virulence mechanisms and is applicable to the development of safer and highly immunogenic vaccines. Since poxviruses are now being used widely as a platform for a number of vaccines for various diseases, including human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and cancer, our work with A35 is broadly applicable to vaccine development.

# THE POXVIRUS A35 PROTEIN PROMOTES VIRULENCE BY REGULATING THE HOST ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSE

A Dissertation Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Microbiology and Immunology And the Interdisciplinary Doctoral Program in the Biological Sciences Brody School of Medicine at East Carolina University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements of the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedicine

> By Kristina Elizabeth Rehm

> > April 2010

©Copyright 2010 Kristina Elizabeth Rehm

## THE POXVIRUS A35 PROTEIN PROMOTES VIRULENCE BY REGULATING THE

### HOST ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSE

By

Kristina Elizabeth Rehm

APPROVED BY:

DIRECTOR OF DISSERTATION:

COMMITTEE MEMBER:

COMMITTEE MEMBER:

COMMITTEE MEMBER:

COMMITTEE MEMBER:

Rachel L. Roper, Ph.D.

Donald R. Hoffman, Ph.D.

Isabelle Lemasson, Ph.D.

Mark D. Mannie, Ph.D.

Mary Jane Thomassen, Ph.D.

DIRECTOR OF THE INTERDISCIPLINARY DOCTORAL PROGRAM IN THE BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES:

Donald R. Hoffman, Ph.D.

DEAN OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL:

Paul J. Gemperline, Ph.D.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my mentor Dr. Rachel Roper for her guidance and support over the past four years. Thanks also to my committee for helpful discussions and experimental insight. I wish to acknowledge the financial support of the Interdisciplinary Doctoral Program in the Biological Sciences, the Department of Microbiology and Immunology, the North Carolina Biotechnology Center, the National Institutes of Health grant #U54 A1057157 from the Southeastern Regional Center of Excellence for Emerging Infections and Biodefense, and the Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center at University of North Carolina. I would also like to thank members of the Roper laboratory, including Gwen Jones, Alice Tripp, and Tiffany Graham, for all of their experimental help. I am especially grateful to Brent Hendrixson for keeping me sane throughout the past few years.

LIST OF FIGURES	xvi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xviii
CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	1
Poxviruses	1
General Characteristics and Taxonomy	1
Replication Cycle	1
Smallpox	2
Emerging Poxviruses	3
Poxvirus Vaccines	5
Overview and Vaccine-Related Complications	5
New Generation Vaccines	6
Poxviruses as Platform Vaccines	7
Poxviruses and the Immune Response	8
Immune Responses to Poxvirus Infections	8
Poxvirus Immune Evasion Strategies	10
Vaccinia complement control protein	11
IL-18 binding protein	11
Soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor homologs	12
Soluble IL-1β receptor homolog	12
Chemokine regulators	13
Interferon binding proteins	14
Intracellular inhibition of interferon activity	15

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Apoptosis inhibitors	
Regulation of MHC class II antigen presentation	
Vaccinia Virus A35R Protein	
CHAPTER 2: VACCINIA VIRUS DECREASES MHC CLASS II ANTIGEN PRESENTATION, T CELL PRIMING, AND PEPTIDE ASSOCIATION WITH MHC CLASS II	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Cells and Virus	
Peritoneal Macrophage Isolation and Antigen Presentation Assays	
Bone-Marrow Derived Dendritic Cells	
CTLL IL-2 Bioassay	
Nitric Oxide Measurement	
Measurement of Cytokines	
RsL.11 Stimulation Assay	
Metabolism Assays	
Flow Cytometry	
One-Step Growth Curve	
Peptide-MHC Association	
Statistical Analyses	
Results	
Vaccinia Virus Decreases IL-2 Production	

Vaccinia Virus Decreases Nitric Oxide Response	27
RsL.11 T Cells are Refractory to Vaccinia Virus	28
CTLLs and Vaccinia Virus Infection	29
Antigen Concentration	30
B Cell Antigen Presentation	30
Vaccinia Virus Inhibits Nitric Oxide Production from PEC and RAW Macrophages	31
Vaccinia Virus Infection Globally Alters Cytokine Responses in Antigen Presentation	31
Vaccinia Virus Decreases MHC Class II Expression	31
Vaccinia Virus Induces Apoptosis in PEC and RAW Macrophages	32
Virus Replication	33
Peptide Association with MHC Class II	33
Discussion	34
CHAPTER 3: VACCINIA VIRUS A35R INHIBITS MHC CLASS II ANTIGEN PRESENTATION	60
Abstract	60
Introduction	60
Materials and Methods	63
Cells and Virus	63
Cell Tropism Replication	63
Peritoneal Macrophage Isolation and Antigen Presentation Assays	63
CTLL IL-2 Bioassay	64

	Nitric Oxide Measurement	64
	Cytokine Measurement	64
	RsL.11 Stimulation Assay	65
	Metabolism/Survival Assays	65
	Flow Cytometry	65
	Peptide-MHC Association	66
	Immunofluorescence Microscopy	66
	One-Step Growth Curve	67
	IFNγ ELISPOT	67
	Statistical Analyses	67
Result	ts	67
	A35 Effects on Replication	67
	A35 Inhibits IL-2 and Nitric Oxide Production	68
	A35 Reduces Cytokine Responses Induced by Antigen Presentation	69
	A35 Does Not Affect the RsL.11 or CTLL T Cells Directly	70
	A35Δ is as Infectious as WR Virus	71
	A35Δ Replicates Equal to WR in PEC	72
	A35 Does Not Induce Apoptosis of PEC	72
	A35 Does Not Affect Antigen-Independent Nitric Oxide Production	73
	A35 and MHC Class II and B7.2 Expression on APC	73

A35 Decreases the Amount of Peptide Presented in MHC II
A35 Localizes to the Endosomes
Discussion
CHAPTER 4: THE POXVIRUS A35 PROTEIN IS AN IMMUNOREGULATOR
Abstract
Introduction
Materials and Methods
Cells and Virus
Mouse Infection and Sample Collection
ELISA
Measurement of Neutralizing Antibody
IFNγ ELISPOT
CTL Assay
Cytokine Measurement
Virus Titrations
Statistical Analyses
Results
Virulence Studies
Spleen Enlargement
Antibody Response
IFNy-Secreting Splenocytes
CTL Activity

Cytokine Production	
Viral Titers in Organs	
Protection from Lethal Challenge	
Discussion	
CHAPTER 5: DELETION OF THE A35 GENE FROM MODIFIED VACCINIA ANKARA INCREASES IMMUNOGENICITY, ISOTYPE SWITCHING, AND CREATES AN EFFECTIVE POXVIRUS VACCINE	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Cells and Virus	
Immunostaining of Virus Infected Cells	
Construction of the MVA35∆ Mutant Virus	
Western Blotting	
One-Step Growth Curve	
Mouse Vaccinations	
Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay	
IFNγ ELISPOT	
Flow Cytometry	
Statistical Analyses	
Results	
Molecular Characterization of MVA35Δ	
MVA35Δ Virus Replicates Normally	

Infection of Mice with MVA and MVA35 $\Delta$	142
Antibody Response to Infection with MVA354	143
T Lymphocyte Response to Infection with MVA35Δ	144
Measurement of Cellular Subsets in the Spleens	145
MVA35∆ Protects Mice from Lethal Challenge	146
Discussion	146
CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION	167
REFERENCES	176
APPENDIX A: ANIMAL AND BIOHAZARDOUS MATERIALS USE APPROVALS	208
APPENDIX B: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS	214

# LIST OF FIGURES

1. VACV infection of primary APC inhibits IL-2 and NO production	39
2. VACV does not directly affect the RsL.11 or CTLL T cells	41
3. VACV infection and antigen concentration	43
4. VACV infection and B cell antigen presentation	45
5. VACV infection and antigen-independent NO production	47
6. VACV reduces cytokine synthesis as a result of antigen presentation	49
7. VACV decreases MHC class II expression	51
8. VACV inhibits the metabolism of macrophages	53
9. VACV induces apoptosis in macrophages	55
10. VACV does not replicate to high titers in PEC	57
11. VACV decreases peptide-MHC II complexes	59
12. A35 inhibits the amount of antigen presentation induced IL-2 and NO	83
13. A35 reduces antigen presentation-induced cytokine synthesis	85
14. A35 does not directly affect T lymphocytes	87
15. A35 $\Delta$ mutant virus is as infectious as WR and replicates equally	89
16. A35 and apoptosis	91
17. A35 does not block antigen-independent NO production	93
18. A35 decreases MHC class II expression	95
19. A35 decreases peptide-MHC class II complexes	97
20. A35 localization in PEC	99
21. Intraperitoneal infection of mice	117
22. Intranasal infection of mice	119

23.	Spleen weights and counts	121
24.	VACV- and B5R-specific antibody response	123
25.	VACV-specific IFNy-producing cells	125
26.	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes	127
27.	Cytokines in blood	129
28.	Viral titers in organs	131
29.	Protection from lethal challenge	133
30.	Molecular characterization of MVA35Δ	152
31.	A35 is not required for replication of MVA	154
32.	Infection of mice with MVA and MVA35Δ	156
33.	VACV-specific antibody response	158
34.	VACV-specific antibody isotype response	160
35.	VACV-specific IFNy-producing cells	162
36.	Cellular subsets in spleens	164
37.	Protection from lethal challenge	166
38.	Model of A35 with the APC	175

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

 $A35\Delta - A35$  deletion mutant virus A35Res – A35 rescue virus Ag – antigen AIDS – acquired immune deficiency syndrome AP – alkaline phosphatase APC - allophycocyanin APC – antigen presenting cell C3b – complement component 3b C4b – complement component 4b CD - cluster of differentiation CD40L - cluster of differentiation 40 ligand CEF - chick embryo fibroblast CLIP - class II-associated invariant-chain peptide Con A – Concanavalin A CrmA – cytokine response modifier A CTL – cytotoxic T lymphocyte DMEM - Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium dpi – days post infection DNA – deoxyribonucleic acid dsDNA - double-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid EEV - extracellular enveloped virus  $eIF2\alpha$  - eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha ELISA - enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay ELISPOT - enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assay FACS - fluorescent activated cell sorter FBS - fetal bovine serum Fc – fragment, crystallizable FITC - fluorescein isothiocyanate GAD – glutamate decarboxylase G-CSF – granulocyte colony stimulating factor GM-CSF - granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor GPMBP - guinea pig myelin basic protein gpt - E. coli xanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase gene GRO/KC - growth regulated oncogene alpha/keratinocyte attractant h - hour(s)HBSS - Hank's buffered salt solution HEL – hen egg lysozyme HIV – human immunodeficiency virus hpi – hours post infection HRP - horseradish peroxidase IEV - intracellular enveloped virus IFN - interferon IFN $\alpha$  – interferon alpha IFN $\beta$  – interferon beta

IFNγ – interferon gamma IFNyR – interferon gamma receptor Ig – immunoglobulin IgG – immunoglobulin G IgG1 – immunoglobulin G1 IgG2a – immunoglobulin G 2a IgM – immunoglobulin M Ii - invariant chain IL – interleukin IL-1 $\alpha$  – interleukin 1 alpha IL-1 $\beta$  – interleukin 1 beta i.m. - intramuscular IMV - intracellular mature virus i.n. - intranasal i.p. - intraperitoneal IV - immature virion JAK - Janus-family tyrosine kinases kb - kilobases kD - kilodalton KLH - keyhole limpet hemocyanin  $LD_{50} - 50\%$  lethal dose LDH – lactate dehydrogenase LPS – lipopolysaccharide MCP-1 - monocyte chemotactic protein 1 MEM - minimal essential media MFI – mean fluorescence intensity MHC – major histocompatibility complex MIP-1 $\alpha$  - macrophage inflammatory protein – 1 alpha MIP-1 $\beta$  - macrophage inflammatory protein – 1 beta MOI - multiplicity of infection mRNA - messenger ribonucleic acid MTS/PMS - 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4sulphophenyl)2H-tetrazolium, inner salt/phenazine methosulphate MVA – Modified Vaccinia Ankara MVA35A - Modified Vaccinia Ankara A35 deletion mutant virus NK – natural killer NO – nitric oxide OD – optical density ORF - open reading frame PacBl – Pacific blue PBS – phosphate buffered saline PE – phycoerythrin PE-Cy7 – phycoerythrin cyanine 7 PEC – peritoneal exudate cells pfu – plaque forming units PI – propidium iodide

pi – post infection PKR – protein kinase R PMA - phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate RANTES - Regulated upon Activation, Normal T cell Expressed, and Secreted RBC – red blood cell RNA - ribonucleic acid RPE – R phycoerythrin SARS – severe acute respiratory syndrome SD – standard deviation SEM – standard error of the mean STAT – Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription Th1 – T helper 1 Th2 - T helper 2 TK – thymidine kinase TNF - tumor necrosis factor  $TNF\alpha$  – tumor necrosis factor alpha UN - uninfected VACV – Vaccinia virus VARV – Variola virus vCCI – Vaccinia CC chemokine inhibitor VCP – Vaccinia complement control protein VIG – Vaccinia immune globulin vIL-1\beta R - Vaccinia interleukin-1 beta receptor homolog vTNFR - Vaccinia tumor necrosis factor receptor homolog

WR-Western Reserve

#### **CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

#### **Poxviruses**

#### **General Characteristics and Taxonomy**

The Poxviridae are a family of large, enveloped, double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) viruses that range in size from 130-300 kilobases (kb) (141). Unlike all other DNA viruses, poxviruses have the unique ability to replicate in the cytoplasm of their host, rather than in the nucleus. Poxviruses have worldwide distribution and a broad host range, infecting both insects (Subfamily *Entomopoxvirinae*) and vertebrates (Subfamily *Chordopoxvirinae*). Included in the vertebrate-infecting subfamily Chordopoxvirinae are the following genera: Orthopoxvirus, Parapoxvirus, Avipoxvirus, Capripoxvirus, Leporipoxvirus, Suipoxvirus, Molluscipoxvirus, and Yatapoxvirus. The focus of this literature review will be the orthopoxviruses, as these are the most significant to human health. Virus species that are included in this genus are Variola virus (VARV), Ectromelia virus (mousepox), Monkeypox, Cowpox, and the prototypical poxvirus Vaccinia virus (VACV). These virus species are highly related, and vaccination or infection with one confers immunity to all others. Parapoxviruses, vatapoxviruses, and molluscipoxviruses can also infect humans, and will be mentioned briefly.

#### **Replication Cycle**

Poxviruses have a complicated replication cycle that occurs exclusively in the cytoplasm of the host cell. Thus, upon entry into a host cell, the virion is equipped with the enzymes that are necessary to initiate the transcription of genes required for viral DNA replication (141). Virus entry has been shown to be mediated by the viral envelope protein A27, which attaches to the cellular surface proteins heparin and heparin sulfate (183). The expression of poxvirus genes is temporally regulated, with early, intermediate, and late gene expression (23). Once inside the host cell, the virion core begins to transcribe early mRNA, which will be translated into proteins that are needed for DNA replication and intermediate transcription. Also synthesized are proteins that function in evading the host immune system, which will be discussed later. Uncoating of the core results in the initiation of DNA replication, followed by intermediate transcription from the newly synthesized DNA. Finally, late transcription occurs, producing early transcription factors and structural proteins. These, along with viral DNA, form the newly assembled virions (141).

Virion assembly occurs in areas of the cytoplasm called virus factories. Assembly begins with the formation of crescent-shaped membrane structures, followed by the packaging of DNA to form immature virions (IV). The IV matures via proteolysis to form the intracellular mature virus (IMV), which then undergoes a membrane wrapping event and acquires two additional membranes from the trans-golgi, forming the intracellular enveloped virus (IEV) (77, 141, 178). The IEV then fuses out from the cell, losing its outermost membrane and forming the extracellular enveloped virus (EEV) (78, 172). Both the IMV and the EEV are infectious forms of the virus. The IMV is released from dying or lysed cells, is extremely stable and thought to be the form of virus responsible for transmission from host-to-host. The IMV can enter the cell by either fusion with the plasma membrane (28) or by endosomal entry (215). The EEV, containing one additional membrane compared to IMV, is also infectious and is believed to be the form that mediates spread of infection in the host (141).

#### **Smallpox**

The most infamous orthopoxvirus is Variola virus (VARV), the causative agent of smallpox. VARV has a 30-40% fatality rate and was responsible for nearly 500 million deaths in the 20<sup>th</sup> century alone before its eradication from nature in the late 1970's (124). The eradication

of smallpox was due to a successful vaccination campaign involving the related poxvirus, Vaccinia virus (VACV). Smallpox is an exclusively human disease and was able to be successfully eradicated due to the fact that no animal reservoir existed, which is not the case with most other poxviruses. Routine poxvirus vaccination in the United States stopped in the early 1970's due to high complication rates. The last natural case of smallpox occurred in Somalia in 1977, and smallpox was declared eradicated by the World Health Organization in 1980 (124). Two official stockpiles of VARV exist in the world, but there are fears that other unknown stockpiles may exist and be used in an act of bioterrorism against the United States. Such release of VARV would be devastating, as the current population is largely unvaccinated and would thus be susceptible to infection.

#### **Emerging Poxviruses**

Since the discontinuation of vaccination programs, the incidence of zoonotic orthopoxvirus infections has increased throughout the world. In South America, a wild VACV, known as Cantagalo virus, has infected cattle on over 70 farms and caused disseminated rash in humans (45). The virus is thought to have been transmitted to domestic cattle, where it persisted and mutations occurred, and then transmitted back to susceptible humans (45). There is also concern that Cantagalo is rapidly spreading throughout Brazil (135).

Buffalopox, a close relative of VACV, can infect buffaloes and humans and has been associated with numerous outbreaks in India (100, 227). Buffalopox can cause lesions on the teats and udders of both buffalo and cows, which can then transmit the virus to the hands of humans. A hospital outbreak of buffalopox caused by contaminated first aid supplies was recently reported at a burn center in Pakistan (228). Of particular concern is the evidence that suggests that buffalopox can also spread from human to human (100). Outbreaks of cowpox have been reported in primate colonies in Europe (129, 132). The outbreaks caused widespread sickness and mortality, raising concerns about the evolution of cowpox into a significant primate pathogen. It was shown that rats captured at the sanctuary were positive for infection and were most likely the source of the outbreak. Human outbreaks of cowpox are mostly associated with contact with infected cats (10), and there is evidence for human to human spread (118).

The most dangerous poxvirus that infects humans is monkeypox virus. This virus causes a smallpox-like illness with a 10% fatality rate (63), is commonly carried by African rodents, and is endemic to equatorial Africa (47). In 2003 there was an outbreak of monkeypox in the United States associated with the importation of African rodents. This outbreak caused more than 80 human infections, but since this was a low virulence strain, no fatalities occurred (34).

*Orthopoxvirus* is not the only poxvirus genus with members that cause human disease. Tanapox, a member of the genus *Yatapoxvirus*, is endemic to equatorial Africa, infects primates and has been diagnosed in Europe and the United States in recent years (52, 198). Molluscum contagiosum virus, the sole member of the genus *Molluscipoxvirus*, occurs commonly (and exclusively) in humans (39% of a population over 50 years of age tested seropositive in Australia) (101) and accounts for approximately 300,000 doctor visits each year in the United States (140). Molluscum causes groups of wart like lesions, is common in children and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) patients, and is now emerging as a sexually transmitted disease. Members of the genus *Parapoxvirus* can cause disease in humans, including orf virus and pseudocowpoxvirus (137, 168), and these infections are mostly transmitted from sheep, goats, or cattle.

#### **Poxvirus Vaccines**

#### **Overview and Vaccine-Related Complications**

Smallpox was eradicated from the world through vaccination using a related virus, VACV. This is a live virus vaccine that is given in the upper arm using a technique called scarification. A "take" is indicated by the presence of a pustule at the vaccination site (85). The pustule will eventually form a scab and fall off. Vaccine recipients will then have immunity to not only smallpox, but to all other related orthopoxviruses.

Although highly effective, vaccination with VACV was discontinued for the general public due to a high rate of adverse events. Disseminated, or generalized, vaccinia develops as a vesicular rash in otherwise healthy people (114). Eczema vaccinatum can occur in individuals with atopic dermatitis or other inflammatory skin conditions, and thus these individuals or their contacts should not be vaccinated with live VACV. Recently, a 2-year old child developed eczema vaccinatum and became extremely ill after contact with his father who had received the smallpox vaccine because of his military service (111). Progressive vaccinia occurs in those with compromised immune systems, is characterized by a progressive necrosis at the vaccination site, and is often fatal (20). Also associated with vaccination are postvaccination encephalitis and myopericaditis. Indeed, a recent vaccine trial was cancelled due to the increased incidence of heart complications (7, 60, 211). It has been estimated that vaccination with VACV is contraindicated for 25% of the population (96), including those with inflammatory skin conditions, immunodeficiency, or heart disease, and also for any of their close contacts due to the potential for accidental infection of household members. Thus, VACV maintains significant virulence in the human population and mechanisms that contribute to its virulence are of interest.

In addition, in the face of emerging disease and bioterrorism, there is a need for a safer poxvirus vaccine that can be used in the general public.

#### **New Generation Vaccines**

Many strategies are being used to reduce the risks associated with vaccination without decreasing either the immunogenicity or efficacy of the vaccine. The first is the sequential passage of virulent wild type VACV in the tissue culture cells of a non-traditional host. During these passages, the properties of the virulent VACV change, resulting in an attenuated virus. Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA) is an attenuated virus strain that resulted from over 570 serial passages of wild type VACV Ankara strain in chicken embryo fibroblasts (CEF). During this time, six major deletions of the genome occurred, totaling approximately 25 kb of DNA (136, 138), and the virus lost the ability to replicate in most mammalian cells (17). The avirulence of MVA in mammals is attributed to the deletion of numerous genes, including the K1L host range gene, and genes for the soluble receptors for both type I and type II interferons (IFN) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) (17). MVA is able to undergo all steps of DNA replication, and all early, intermediate, and late viral proteins are synthesized (98, 204), but morphogenesis stops at the formation of immature virions. This is important, since the production of late viral proteins is crucial in the generation of protective neutralizing antibodies. MVA was used without complication during the smallpox eradication campaign, even in high risk populations (133), although its protective efficacy against human smallpox infection remains to be tested. Recent vaccine trials have shown that MVA can be used without complication in HIV-infected individuals and also in those with atopic dermatitis (90). Animal models using non-human primates indicate that MVA can protect against monkeypox infection (57, 58).

A second strategy that has been used to increase the safety of vaccination is the identification and selective removal of genes that contribute to virulence. The NYVAC vaccine is missing 18 open reading frames (ORFs), resulting in an attenuated virus. NYVAC is avirulent in animal models (39, 72), but recent studies suggest that its immunogenicity is lacking compared to the traditional vaccines (139). Single gene deletions have also been tested for their ability to produce an effective immune response and to protect against disease. Deletion of the viral dsDNA binding protein, gene E3L, from wild-type VACV results in a 1000-fold decrease in pathogenicity in the mouse model (216), increased IFNy-secretion from splenocytes of vaccinated mice (87), and protection against lethal challenge (87, 216). An A41L gene (viral chemokine binding protein) deletion results in an increased T cell response and protection from lethal challenge, although this deletion was slightly more virulent than the wild-type virus (36). An MVA-based vaccine missing the soluble viral interleukin 1-beta (IL-1 $\beta$ ) receptor (gene B15R) was avirulent in mice, induced a better T cell response, and provided better protection against challenge compared to wild-type virus (196). Thus, identification and deletion of virulence genes appears to be a useful strategy in the production of safer poxvirus vaccines.

#### **Poxviruses as Platform Vaccines**

Poxviruses are being used as platform vaccines for other infectious diseases and cancer, due to their ability to induce a robust immune response and to accommodate large pieces of foreign DNA. Since wild type VACV has safety issues associated with it, poxvirus-based vaccine vectors are mostly made from the attenuated strains, such as MVA and NYVAC, or from host-restricted poxviruses, such as avipoxviruses, since these do not replicate in mammalian tissues. Poxvirus-based recombinant vaccines have been made to express antigens from severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) (16, 35), influenza (24, 106), *Leishmania major* (203), HIV

(50), malaria (56), and rabies (154), among many others. These vaccines produce long term memory and protection in animal models. A promising new study reported that a canarypoxbased HIV vaccine was effective at preventing HIV infection in a community in Thailand (165). Thus, attenuated poxviruses are not only important as potential new generation vaccines for poxviruses, they are also attractive vectors for vaccines for other antigens.

#### **Poxviruses and the Immune Response**

#### **Immune Responses to Poxvirus Infections**

Poxviruses are known for their ability to induce a robust immune response. Studies with humans and animal models have shown that a strong anti-virus antibody response follows infection with various poxviruses (57, 67, 218, 224), and that this response plays a role in protection. In humans, antibodies are produced that can neutralize both IMV and EEV particles (48, 49) and virus-specific antibody is detectable for decades after immunization (43, 75, 156). Human Vaccinia Immune Globulin (VIG) is used in the treatment of many of the vaccine-related complications, highlighting the importance of antibody in viral neutralization and clearance.

In mice, virus neutralizing IgM can be detected in the sera as soon as four days after infection (143). Virus-specific isotypes of IgG can be detected by day 7 post infection (193) and remain elevated as far out as six weeks after infection in mice (221). The production of virus-specific IgG antibody is dependent on CD4+ T cells (224). Mice that lack CD4+ T cells or major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II fail to produce sufficient amounts of VACV-specific IgG and are deficient in their ability to clear virus after primary infection with VACV (224). The generation of antibody during an immunization has also been correlated with protection in mice after challenge with VACV (14). In mice infected with ectromelia virus (mousepox), a humoral response was required to survive infection (32). Mice lacking B cells

succumbed to infection later than those deficient in the CD8+ T cell effector response, suggesting a role for antibody in the later stages of a viral infection in this model. The adoptive transfer of B cells or immune-serum from vaccinated mice to infected B cell deficient mice resulted in complete recovery (32). Antibody, but not CD8+ T cell function, was shown to be necessary in the protection of primed mice from a challenge using virulent mousepox (151). In this model, the antibody response was dependent on CD4+ T cell help. This was shown by infecting mice that lacked either CD40 or MHC II, and were therefore unable to activate B cells through the CD40-CD40L interaction or lacked CD4+ T cells completely, respectively. Similar to the mice deficient in B cell function, these mice succumbed to infection (151).

In non-human primate models, IMV and EEV neutralizing antibody can be detected after about one week post infection (57), and antibody is necessary for protection from a lethal monkeypox challenge, as primates depleted of antibody-producing B cells prior to challenge did not survive (61). Together, there is an overwhelming amount of data to indicate that antibody is important both for the clearance of a primary infection and in mediating protection after vaccination.

Poxviruses also induce a strong anti-virus T cell response, resulting in the clonal expansion of both CD4+ T cells and CD8+ T cells. In humans, VACV-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells can be detected approximately one week after vaccination (131), and peak around two weeks (6). The virus-specific CD8+ T cell response was greater than the CD4+ T cell response at these early times after vaccination (6) and both populations secreted mostly Th1 cytokines, including IFN $\gamma$  (6). Decades following vaccination, virus-specific T cells can be detected, but memory CD4+ T cells are longer lived than the memory CD8+ T cell population (6, 75). In humans, cellular immunity appears to be crucial in the control of viral replication, as individuals

with deficiencies in cellular immunity can develop severe adverse reactions upon vaccination with VACV.

In mice, anti-viral IFN $\gamma$ -secreting CD4+ and CD8+ T cells can be detected approximately 6-7 days following infection (76, 224) and both play an important role in the anti-viral defense against VACV or other poxviruses. Mice depleted of CD4+ T cells were impaired in their ability to clear virus from target organs following infection with VACV, while those depleted of CD8+ T cells were similar to wild-type mice in their ability to control replication (224). CD4+ T cells are important in the production of anti-viral CD8+ T cells (9, 92). Mice depleted of CD8+ T cells do not survive primary infection with ectromelia virus (32), although they were not required for protection from a lethal secondary infection, as the adoptive transfer of memory CD8+ T cells to naïve mice resulted in decreased viral replication (224). In another study, it was shown that mice that were vaccinated and then depleted of CD8+ T cells were not protected from sickness (191). Thus, both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells play roles in immunity to poxviruses in mice.

#### **Poxvirus Immune Evasion Strategies**

While poxviruses can induce a robust immune response, they also encode numerous proteins that function to evade the host immune response. These immunomodulators contribute to the virulence of poxviruses. Many of these proteins were identified by their sequence similarity to known cellular proteins, indicating that they were likely captured from host genomes, while some evolved independently in the virus. Described below are some of the proteins that poxviruses use to subvert the host immune response.

Vaccinia complement control protein. The complement system involves an immunological cascade of proteins that function to opsonize pathogens. Complement proteins can bind directly to the surface of a pathogen (alternative pathway) or can bind to either IgM or IgG that is bound to antigen (classical pathway). The end result of either pathway is the formation and activation of the membrane attack complex and lysis of the cell. VACV encodes a soluble 35 kilodalton (kD) polypeptide that has sequence similarity to host complement regulatory proteins (103). This is now known as the Vaccinia virus complement control protein (VCP) and is encoded by VACV gene C21L (103). Rabbits inoculated intradermally with a mutant virus lacking the C21L gene developed smaller lesions on the skin compared to rabbits inoculated with wild type VACV, indicating that the protein is an important virulence factor (83). C21L was shown to inhibit the hemolysis of IgM-sensitized sheep red blood cells (RBC) in a hemolysis assay using serum as a source of complement (103). When medium from wild type infected cells was added to the assay, lysis of the RBCs was prevented, but when medium from cells infected with a mutant virus lacking the 35 kD protein was added, the sheep RBCs were not protected from lysis (103). VCP has subsequently been shown to bind to and inactivate two critical proteins of the complement cascade, C3b and C4b, and can inhibit both the classical and alternative pathways (15, 102, 134, 145).

**IL-18 binding protein.** IL-18 is an important inducer of IFN $\gamma$  and the Th1 immune response, both critical components of the anti-viral defense. This pro-inflammatory cytokine can be secreted by many cell types and is stored intracellularly as pro-IL-18 (69). Before its release from the cell, pro-IL-18 is cleaved to its active form by the IL-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme. IL-18 then works together with IL-12 to activate pathways that lead to the production of IFN $\gamma$ , activation of natural killer (NK) cells, and induction of the Th1 response. Many

poxviruses encode a soluble protein, encoded by the VACV gene C12L, with sequence similarity to cellular IL-18 binding proteins that can bind human and mouse IL-18 (18, 222), and can disrupt the activity of IL-18 *in vitro* (18, 190, 205, 222). The protein also plays a role in virulence, as mice that were infected with a mutant virus lacking the IL-18 binding protein showed less weight loss and signs of illness compared to those that were infected with wild type virus (159, 205). Further, the protein plays a direct role in modulating IL-18-driven immune responses. Mice that were infected with the mutant virus had higher levels of virus specific NK (18, 159) and cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) cytotoxicity (159) and had greater levels of IFNγ in samples collected from the lungs (159) than mice infected with wild type virus.

**Soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor homologs.** Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) is a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine that is secreted by numerous cell types. TNF contributes to the antiviral immune response by binding its cellular receptor, and inducing apoptosis of virally infected cells and inhibiting viral replication. TNF also works together with IFNγ to promote a Th1 immune response. Thus, TNF is a key player in the host defense against viruses. Many poxviruses, including myxoma virus, tanapox, VACV, VARV, ectromelia virus, and cowpox encode and secrete a TNF receptor homolog (vTNFR) (71, 121, 158, 176, 181, 226). The vTNFR from each of these virus species can bind host TNF and block the biological activity of TNF *in vitro* (121, 158, 176, 181). It has also been shown that deletion of the vTNFR in VACV results in decreased virulence in the mouse model (158)

**Soluble IL-1** $\beta$  receptor homolog. IL-1 $\beta$  is a pro-inflammatory cytokine secreted mostly by monocytes/macrophages. It is also known as endogenous pyrogen since its major function is the induction of fever during an infection. IL-1 $\beta$  is similar to IL-18 in that both are stored intracellularly as either pro-IL-1 $\beta$  or pro-IL-18 and then cleaved to their active forms by caspase-

1 before being released from the cell (69). Once released from the cell, IL-1 $\beta$  can bind its cellular receptor, leading to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, recruitment of lymphocytes to areas of infection and the induction of fever. Not surprisingly, many poxviruses, including VACV (2), cowpox (192), and ectromelia virus (188) encode a secreted IL-1 $\beta$  decoy receptor (VACV gene B15R). These virus encoded IL-1 $\beta$  receptors (vIL-1 $\beta$ R) can bind IL-1 $\beta$  (2, 192) and block its activity *in vitro* (192). Interestingly, a vIL-1 $\beta$ R deletion mutant virus delivered intranasally to mice induced fever and was *more* virulent than wild-type virus (2). Vaccine strains known to naturally lack this decoy receptor have also been associated with greater virulence and induction of fever, and expression of the vIL-1 $\beta$ R in these strains reduced virulence and prevented fever (1). These data led to the finding that IL-1 $\beta$  was the major fever-inducing cytokine during a poxvirus infection (1). An MVA virus lacking the vIL-1 $\beta$ R maintained its avirulent phenotype and induced greater T cell responses and better protection against lethal challenge compared to wild-type MVA (196).

**Chemokine regulators.** Chemokines are specialized cytokines that aid in the migration of immune cells to sites of infection. These chemoattractants can be classified as either CC, CXC, or C chemokines, based on the order of conserved cysteine residues. Different chemokines can be secreted by many cell types and bind specific receptors found on their target cells, thus orchestrating the influx of cells and the resulting immune response to the infection. Poxviruses have been shown to secrete a 35 kD protein (called CC chemokine inhibitor, vCCI) that preferentially binds CC chemokines (including RANTES, MCP-1, MIP-1 $\alpha$ , and MIP-1 $\beta$ ) *in vitro* (4, 25, 73, 187), thus blocking the binding of the chemokine to its cellular receptor. vCCI does not have sequence similarity to any other known protein (4, 187). This 35 kD protein can also inhibit the migration of cells in an *in vitro* monocyte chemotaxis assay (4, 187), and rabbits

infected with a mutant virus lacking the expression of the vCCI had significantly more lymphocytes in the pock lesions on the dermis (73). Expression of vCCI in virus strains lacking the protein resulted in attenuation of disease and decreased numbers of lymphocytes in the lungs in the mouse model (160). The protein has also been shown to be a promising therapeutic agent in diseases involving lung inflammation, such as asthma (44). Poxviruses can also regulate chemokine activity by encoding chemokine homologs (46, 122).

Interferon binding proteins. Interferons (IFNs) are a group of potent antiviral cytokines. IFNs bind their cellular receptor, activating the JAK/STAT pathway leading to the synthesis of many anti-viral proteins. IFNs can be divided into two groups: type I IFNs (IFNa and IFN $\beta$ ) and type II IFNs (IFN $\gamma$ ), each group having a distinct receptor. IFN $\gamma$  is secreted by T cells and NK cells, and induces the Th1 immune response, suppresses the Th2 response, activates macrophages, upregulates the expression of MHC molecules, and enhances CTL activity. The production of Th1 cytokines is crucial to the clearance of poxvirus infections, while a Th2 response can increase virulence. Indeed, mice that are given IFNy during a poxvirus infection recover quicker than mice that do not receive treatment (93). The importance of IFNy in combating poxvirus infections is underscored by the numerous mechanisms that this group of viruses has evolved to counteract this response. The VACV gene B8R encodes a soluble protein with sequence similarity to the extracellular domain of the human and murine IFNy receptor (IFNyR). The IFNyR homologs in VACV, cowpox, and camelpox have been shown to bind and inhibit the activity of IFNy from human, cow, and rat, but not mouse (3, 142, 207). The myxoma virus IFNyR can only bind IFNy from rabbits, its natural host (212). The protein is an important virulence factor, depending on the model used. Disease is attenuated in rabbits, but not in mice, after infection with VACV lacking the IFNyR gene (142, 194, 207). In contrast, the ectromelia virus homolog is an important virulence factor in mice and inhibits the generation of an optimal immune response in this model (174).

IFN $\alpha/\beta$  are also important anti-viral cytokines. Type I IFNs can be secreted by immune cells and fibroblasts, and they upregulate the expression of MHC class I molecules, leading to enhanced recognition of virally infected cells by the host. The VACV B18R gene encodes a secreted protein that can bind extracellular type I IFNs from numerous species and inhibit their anti-viral effects (37, 206, 214, 219), and also contributes to virulence in the mouse model (206). Interestingly, the soluble viral type I IFN binding protein can also bind to the surface of both uninfected and infected cells, where it blocks the action of the anti-viral cytokines, resulting in continued viral replication and spread (5). The mousepox ortholog of VACV B18R binds mouse type I IFNs (189, 225) and is an important virulence factor (225). Importantly, mice inoculated with a recombinant viral type I IFN binding protein were protected from a lethal challenge (225), suggesting that this protein may be used as a target for future vaccination.

Intracellular inhibition of interferon activity. Since IFNs are such potent anti-viral cytokines, it is not surprising that poxviruses have evolved multiple strategies to thwart their effects. In addition to the extracellular IFN binding proteins described above, poxviruses also encode proteins that inhibit the intracellular activity of IFN-responsive genes, most notably protein kinase R (PKR). Once synthesized, PKR binds to dsRNA, a common product in the cell during a viral infection, and then, along with the eukaryotic translation initiation factor  $2\alpha$  (eIF2 $\alpha$ ), becomes phosphorylated. eIF2 $\alpha$  is then no longer able to initiate translation, and viral replication stops. Another IFN-responsive gene that is expressed during a viral infection is 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase that also binds dsRNA, ultimately resulting in the degradation of RNA and the inhibition of viral replication. Poxviruses have two proteins that regulate IFN activity

intracellularly. The E3L protein binds dsRNA, thus preventing it from binding to PKR and 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase (31, 109, 128, 147). The K3L gene product is similar to eIF2 $\alpha$  and functions as a "pseudosubstrate" for PKR, preventing the phosphorylation of the cellular eIF2 $\alpha$  (182). The function of both proteins is to allow for the continued translation of viral proteins.

Apoptosis inhibitors. Apoptosis, or programmed cell death, is a highly regulated cellular process that can occur in response to viral infection. The goal of the host is to eliminate the virally infected cells before progeny virions can be produced and infect other cells. CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes can recognize viral antigen presented in the context of MHC class I molecules and then selectively kill these cells by releasing cytolytic granules into the cell or by inducing apoptosis through the interaction of Fas with Fas Ligand. Poxviruses encode genes that counteract both of these pathways. Cowpox encodes a protein, CrmA, that inhibits the activity of caspase-8 (54), which is cellular protease involved in the transduction of apoptotic signals initiated by TNF or Fas receptors (209). VACV encodes a gene similar to CrmA, designated B13R (53). Both proteins can protect cells from Fas or TNF-induced cytolysis (53, 209). A mutant VACV missing the B13R gene induced apoptosis in in vitro infected cells (99) and deletion of the cowpox ortholog resulted in attenuation of disease in the mouse model (120). Molluscum contagiosum also expresses a protein that interferes with apoptotic signaling via the Fas/TNF receptors (146, 184, 210). Other poxviruses known to encode anti-apoptotic genes include ectromelia virus (21) and myxoma virus (64).

**Regulation of MHC class II antigen presentation.** MHC class II heterodimers present extracellular antigen to cognate CD4+ T cells. Viral peptides, usually derived from the cytosol, can also be presented via MHC class II molecules by autophagy within the cell or when infected

16
cells are engulfed by professional antigen presenting cells (APC). MHC class II has been shown to be important in poxvirus infections, as mice either depleted of CD4+ T cells or genetically void of MHC II molecules were deficient in their ability to clear a VACV infection, where those lacking CD8+ T cells cleared infection comparable to wild type mice (224). In vitro MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation has been shown to be regulated by VACV using several different model systems. Li et al (116) showed that VACV inhibited the presentation of numerous antigens (endogenous and exogenous) from several different professional APCs and fibroblasts. MHC class II surface expression was unchanged as a result of infection and the underlying mechanism was shown to involve a decrease in the amount of peptide that was loaded into MHC class II molecules (116). Another laboratory reported that in vitro VACV infection of primary Langerhans cells decreased their ability to become activated and present a model antigen, keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH), to a cognate CD4+ T cell line, HDK-1 (51). Primary rodent bone marrow derived macrophages infected in vitro with VACV were deficient in presenting lysozyme peptide to T cells (126). It has also been shown that splenic dendritic cells from VACV-infected mice had reduced MHC class II surface expression and were impaired in their ability to present antigen to CD4+ T cells (227). Thus, there is accumulating data to indicate that VACV can disrupt the processing and presentation of antigen via the MHC class II pathway, although none of the above mentioned manuscripts have identified the gene or genes responsible.

## Vaccinia Virus A35R Protein

While much work has been done to characterize poxvirus genes, more is needed. In the subfamily *Chordopoxvirinae*, there are 90 genes that are completely conserved, and over 25 of these have yet to be characterized (213). It has previously been shown that the VACV A35R

protein is highly conserved in all sequenced mammalian tropic poxviruses, but has little similarity to any other known protein, suggesting an important and novel function (170). The hydrophobicity and location of the gene within the genome suggested that it was a membrane protein, but in a Triton X-114 partitioning assay, A35 partitioned to the aqueous phase, indicating that it is a cytoplasmic protein (170). A35 is expressed early during infection, is nonglycosylated, and is resolved at about 23 kD when probed with anti-A35 antibodies on a Western blot (170). To determine the function of A35, a mutant virus was constructed in which A35 was replaced by a selectable marker, the *E. coli* xanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase (*gpt*) gene, and is designated as A35 $\Delta$  (170). A35 $\Delta$  replicated similarly to the wild type Western Reserve (WR) strain of VACV, forming normal size plaques and normal quantities of intracellular and extracellular virus particles in BS-C-1 African green monkey kidney cells (170). Futhermore, A35 was not required for replication in numerous cell types from various hosts, indicating that A35 is likely not a host range gene (170). To determine the role of A35 in virulence, mice were intranasally (i.n.) infected with 10<sup>4</sup> plaque forming units (pfu) of either WR, A35 $\Delta$ , or an A35 rescue virus (A35Res) (or mock-infected with phosphate buffered saline, PBS, as a control), and their weights were measured daily as an indicator of sickness (170). Mice that were infected with either of the viruses containing A35 (WR and A35Res) rapidly began to lose weight at about 6 days post infection (dpi) (2 out of 6 WR died), while those infected with the A35 $\Delta$  virus grew similar to PBS control. Mice were also infected with 10<sup>5</sup> and  $10^6$  pfu, and it was determined that the A35 protein increases virulence by 100- to 1000-fold.

Previous data with A35 indicated that the protein was not involved in replication in eight different cell lines from various hosts, but that it was required for full virulence in the mouse model. We therefore hypothesized that the protein may promote virulence by affecting viral

replication in certain cell types or tissues *in vivo* or by regulating the host immune response. To test for the role of A35 in replication, we have compared the replication of WR to A35 $\Delta$  using various cell lines, primary cells, and *in vivo* infected mouse tissues. To test for the role of A35 in regulation of the immune response, we have used two approaches. The first involves an *in vitro* MHC class II restricted antigen presentation system using primary rat macrophages as APC. We found this to be an appropriate system to look at since rats are natural reservoirs for poxviruses and peritoneal exudate cells (PEC) are a rich source of macrophages. For most of the in vitro assays, both mouse and rat cells were used. We were also interested in looking at MHC class II antigen presentation because during a VACV infection, mice deficient in MHC class II or CD4+ T cells are suppressed in their ability to control viral replication (224) and have lower amounts of virus-specific antibody and CTL. This is in contrast to mice deficient in MHC class I or CD8+ T cells that are able to clear an infection similar to wild type mice (224). The second approach to determining the role of A35 on the host immune response involves infection of mice with either A35 $\Delta$  or WR, and then performing *ex vivo* assays to determine virus-specific antibody production, CTL killing, and IFNy production. We also constructed an A35 mutant virus in the attenuated vaccine strain MVA (MVA35 $\Delta$ ) and similar experiments were performed comparing the replication and immunogenicity of MVA to the MVA35 $\Delta$  virus. We have also tested the protective efficacy of the A35 $\Delta$  and the MVA35 $\Delta$  viruses compared to wild type WR or MVA, respectively. The data presented provide strong evidence that A35 is an important poxvirus immunoregulator, and that A35 deletion mutant viruses can provide protection against a lethal respiratory challenge similar to wild type viruses.

# CHAPTER 2: VACCINIA VIRUS DECREASES MHC CLASS II ANTIGEN PRESENTATION, T CELL PRIMING, AND PEPTIDE ASSOCIATION WITH MHC CLASS II

This manuscript has been published:

Kristina E. Rehm, Ramsey F. Connor, Gwendolyn J.B. Jones, Kenneth Yimbu, Mark D. Mannie, and Rachel L. Roper. 2009, Immunology, Volume 128, Issue 3, Pages 381-392, doi:

10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03120.x. Reproduced with permission from John Wiley and Sons

www.interscience.wiley.com

#### Abstract

Vaccinia virus (VACV) is the current live virus vaccine used to protect humans against smallpox and monkeypox, but its use is contraindicated in several populations because of its virulence. It is therefore important to elucidate the immune evasion mechanisms of VACV. We found that VACV infection of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) significantly decreased major histocompatibility complex (MHC) II antigen presentation and decreased synthesis of 13 chemokines and cytokines, suggesting a potent viral mechanism for immune evasion. In these model systems, responding T cells were not directly affected by virus, indicating that VACV directly affects the APC. VACV significantly decreased nitric oxide production by peritoneal exudate cells and the RAW macrophage cell line in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ , decreased class II MHC expression on APCs, and induced apoptosis in macrophages and dendritic cells. However, VACV decreased antigen presentation by 1153 B cells without apparent apoptosis induction, indicating that VACV differentially affects B lymphocytes and other APCs. We show that the key mechanism of VACV inhibition of antigen presentation may be its reduction of antigenic peptide loaded into the cleft of MHC II molecules.

These data indicate that VACV evades the host immune response by impairing critical functions of the APC.

# Introduction

Poxviruses are large, double stranded DNA viruses (~200 kb) that replicate in the cytoplasm of host cells (141). Poxviruses have worldwide distribution and are highly successful pathogens, infecting a tremendous variety of animals including insects, reptiles, birds and mammals. The most infamous member of Family Poxviridae is smallpox, which is estimated to have caused 500 million human deaths in the 1900's before its eradication from nature (124). The eradication of smallpox was due to the most successful vaccination campaign in history using a related virus, Vaccinia virus (VACV). Today there remain multiple poxvirus threats to humans, including the use of smallpox as a bio-terrorism weapon in a now largely unvaccinated population. New poxviruses are identified each year in animal populations, and several zoonotic poxviruses appear to be emerging worldwide: Cantagalo in South America (45), Tanapox in Africa, Europe and the USA (52, 198), and buffalopox in India (100). Molluscum contagiosum virus causes wart-like lesions, occurs commonly in humans (101), is now emerging as a sexually transmitted disease, and accounts for approximately 300,000 doctor visits each year in the U.S. (140). The most dangerous poxvirus extant today is monkeypox virus, which causes a smallpoxlike illness in humans, is endemic to Africa, and caused an outbreak in humans in the USA in 2003 (34). Studying the immune evasion tactics of this virus family will shed light on how these viruses evolved into such successful pathogens.

While VACV is used as a live virus vaccine, it can also be pathogenic. In a report on almost 39,000 volunteers vaccinated as first responders, it was found that 1 of every 450 vaccinees had to be hospitalized due to adverse vaccine reactions and that 1 death occurred per

13,000 vaccinations (29). Vaccination is contraindicated for individuals with any history of eczema or immunodeficiency disorders because fatalities may occur. Otherwise-healthy individuals can acquire a disseminated poxvirus rash, myopericarditis, and rarely fatal encephalitis from vaccination (7, 29, 60, 211). Understanding viral evasion mechanisms will aid in the development of safer vaccines.

For healthy individuals, an effective immune response limits viral replication of the less pathogenic poxviruses. However, poxviruses encode a plethora of immuno-modulatory proteins, including proteins that block apoptosis, chemokine and cytokine binding and synthesis, and cell signaling (74, 141, 181). In addition, poxviruses directly infect human and rodent immune cells both in vivo and in vitro, including lymphocytes, natural killer (NK) cells, and monocytes/macrophages (149, 175) and have been shown to decrease antigen presentation in several types of APC (116, 227). We wanted to further explore the effects of VACV on antigen presentation interactions between APC and the responding T cells and were especially interested to study *primary* APC responding to an inflammatory stimulus, as this has not been previously We chose to use rat peritoneal macrophages elicited by injection of killed studied. Corvnebacterium parvum to study how virus interacts with primary APC that would be recruited to a site of infection/inflammation (38, 108). Also, we were interested to explore how VACV interacts with the rat immune system, as rats are a natural reservoir for orthopoxviruses and can transmit them to primates (34, 129). While the natural host of VACV is unknown, several orthopoxviruses spread naturally in rodents, including rats (34, 129). Here we describe the effects of VACV on a MHC class II restricted antigen presentation system in which rat macrophages present a peptide of myelin basic protein to cognate antigen specific CD4+ T lymphocytes (127, 155). CD4+ T cells are crucial for viral clearance in poxvirus infection (92,

151). In addition, we explore viral effects on T and B lymphocytes, dendritic cells and macrophage lines. Our data indicate that VACV-infection rapidly disables various APC by affecting relevant cell surface proteins, and in some cases inducing apoptosis of APC, thus blocking downstream T cell activation events and cytokine production. Further, our data indicate that the mechanism of immune interference is not necessarily apoptosis-dependent as has been previously suggested (95), but rather VACV blocks presentation of antigenic peptides in MHC class II molecules.

## **Materials and Methods**

# **Cells and Virus**

VACV Western Reserve (WR) stocks were propagated using BS-C-1 cells as previously described (170). For titrations of VACV, BS-C-1 monolayers were fixed and stained with 0.1% crystal violet in 20% ethanol. All cells were grown in media containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). CD4+ RsL-11 T cell clones were derived and maintained as previously described (127). CTLL-2 (ATCC # TIB-214) were maintained in RPMI supplemented with 0.4% IL-2 (127). RAW 264.7 (ATCC # TIB-71), a mouse macrophage cell line, was maintained in DMEM. The mouse B cell line 1153 and the T cell hybridoma B04 (HEL<sub>74-88</sub> specific) (kind gifts from Janice Blum) were maintained in RPMI (116).

# **Peritoneal Macrophage Isolation and Antigen Presentation Assays**

Lewis rats (bred and maintained at the AAALAC-certified Brody School of Medicine animal care facility at East Carolina University) were injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) with 200  $\mu$ g of inactivated *C. parvum* in 5 ml of HBSS. Two to three days later, the rats were sacrificed and peritoneal exudate cells (PEC) were harvested by washing the peritoneum in cold HBSS. PEC were washed, infected for 5 h, and placed into 96-well plates. PEC were incubated in quadruplicate with 50-500 nM guinea pig myelin basic protein (GPMBP) for 30 minutes, followed by addition of 25,000 Lewis rat CD4+ RsL.11 clones specific for GPMBP. For experiments involving 1153 B cells, 25,000 B cells (I-A<sup>b</sup>) were infected for 6 h. Cells were then plated in a 96-well format and incubated with varying concentrations of the antigen HEL<sub>74-88</sub> (gift from Janice Blum) for 1 h. 25,000 B04 T cells specific for the HEL<sub>74-88</sub> peptide in the context of I-A<sup>b</sup> were added to each well. The antigen presentation plates were incubated for 24-48 h at 37°C, 5.0% CO<sub>2</sub>. After incubation, 50  $\mu$ l of supernatants were transferred into an empty 96-well plate and frozen for the following assays. All animal experiments were in compliance with East Carolina University Animal Care and Use committee (K139) and NIH guidelines.

## **Bone Marrow-Derived Dendritic Cells**

Rat bone marrow was harvested from femur and tibia. The cells were placed in RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% L-glutamine, 1% penicillin-streptomycin, and 0.1% granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor- (GM-CSF-) containing baculovirus supernatant. After 3 days of culture, the culture medium was removed and replaced with fresh culture medium. On day 7, the dendritic cells were collected and used for the antigen presentation assay and flow cytometry analysis.

#### **CTLL IL-2 Bioassay**

IL-2 was measured using previously described methods (127). Briefly, 10,000 CTLL clones (quadruplicate) were washed, resuspended in RPMI, and added to the collected supernatants. The plates were incubated for 48 h at 37°C, 5.0% CO<sub>2</sub>, followed by the addition of  $10 \ \mu l$  of 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulphophenyl)2H-tetrazolium, inner salt/phenazine methosulphate (MTS/PMS) (2.0 mg/mL MTS, Promega; and 0.1 mg/mL PMS, Sigma) (40). The absorbance was read at 24, 48, and 72 h post MTS/PMS at

492 nm filtered, and 690 nm reference. Media only was used to define the background control level and known IL-2 containing supernatants were used as positive control.

## Nitric Oxide (NO) Measurement

Griess Reagent (50  $\mu$ l) (1% sulfanilamide–0.1% N-[1-naphthy] ethylenediamine in 2.5% phosphoric acid) was added to 50  $\mu$ l of the quadruplicate harvested supernatants. The absorbance was read at 540 nm after a 5-minute incubation at room temperature (27).

## **Measurement of Cytokines**

50 μl of the harvested supernatants (triplicate) were analyzed using the LincoPlex 24 Rat Cytokine/Chemokine Luminex Bead Immunoassay Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Linco Research). The supernatants were incubated with a panel of anti-cytokine antibodies immobilized on Luminex beads (Bio-Rad Laboratories). The following cytokines were analyzed: IL-1α, IL-1β, IL-2, IL-6, IL-17, IL-18, MIP-1α, GM-CSF, IFN-α, growth regulated oncogene alpha/keratinocyte attractant (GRO/KC), RANTES, TNF-α, MCP-1, eotaxin, G-CSF, IL-4, IL-9, IL-13, IL-5, and IL-10. Samples were run according to the manufacturer's instructions (Bio-Rad) and analyzed on the BioPlex protein array reader (Bio-Rad) in the Duke University Human Vaccine Institute Immune Reconstitution Core Facility (Durham, NC).

# **RsL.11 Stimulation Assay**

CD4+ RsL.11 T lymphocytes were washed and resuspended in RPMI. The cells were infected for 3-4 h, plated in tripliciate in a 96-well format, and stimulated with PEC/50 nM GPMBP, 25  $\mu$ g/ml Con A (Sigma), or 100 nM phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA)/2  $\mu$ M ionomycin (Sigma). The plates were incubated at 37°, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. 50  $\mu$ l of the harvested supernatants were collected at 20- and 40-h and assayed for IL-2 using the CTLL bioassay already described.

# Metabolism Assays

PEC or RAW 264.7 macrophages were infected with VACV multiplicity of infection=2 (MOI=2) and 1153 B cells at an MOI of 5. Metabolism was measured by the addition of 10  $\mu$ l MTS/PMS 4-24 hpi, and analyzed similarly to the method described above for the CTLL IL-2 Bioassay. Absorbance was read at 492 nm at various times post infection.

## **Flow Cytometry**

Cells were infected for 4 hours and then washed in FACS buffer (PBS containing 0.1% heat-inactivated FBS and 0.1% sodium azide).  $3 \times 10^5$  cells were stained with an anti-MHC II concentrated supernatant (Y3P, AF6120, and MKS4) or OX1 anti CD45 for 1 h on ice, washed once, and then incubated with a fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Southern Biotech). MHC II expression was measured using a FACScan (Becton Dickinson) equipped with the Cell Quest software. For apoptosis measurement, cells were infected and then stained with annexinV-FITC/propidium iodide (PI) (BD Pharmingen) per the manufacturer's instructions.

## **One-Step Growth Curve**

A one-step growth curve was obtained to measure viral replication in permissive cells and PEC as previously described (170).

## **Peptide-MHC** Association

The Y-Ae antibody specifically detects a complex of peptide 52-68 from I-E<sup>d</sup> MHC class II bound in the cleft of MHC class II I-A<sup>b</sup> (84, 173). This complex is formed in mice that express both alleles. Spleens were harvested from B10.A-H2^i5 H2-T18^a/(5R)SgSnJ mice (Jackson Labs); C57BL/6 mice were used as a negative control. Unfractionated splenocytes were infected with purified virus for 3 h (MOI=10) and then incubated with biotin-conjugated Y-

Ae (eBioscience). Cells were washed and incubated with streptavidin-R phycoerythrin (RPE) (Southern Biotech). Samples were analyzed using a FACScan equipped with Cell Quest software.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Experiments were repeated 3 times and representative data with standard deviation bars are shown. A two-tailed Student's *t* test was used to compare uninfected with VACV-infected groups. *p* values < 0.05 were considered significant.

#### Results

# **VACV Decreases IL-2 Production**

As antigen presentation is the seminal event triggering an adaptive immune response, we wanted to assess the effects of VACV infection on this pivotal point of the immune response using primary cells recruited to a site of inflammation. Peritoneal exudate cells (PEC) were harvested from rats, infected with VACV, and pulsed with a model antigen (GPMBP). Various numbers of infected cells were then incubated with cognate CD4+ T cells. In order to measure antigen presentation responses, supernatant IL-2 was measured. VACV infection significantly (Student's t test p<0.05) reduced IL-2 production by T cells 15-48 hpi (Fig 1a). VACV also significantly decreased IL-2 production using rat splenocytes (Fig 1b), dendritic cells (Fig 1c), and PEC that had been rested overnight prior to infection (not shown) as APC. In the absence of antigen or either cell type, no IL-2 was produced. Together, these data indicated that VACV significantly decreased the amount of IL-2 that is produced by CD4+ T lymphocytes.

#### VACV Decreases NO Response

During antigen presentation, both the T lymphocyte and the APC become activated, and macrophages are stimulated to produce nitric oxide (NO) (123), an important antiviral defense.

Using the same antigen presentation system described above, supernatants were assayed for the production of NO. Uninfected PEC produced increasing amounts of NO with increasing numbers of APC (Fig 1d), while VACV-infected PEC were markedly impaired in their ability to secrete NO. NO was not produced in the absence of antigen or either cell type (data not shown), indicating that this is a specific antigen presentation response. These results indicated that both T lymphocyte and macrophage responses were suppressed by VACV.

## **RsL.11 T Cells are Refractory to VACV**

We next sought to determine which cell type was being directly affected by VACV in this antigen presentation system. While we intentionally incubated VACV with APCs (macrophage, splenocytes and dendritic cells) prior to addition of T cells, the RsL.11 T cells could have become infected during co-incubation with the infected APC. To assess the effects of virus infection on IL-2 production by the RsL.11, RsL.11 T cells were incubated in triplicate with VACV for 3 h, washed, and then incubated with a titration of *uninfected* PECs pulsed with antigen, similar to the above-described experiments. As shown in Fig 2a, VACV did not significantly decrease IL-2 production when pre-incubated with T cells. We also assessed the effect of VACV infection on RsL.11 responses to mitogenic and chemical stimulation. RsL.11 T cells were incubated with VACV for 4 h, and then stimulated for 24 to 48 h with Con A, PMA and ionomycin, or uninfected antigen (Ag)-pulsed PECs. VACV did not significantly decrease IL-2 production by RsL.11 T cells in response to any of these stimuli (Fig 2b). Control groups included the stimulants in media with no RsL.11 T cells and did not give readings above background in the IL-2 bioassay. These data suggest that RsL.11 IL-2 synthesis and secretion is not affected by VACV.

To determine whether RsL.11 T cells could be affected by VACV, we also measured cellular proliferation after incubation with virus. RsL.11 T cells were incubated with VACV for 10 h, and then MTS/PMS was added to measure metabolism. VACV did not significantly affect the RsL.11 T cell metabolism up to 64 h post infection (hpi) (Fig 2c). These data suggest that RsL.11 T cells are completely refractory to VACV. We therefore incubated RsL.11 T cells with infectious virus and compared progeny virus production to a known permissive cell line, BS-C-1. After 72 h, a 100-fold increase in virus was measurable in infected BS-C-1 cells, but no increase in virus could be detected in cells or supernatants of RsL.11 T cells, indicating that they are non-permissive for VACV infection (data not shown). Thus, there is no evidence that these cells even become infected under these conditions.

## **CTLLs and VACV Infection**

As CTLL cells were used to measure IL-2 in supernatants, it was also possible that VACV might be affecting the ability of the CTLL to proliferate in response to IL-2. To assess virus effects on CTLL, we incubated the CTLL with VACV for 5 h and then measured proliferation in response to IL-2-containing supernatants (155). The addition of IL-2 to the media increased the metabolism/proliferation of the uninfected CTLLs over the proliferation of CTLLs incubated with no IL-2 (Fig 2d), and VACV did not significantly reduce this response. As the amount of virus used in this experiment was four times higher than levels contained in supernatants from antigen presentation assays, it is unlikely that VACV affected CTLL responses to IL-2 in the antigen presentation assays.

# **Antigen Concentration**

As the T lymphocytes in these assays were minimally affected by VACV infection, we theorized that the APCs were being affected by VACV and that increasing antigen concentrations might overcome the VACV-induced decrease in antigen presentation capacity. In infected PECs presenting antigen to RsL.11 T cells (similar to experiments depicted in Fig 1), a titration of GPMBP antigen (50-250 nM) showed that higher antigen concentrations augmented the weak antigen-presenting capacity of infected APCs (Fig 3). In contrast, increasing antigen in this concentration range did not significantly enhance the efficiency of uninfected APCs to stimulate IL-2 production.

# **B** Cell Antigen Presentation

We next determined if VACV affects antigen presentation by a murine B cell line. The mouse 1153 B cell line presents the HEL<sub>74-88</sub> peptide to the CD4+ B04 T cell line (116). 1153 B cells were infected for 6 h, incubated with varying concentrations of the HEL<sub>74-88</sub> peptide, and then incubated with the cognate B04 T cell line. The presence of VACV significantly suppressed B cell antigen presentation (IL-2 production, Fig 4a) (Student's t test p<0.01). To assess viral effects on the B04 T cells, T cells were incubated with virus for 24 h, at which time MTS/PMS was added in order to measure metabolism. VACV did not affect the proliferation/metabolism of the B04 T cells up to 70 hpi (Fig 4b), suggesting that the T cells were also not directly affected by VACV in this antigen presentation system. These data indicate that VACV blocks antigen presentation of multiple antigens presented by various APCs from both rats and mice.

## VACV Inhibits NO Production from PEC and RAW Macrophages

In order to study VACV regulation of isolated APCs, we used LPS and IFN $\gamma$  to stimulate PECs and the RAW 264.7 murine macrophage cell line (157). PECs and RAW cells were infected for 4 h, stimulated with LPS, IFN $\gamma$ , or both, and supernatants were assayed for NO. All stimuli induced NO production in uninfected PECs and RAW cells; however, this induction was significantly (Student's t test p<0.05), and in some cases completely, blocked by VACV-infection (Fig 5). These data suggest that macrophages are highly sensitive to VACV infection.

# VACV Infection Globally Alters Cytokine Responses in Antigen Presentation

As the result of antigen presentation, both the APC and the responding T cell produce numerous cytokines initiating the specific immune response. As VACV inhibited the amount of both IL-2 and NO produced in this rat model of antigen presentation, we assessed the effect of VACV on synthesis of other cytokines and chemokines. Using a multiplex bead-based assay, we determined that VACV reproducibly and significantly (p<0.05) inhibited the production of MIP-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-2, IFN $\alpha$ , GRO/KC, RANTES, TNF $\alpha$ , and MCP-1 (Fig. 6) in response to PEC antigen presentation to RsL.11 T cells. These data confirm the IL-2 bioassay results in Fig 1. In addition, VACV decreased the secretion of IL-6 and GM-CSF; however the reduction was not always significant. Interestingly, VACV infection did not inhibit IL-18 production.

# VACV Decreases MHC Class II Expression

Because VACV infection decreased MHC class II-mediated antigen presentation, we assessed the effects of VACV on the expression of MHC II molecules on the surface of PECs. PECs were infected for 4 h, and MHC II expression was measured by flow cytometry. In three experiments, VACV mildly decreased MHC class II surface expression. For example, compared to uninfected PECs, VACV decreased the percentage of high-expressing MHC II-positive cells

from 47% to 37% (Fig 7; mean fluorescence intensity, MFI, 26 +/- 0.3 versus 19.7 +/- 1.8). We also assessed the ability of VACV to inhibit MHC II expression in 1153 B cells. 1153 B cells were infected and MHC II expression was measured as above. In uninfected 1153 B cells, 38% expressed high levels of MHC II, while only 15% of VACV-infected B cells were class II bright (Fig 7; MFI 144 +/- 13.4 versus 76 +/- 2.8). These data indicated that VACV decreases MHC II expression on APCs soon after infection. In the same experiments, VACV infection did not decrease CD45RO expression, indicating that the reduction observed was specific and not just a consequence of general membrane protein perturbation caused by viral infection.

# **VACV Induces Apoptosis in PEC and RAW Macrophages**

Because VACV infection blocked PEC responses, we assessed the effects of VACV on the viability of the PECs. PECs were infected with VACV in triplicate, and metabolism was measured through the reduction of MTS/PMS. Differences in metabolism between the groups became apparent 24 hours post infection (hpi) (Fig 8a), suggesting that the virus is killing cells. However, VACV had only a minor effect on 1153 B cells (Fig 8b), even at 100 hpi. We therefore measured the ability of VACV to induce apoptosis in these cells using PI and annexin V. It was previously reported that VACV induces apoptosis of the murine macrophage J774 cell line (80). VACV infection increased early apoptotic cell percentages in PECs from 16% to 42% and in the RAW 264.7 macrophage line from 14% to 53% (Fig 9) at 4 hpi. VACV induced apoptosis similarly in rat bone marrow-derived dendritic cells and mouse splenic dendritic cells (data not shown). However, using similar assays we could not detect VACV induction of apoptosis in three experiments in the 1153 B cell line (Fig 9) from 6 to 24 hpi, even though VACV also suppressed antigen presentation by this line.

# **Viral Replication**

Induction of apoptosis in virally infected cells is one host defense against virus replication, and VACV has been reported to induce apoptosis in macrophages and dendritic cells (22, 80). We therefore determined the ability of VACV to replicate in PECs compared to BS-C-1 cells, which are permissive for viral replication. Figure 10 shows that VACV-WR was able to increase infectious virus particles 2-logs by 30 hpi in BS-C-1 cells, but no replication was apparent in PECs at 10, 20, or 30 hpi. Thus VACV may induce apoptosis in professional APCs and block their function, but the virus also sacrifices the ability to replicate in the cells.

# Peptide Association with MHC Class II

One level of immune regulation, both in homeostasis and infection, lies in controlling the association of peptides with the MHC molecules that present them (82). As VACV inhibits antigen presentation, but only modestly affects class II MHC expression, we tested the effect of VACV on peptide loading in the MHC class II employing the Y-Ae antibody. The Y-Ae antibody specifically detects a complex of peptide 52-68 from  $I-E^d$  MHC class II bound in the cleft of MHC class II I-A<sup>b</sup> (84, 173). MHC class II molecules frequently present self peptides from surface proteins that recirculate through endosomes and are degraded, similarly to exogenous antigens that are internalized. The Y-Ae antibody recognizes a major determinant (approximately 12% of MHC molecules) in mice expressing both of these class II molecules on the surface of uninfected and VACV-infected spleen cells. As Fig 11 shows, 63% of uninfected cells were positive 3 hpi (MFI 78.2 +/- 9.6 for uninfected cells compared with 38 +/- 2.8 for VACV-infected cells). In contrast, surface MHC class II I-A<sup>b</sup> levels were only

modestly reduced (Fig 11). These data indicate that VACV interferes intracellularly with the expression of surface proteins required for antigen presentation and specifically blocks expression of peptide-loaded MHC class II.

# Discussion

We have shown here that VACV blocks class II MHC antigen presentation by primary rodent cells, including unfractionated splenocytes, PECs, dendritic cells, and by a B cell line. This likely represents an evolved immune evasion mechanism that is advantageous to the virus even though the virus sacrifices the ability to replicate progeny virions in APCs. Responses to antigen presentation of both CD4+ T lymphocytes and the APCs are inhibited (Fig 1) and this has the overall effect of limiting downstream cytokine and chemokine production (Fig 6) and presumably multiple aspects of the anti viral immune response. Notably, many of the cytokines that are regulated by VACV are chemotactic factors (MIP-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$ , GRO/KC, RANTES, and MCP-1), which aid in the migration of immune response cells to sites of inflammation and infection.

We have found the T lymphocytes used here to be refractory to virus effects, with VACV directly affecting the APCs. It has been reported in humans that VACV preferentially infects subsets of CD14+ cells, B cells to a lesser extent, and only *activated* primary T cells (30). Our results are similar to work recently published showing that VACV decreases MHC class II antigen presentation in B cell, fibroblast, and macrophage cell lines, as well as primary immature dendritic cells (116). Antigen presenting capacity could be partly restored in our studies by increasing the amount of antigen, suggesting that some process of antigen uptake or processing or presentation is blocked. Data from the Blum laboratory indicate that intracellular antigen is not the limiting factor (116). We found that VACV alters class II MHC expression in APCs

within a few hours after infection. This may simply be a consequence of apoptosis induction as we and others have shown that VACV induces apoptosis in human and rodent macrophages and dendritic cells (22, 80). Other groups have shown a decrease in CD86 and MHC class II on human dendritic cells correlating with apoptosis induction and reduced ability to present antigen (62, 95). VACV modulation of class II MHC has been controversial. Other groups have shown VACV-induced increases in MHC class II, but with inhibition of maturation-induced MHC class II, class I, CD86, and CD80 (86). Some differences may be attributable to the type of preparation of virus used to infect APCs, since the 'crude' virus preparation normally used for infections is a cell lysate, which can act as an inflammatory stimulus. Another group recently reported that VACV decreased MHC II-restricted antigen presentation by specifically inhibiting the expression of surface MHC class II on splenic dendritic cells isolated from VACV-infected mice (227). We did not measure the amount or stability of MHC class II proteins in our studies because other laboratories have shown that the amount of MHC protein is not directly related to its functional surface expression. For example, peptide-MHC complexes can be inhibited with no decrease in the amount of MHC class II proteins in cells (116), and MHC class II mRNA levels can be decreased with no decrease in MHC class II surface expression (227). In summary, there is growing evidence to indicate that VACV modulates MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation by specifically affecting functions of the APC.

Interestingly, the inhibition of antigen presentation appears distinct for professional APCs and the 1153 B cell line. Class II MHC expression was reduced in this B cell line, but, unlike other APCs, apoptosis was not detected. This suggests that VACV may decrease class II even in the absence of apoptosis induction. Importantly, we have shown that VACV strongly reduced the amount of peptide in the cleft of MHC class II on infected primary APCs by flow cytometry.

These data are supported by a study in a human B cell line where VACV infection decreased peptide association with MHC class II measured by western blot (116). As this effect is demonstrable with different antigens in different cells, it is likely that this is a key mechanism used by VACV to suppress immune responses. How this occurs is currently under investigation.

We do not believe that VACV simply reduces antigen presentation because it kills infected cells. First, we show in Fig 3 that increasing antigen concentrations restore antigenpresenting capacity in VACV-infected cells, suggesting that the cells are not dead, but rather disabled in terms of antigen presentation. In Fig 8, we show that differences in the metabolism of APCs are not seen until almost 24 hpi, but that VACV reduces the surface expression of MHC class II and the amount of peptide in its cleft by 5 hpi, and the antigen presentation-induced T-cell responses have been diminished by 15 hpi of APC. In addition, VACV does not induce apoptosis in 1153 B cells, but still blocks their antigen-presenting capacity and MHC class II expression (Figs 4 and 7). Together, these data suggest a specific VACV-induced inhibition of antigen presentation.

We studied antigen presentation in rodent cells. As most extant poxviruses have evolved a broad host range, the immunomodulatory mechanisms appear to be conserved and functional in a number of host species. For example, rats are a natural host for cowpox virus and can transmit it to primates, as demonstrated by a recent outbreak in a primate colony in Europe with widespread fatalities (129, 132). Most VACV APC work has been undertaken in the mouse model; our results show that VACV blocks antigen presentation and T cell priming in a rodent known to transmit orthopoxviruses to primates. VACV caused an apparent broad decrease in post-antigen presentation cytokine production. The notable exception to VACV inhibition was II-18. IL-18 is stored intracellularly as pro-IL-18 and rapidly released upon stimulation (69). As IL-18 is an important factor in the induction of anti-viral IFNγ production, its storage for rapid release may be an evolved host mechanism to contravene immunomodulation by viral gene products. The importance of this cytokine in antiviral defense is underscored by the possession of an IL-18 binding protein encoded by poxviruses (159). VACV produces several soluble cytokine binding proteins that may interfere with detection of these cytokines if, and only if, they block binding of the detection antibody. However, because there is a general decrease in cytokine production it seems unlikely that the decrease would be caused by VACV-specific binding proteins.

VACV rapidly decreases antigen presenting capacity, alters expression of class II MHC and induces apoptosis in multiple APC types, including peritoneal macrophages responding to inflammatory stimuli. These data expand our knowledge of viral interference mechanisms and suppression of immunity that contribute to poxvirus pathogenesis, however, the viral gene products involved in this inhibition and the intracellular mechanisms remain to be elucidated. An increased understanding of poxviral pathogenesis will aid in the development of antiviral drugs and novel tailored vaccine strains, which exclude immunosuppressive poxviral genes, but which retain and efficiently express the protective antigenic target epitopes that stimulate the immune system.

## Figures

Figure 1: VACV infection of primary APC inhibits IL-2 and NO production. Freshly isolated PEC (a), splenocytes (b), or dendritic cells (c) were isolated from a rat, infected with VACV WR (MOI=2) for 5 h, pulsed for 30 minutes with 50 nM GPMBP, and then incubated with the cognate CD4+ RsL.11 T cell line. Uninfected PECs served as a control. At 15 to 48 hpi, supernatants (50  $\mu$ l) were collected and assayed for either IL-2 using the IL-2 dependent cell line CTLL (a-c) or for NO using Greiss reagent (d). For the CTLL bioassay, media only was used to define the background control level and known IL-2 containing supernatants were used as a positive control. Proliferation was read as absorbance at 492 nm. IL-2 production was determined as the mean optical density (OD) value of the experimental group minus the background control level. \* p<0.05



Figure 2: VACV does not directly affect the RsL.11 or CTLL T cells. (a) RsL.11 T cells were infected with VACV (MOI= 4) for 4 h and then incubated with decreasing numbers of antigen-pulsed PECs. After 24-48 h, supernatants (50  $\mu$ l) were collected and assayed for IL-2 production using the CTLL IL-2 bioassay. (b) RsL.11 T lymphocytes were uninfected or infected for 3-4 h and then stimulated with PECs/50 nM GPMBP, 25  $\mu$ g/ml Con A, or 100 nM PMA/2  $\mu$ M ionomycin. Supernatants (50  $\mu$ l) were collected at 20- and 40-h and assayed for IL-2. (c) RsL.11 T cells were infected with VACV for 10 h, and growth metabolism was measured by reduction of 10  $\mu$ l MTS/PMS and absorbance was read at 492 nm. (d) CTLL cells were infected with VACV (MOI=5) for 4 h and then placed in media with varying amounts of an IL-2-containing supernatant. Proliferation was measured by adding 10  $\mu$ l MTS/PMS.



**Figure 3: VACV infection and antigen concentration.** PECs were infected with VACV (MOI=2) for 4 h and then pulsed with a titration of GPMBP (50-250 nM) before being cocultured with antigen-specific T cells. Supernatants (50  $\mu$ l) were collected at 24- to 48-hpi and assayed for IL-2 using the CTLL IL-2 bioassay.



Figure 4: VACV infection and B cell antigen presentation. (a) 25,000 1153 B cells were infected for 6 h, and then pulsed with the HEL<sub>74-88</sub> antigen for 1 h, followed by the addition of 25,000 B04 T cells. After a 24- to 48-h incubation, supernatants (50  $\mu$ l) were collected and assayed for IL-2 using the CTLL IL-2 bioassay. (b) 25,000 B04 T cells were infected for 24 h. MTS/PMS was then added to measure metabolism. \* p < 0.01



**Figure 5: VACV infection and antigen-independent NO production.** PEC (a) or RAW 264.7 macrophages (b) were infected at an MOI of 1 for 4 h, and were then stimulated to produce NO by the addition of LPS, IFN- $\gamma$ , or a combination of both. Supernatants (50 µl) were collected at 24-48 h and then assayed for NO production by the addition of Greiss reagent. Absorbance was read at 540 nm. \* p<0.05



Figure 6: VACV reduces cytokine synthesis as a result of antigen presention. PECs were harvested from Lewis rats, infected with VACV (MOI=2) for 5 h, pulsed with 50 nM guinea pig myelin basic protein (GPMBP), and then co-cultured with the cognate CD4+ RsL.11 T cell line. Supernatants (50  $\mu$ l) were collected at 24 hpi and assayed for the production of cytokines using the LincoPlex 24 rat cytokine/chemokine Luminex bead immunoassay kit. Interleukin (IL)-2 and interferon (IFN)- $\alpha$  values were divided by 20 and 100 (hatch marks), respectively, to fit to scale. \* p < 0.05.



**Figure 7: VACV decreases MHC class II expression.** PECs or 1153 B cells were infected with VACV for 5 h, washed, and incubated with no primary antibody (MFI for 1153: uninfected cells, 8.4 +/- 0.59; VACV-infected cells, 5.4 +/- 0.44; PEC: uninfected cells 2.35 +/- 0.06; VACV-infected cells 2.38 +/- 0.48), anti-class II MHC (MFI for uninfected cells, 145 +/- 13.4; VACV-infected cells, 76 +/- 2.8), or anti-CD45 and then fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated secondary antibody and analyzed by flow cytometry.



Figure 8: VACV inhibits the metabolism of macrophages. PECs (a) were infected with VACV (MOI=2) and 1153 B cells (b) were infected at an MOI of 5, and metabolism was measured by the reduction of 10  $\mu$ l of MTS/PMS. Standard deviation bars are shown on all figures but are too small to be visible on some graphs. \* p < 0.05.


**Figure 9: VACV induces apoptosis in macrophages.** PECs or RAW 264.7 macrophages were infected with VACV for 4 h (MOI=2). 1153 B cells were infected for at an MOI=5 for 6 h. Apoptosis was assessed by staining cells with annexin V-fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) and propidium iodide (PI) and analyzed by flow cytometry. Variation was not higher than 2% between duplicate samples.



**Figure 10: VACV does not replicate to high titers in PECs.** BS-C-1 cells or PECs were infected with VACV (MOI=10). Cells were collected at designated times post-infection. Cell-associated virus was titrated on BS-C-1 monolayers. PFU, plaque-forming units.



**Figure 11: VACV decreases peptide-MHC II complexes.** Spleens were harvested from B10.A-H2^i5 H2-T18^a/(5R)SgSnJ mice, and uninfected or VACV-infected with purified virus for 3 h (MOI=10), and then incubated with biotin-conjugated Y-Ae and streptavidin-RPE. C57BL/6 mice were used as a negative control and showed no staining above background.



# CHAPTER 3: VACCINIA VIRUS A35R INHIBITS MHC CLASS II ANTIGEN PRESENTATION

This manuscript has been published:

Kristina E. Rehm, Ramsey F. Connor, Gwendolyn J.B. Jones, Kenneth Yimbu, and Rachel L. Roper. 2010, Virology, Volume 397: Pages 176-86, doi 10.1016/j.virol.2009.11.008 Reprinted with permission from Elsevier

## Abstract

The VACV gene A35R (Copenhagen designation) is highly conserved in mammaliantropic poxviruses and is an important virulence factor, but its function was unknown. We show herein that A35 does not affect viral infectivity, apoptosis induction, or replication; however, we found that A35 significantly inhibited MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation, immune priming of T lymphocytes, and subsequent chemokine and cytokine synthesis. A35 localized to the endosomes and reduced the amount of a model antigenic peptide displayed in the cleft of class II MHC. In addition, A35 decreased VACV-specific T cell responses *in vivo*. Thus, this is the first report identifying a function for the A35 protein in virulence as well as the first report identifying a VACV gene that inhibits peptide antigen presentation.

## Introduction

Poxviruses are large, double-stranded DNA viruses (~200 kb) that are capable of infecting a wide variety of animals (141). The most infamous poxvirus is Variola virus, the causative agent of smallpox. Smallpox is estimated to have killed over 500 million people in the 20<sup>th</sup> century before it was declared eradicated by the World Health Organization in 1980 (124). Smallpox now presents itself as a danger in biowarfare and bioterrorism. Other poxviruses can also cause significant disease in humans. In 2003, a Monkeypox outbreak occurred in the United

States, infecting over 70 people (34). Fortunately, this was an attenuated strain, and there were no human fatalities (34). A widespread monkeypox outbreak would be more difficult to contain than smallpox, due to the fact that monkeypox can replicate and persist in animal reservoirs. Other emerging zoonotic poxviruses include buffalopox in Asia (100), tanapox in Africa, Europe and the United States (52, 198), cowpox in humans and primates (causing widespread fatalities) (129, 132, 197), and Cantagalo in South America (45). Molluscum contagiosum virus is commonly seen in children and AIDS patients, accounts for nearly 300,000 doctor visits each year in the United States (140), and is emerging as a sexually transmitted disease.

The eradication of smallpox was the result of the most successful vaccination program in history. Routine vaccination was stopped in most countries in the early 1970's due to the poor safety record of the vaccine, live VACV. Vaccination is contraindicated for many individuals, including those who have inflammatory skin conditions, such as eczema, and those that are immunocompromised or pregnant (111). In a recent vaccine trial, it was reported that 1 out of every 450 of those vaccinated had a serious adverse vaccine reaction (29), and vaccine trials were stopped after reports of increased adverse cardiac events following vaccination (60, 211). In recent years, attenuated and/or non-replicating VACV strains have been increasingly employed to reduce risks, and many VACV strains are being used as a platform in the development of vaccines for other diseases, such as HIV, malaria, and cancer (56, 177, 203, 217). Thus it is crucial to elucidate the virulence mechanisms in VACV and particularly those that interfere with the development of a robust immune response. An increased understanding of poxvirus pathogenesis will aid both in antiviral drug development and in the design of improved vaccines.

While VACV elicits a strong immune response, it also encodes a plethora of

immunosuppressive genes and many of unknown function (213). Gene 158 of VACV Western Reserve (WR) strain, commonly referred to as the A35 gene by the VACV Copenhagen designation, is highly conserved in mammalian-tropic poxviruses and vaccine strains (170, 213), but has no similarity to non-poxvirus proteins, giving no clues as to its function. A mutant A35 deletion virus (A35 $\Delta$ ) replicated normally in several tissue culture cell lines, but was highly attenuated (100-1000 fold) in the intranasal (i.n.) and intraperitoneal (i.p.) mouse challenge models (164, 170). A rescue virus was constructed that returned the wild type A35 gene to the mutant, and this virus construct restored virulence, confirming that the viral phenotype mapped to the A35 locus. While it is difficult to compare the virulence of various gene deletion mutants because many have not been tested in the intranasal model measuring weight loss (intracranial inoculations or measures of viral titers in organs have often been performed instead), available data in the i.n. model indicate that the A35 $\Delta$  virus is more attenuated than the A46R deletion mutant (195), similar in virulence to the IL-18 binding protein knock out virus (159), slightly less attenuated than the thymidine kinase (TK) knock out (113), and less attenuated than the E3L deletion, which causes a 1000 fold attenuation (216). The A35A virus produced similar quantities of the various morphogenic forms of virus compared to the parental wild type WR virus, with similar kinetics, and virus particles were similarly infectious on a per particle basis (170). We showed that this gene encodes a non-glycosylated, non-secreted 23 kD protein expressed early during the virus life cycle, but its mechanism of action was unknown. Here, we show that VACV A35 gene product blocks immune priming of T lymphocytes by interfering with MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation.

## **Materials and Methods**

## **Cells and Virus**

VACV Western Reserve (WR) strain and A35Δ mutant virus stocks were propagated using BS-C-1 cells as previously described (170). For titrations of VACV, BS-C-1 monolayers were fixed and stained with 0.1% crystal violet in 20% ethanol. All cells were grown in media containing 10% FBS. CD4+ RsL-11 T cell clones were derived and maintained as previously described (127). CTLL-2 (ATCC # TIB-214) were maintained in RPMI supplemented with 0.4% IL-2-containing baculovirus supernatant (127). RAW 264.7 (ATCC # TIB-71), a mouse macrophage cell line, was maintained in DMEM. The mouse B cell line 1153 (kind gift from Janice Blum) was maintained in RPMI (116).

#### **Cell Tropism Replication**

The cell type of interest was split into two groups of equal number for infection. One group was infected with WR and the other with A35 $\Delta$ . The cells were infected for 20 h at MOI=1 followed by three freeze/thaw cycles to release newly formed virus particles. Replication was measured by titering the cell lysates on a monolayer of BS-C-1 cells and counting the plaques that formed 40 h later. For early replication in mouse organs, groups of mice were intranasally challenged with WR (170) and A35 $\Delta$  at 10<sup>4</sup> pfu/mouse, and nose, lungs, blood, brain and spleen were harvested on day 1, 2 and 3 (6 mice on each day) post challenge. Organs were freeze/thawed three times, homogenized, sonicated, and titered as above.

# **Peritoneal Macrophage Isolation and Antigen Presentation Assays**

Lewis rats (bred and maintained at the AAALAC-certified Brody School of Medicine animal care facility at East Carolina University) were injected i.p. with 200  $\mu$ g of inactivated *C*. *parvum* in 5 ml of HBSS. Two to three days later, the rats were sacrificed and peritoneal exudate

cells (PEC) were harvested by washing the peritoneum in cold HBSS. PEC (>95% CD45+ hematopoietic lineage) were infected for 5 h with either WR or A35 $\Delta$ , and placed into 96-well plates. PEC were incubated with 50 nM guinea pig myelin basic protein (GPMBP) for 30 minutes, followed by addition of 25,000 Lewis rat CD4+ RsL.11 clones specific for GPMBP (127). The antigen presentation plates were incubated for 24-48 h at 37°C, 5.0% CO<sub>2</sub>. After incubation, 50 µl of supernatants were transferred into an empty 96-well plate and frozen for the following assays. All animal experiments were in compliance with NIH guidelines.

## **CTLL IL-2 Bioassay**

IL-2 was measured using previously described methods (127). Briefly, 10,000 CTLL clones were washed, resuspended in RPMI, and added to the collected supernatants. The plates were incubated for 48 h at 37°C, 5.0% CO2, followed by the addition of 10 µl of MTS/PMS (2.0 mg/mL MTS, Promega; and 0.1 mg/mL PMS, Sigma). The absorbance was read at 492 nm. Media only was used to define the background control level and known IL-2 containing supernatants were used as positive control.

#### **NO Measurement**

50  $\mu$ l of the harvested supernatants were transferred into a separate 96-well plate followed by the addition of 50  $\mu$ l of Griess Reagent (1% sulfanilamide–0.1% N-[1-naphthy] ethylenediamine in 2.5% phosphoric acid) into each well. The absorbance was read at 540 nm (27).

# **Cytokine Measurement**

50 μl of the harvested supernatants were analyzed using the LincoPlex 24 Rat Cytokine/Chemokine Luminex Bead Immunoassay Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Linco Research). The supernatants were incubated with a panel of anti-cytokine

64

antibodies immobilized on Luminex beads (Bio-Rad Laboratories). The following cytokines were analyzed: IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-2, IL-6, IL-17, IL-18, MIP-1 $\alpha$ , GM-CSF, IFN- $\alpha$ , growth regulated oncogene alpha/keratinocyte attractant (GRO/KC), RANTES, TNF- $\alpha$ , MCP-1, eotaxin, G-CSF, IL-4, IL-9, IL-13, IL-5, and IL-10. Reagents for IFN $\gamma$  were not available at the time. Samples were run according to the manufacturer's instructions (Bio-Rad) and analyzed on the BioPlex protein array reader (Bio-Rad) in the Duke University Human Vaccine Institute Immune Reconstitution Core Facility (Durham, NC).

## **RsL-11 Stimulation Assay**

CD4+ RsL.11 T lymphocytes were washed and resuspended in RPMI. The cells were infected for 3-4 h, plated in a 96-well format, and stimulated with PEC pulsed with 50 nM GPMBP, 25  $\mu$ g/ml Con A (Sigma), or 100 nM PMA/2  $\mu$ M ionomycin (Sigma). The plates were incubated at 37° C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. 50  $\mu$ l of the harvested supernatants were collected at 20- and 40-h and assayed for IL-2 using the CTLL bioassay already described.

## Metabolism/Survival Assays

Cells of interest were infected with VACV (MOI=2). Metabolism was measured by the addition of 10 µl MTS/PMS 4-24 hpi, and analyzed similarly to the method described above for the CTLL IL-2 Bioassay. Absorbance was read at 492 nm at various times post infection. Tetrazolium salts such as MTS are reduced to colored formazan products during cellular respiration. As only live cells respire, the MTS assay can be used to measure cell survival.

## **Flow Cytometry**

Cells were infected for 4 hours and then washed in cold PBS containing 1% heatinactivated FBS and 0.1% sodium azide.  $3 \times 10^5$  cells were stained with an anti-MHC II concentrated supernatant (Y3P, AF6120, and MKS4), OX1 anti-CD45, or human anti VACV (Cangene VIG) for 1 h on ice, washed once, and then incubated with a FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (Southern Biotech) or anti human-phycoerythrin (PE). For measurement of apoptosis, cells were infected and then stained with annexinV-FITC/propidium iodide (PI) (BD Pharmingen) per the manufacturer's instructions. Expression was measured using a FACScan (Becton Dickinson) and analyzed with Cell Quest software.

## **Peptide-MHC** Association

The Y-Ae antibody specifically detects a complex of peptide 52-68 from I-E<sup>d</sup> MHC class II bound in the cleft of MHC class II I-A<sup>b</sup> (84, 173). This complex is formed in mice that express both alleles. Spleens were harvested from B10.A-H2^i5 H2-T18^a/(5R)SgSnJ mice (Jackson Labs); C57BL/6 mice were used as a negative control. Unfractionated splenocytes were infected with sucrose gradient purified virus for 3 h (MOI=10) and then incubated with biotin-conjugated Y-Ae (eBioscience). Cells were washed and incubated with streptavidin-RPE (Southern Biotech). Goat polyclonal IgG antibody to CLIP (P-15, Santa Cruz) and donkey antigoat IgG FITC (Jackson Labs) were used to measure CLIP peptide bound in MHC class II on the surface of cells. Samples were analyzed using a FACScan equipped with Cell Quest software.

# Immunofluorescence Microscopy

PEC were harvested as described above and grown on coverslips for 4 h. The cells were then infected at an MOI=10 for 2 h, fixed and permeabilized in 3% paraformadehyde and 0.1% Triton X-100, respectively, and then stained with a rabbit anti-A35 antibody 1:4000 (170) and one of the following polyclonal goat anti-endosome antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) at 1:80 diluted in 0.1% Triton X-100/PBS: Lamp-1 (C-20), Rab 7 (A-16), Rab 5B (C-12), or RhoB (M-19). The coverslips were then washed and incubated with Alexa Fluor 633 (Invitrogen) and a FITC-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG (Sigma) for 45 m, followed by a final round of washes. The

cells were visualized with a Zeiss confocal microscope and pictures were taken with the 100x objective.

# **One-Step Growth Curve**

A one-step growth curve was performed as previously described (170).

#### **IFNy Elispot**

To enumerate cells secreting IFN $\gamma$ , 96-well ELISA plates (Immulon H2B Thermo Electron) were coated overnight with rat anti-mouse IFN $\gamma$  (1 mg/ml Pharmingen). Plates were washed with blocking buffer (PBS 1% FBS) before adding murine splenocytes in RPMI 1640. Stimulation of splenocytes was achieved by the addition of virus (MOI=2) followed by incubation for 40 h at 37°C. Plates were then washed and incubated with 0.4 µl biotinylated rat anti-mouse IFN $\gamma$  (Pharmingen 0.5 mg/ml). Plates were washed and incubated with streptavidin AP for 1 hr at 37°C. Plates were developed with agarose/BCIP/AMP buffer mixture. Spots were counted using a dissection microscope.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Experiments were repeated at least three times and representative data are shown. A twotailed Student's t test was used to compare groups. p values < 0.05 were considered significant.

#### Results

#### A35 Effects on Replication

We have shown previously that the A35 $\Delta$  virus is attenuated in a mouse challenge model, but that the mutant virus replicated and spread similar to the WR parental strain in eight cell lines (RK-13, HeLa, CV-1, BS-C-1, A549, MRC-5, TK-, BHK-21) derived from human, rabbit, monkey and hamster (170). Still it was possible that the A35 $\Delta$  was attenuated *in vivo* because the A35 gene was required for replication in certain cell types or tissues, such as immune cells,

neural tissue (since the VACV-WR strain is neurovirulent) (186), or heart because VACV causes cardiac inflammation (7, 60). Various cell preparations listed below (or BS-C-1 cells as control permissive cells) (170) were infected with WR or A35∆ mutant at an MOI of 1 for 1 day, and then virus titers were measured. The presence of the A35 gene in WR did not reproducibly enhance viral replication more than 2 fold relative to the A35 $\Delta$  in any of the cells or tissues tested, including: Lewis Rat Peritoneal Exudate Cells (PEC), splenocytes from a young and old rat, rat thymocytes, activated and resting RSL-11 T-cells, R1-T T-cells, rat alveolar macrophage line NR8383, mouse CTLL, PC-12 neuronal cells (NGF-differentiated and undifferentiated morphologies), Heldtilt Mouse primary brain and heart cell suspensions, human fetal fibroblasts, and HEK (human kidney line) cells (data not shown). We also assessed the effects of A35 on early replication in tissues of mice i.n. challenged with WR and A35 $\Delta$  at 10<sup>4</sup> pfu/mouse (170), and found no significant difference in replication in nose, lungs, blood, brain and spleen on days 1, 2 and 3 post challenge. Thus, there was no evidence for A35 involvement in host range or tissue tropism, suggesting that A35 is not required for any steps in replication, morphogenesis, or spread of virus.

## A35 Inhibits IL-2 and NO Production

Because the A35 gene was not required for replication but did affect virulence *in vivo*, we suspected that A35 might be involved in regulating aspects of the host immune response. To test this hypothesis, we used a model *in vitro* MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation system (127) and measured responses of both the T lymphocytes and the macrophage APC. Rats are naturally infected with orthopoxviruses (129), and rat peritoneal exudate cells (PEC) are a rich source of normal primary macrophage. PEC were infected in triplicate with WR virus or the A35 $\Delta$  virus, pulsed with antigen (guinea pig myelin basic protein, GPMBP), and incubated in

varying numbers with a cognate CD4+ T cell line, RsL.11 (127). Supernatants were collected, and IL-2 production was determined as a measure of the T cell response to the antigen presentation. T cells in the uninfected groups were able to secrete more IL-2 than either the T cells in the A35 $\Delta$ -infected or the WR-infected groups (Fig 12a). The WR-infected PECs caused the T-cells to secrete significantly (p < 0.05) less IL-2 than A35 $\Delta$ -infected cells 15-72 hpi, indicating that A35 down-regulates MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation responses *in vitro*. A similar A35-mediated down-regulation of IL-2 production was observed when resting PECs and unfractionated rat splenocytes were used as APC (data not shown). No IL-2 was produced in the absence of antigen or either cell type indicating that IL-2 production is a specific response to antigen presentation.

Since production of IL-2 is a measure of the T cell response, we also wanted to measure nitric oxide (NO), which is produced by the macrophage and has been shown to be an important anti-viral defense (94, 123). NO production was measured in supernatants collected from the *in vitro* antigen presentation system described above. Upon antigen presentation stimulation, uninfected macrophages produced significantly more NO than infected cells, while WR-infected macrophages produced significantly (p < 0.05) less NO than the A35 $\Delta$ -infected macrophages (Fig 12b). NO was not produced in the absence of antigen or either cell type indicating that this is a specific antigen presentation response. These data indicate that A35 inhibits both the T lymphocyte and APC responses to antigen presentation.

# A35 Reduces Cytokine Responses Induced By Antigen Presentation

We next wanted to determine whether A35 specifically reduced the amount of IL-2 and NO produced as the result of antigen presentation (Fig 12), or if the presence of A35 in WR broadly affected cytokine responses. Similar to experiments above, PEC were infected in

triplicate with WR or A35 $\Delta$ , pulsed with antigen, and added to RsL.11 T cells. Supernatant cytokines were measured using an antibody-bead-based fluorescent assay. Results showed a broad and significant reduction in multiple cytokines and chemokines (Fig 13). The A35 $\Delta$  virus evoked significantly (p < 0.05) higher levels of MIP1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , GMCSF, IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-2 (confirming our previous IL-2 bioassay results), IFN- $\alpha$ , 1L-17, GRO/KC, RANTES, and TNF $\alpha$ , (but not IL-18) than WR, suggesting that the presence of A35 inhibits production of these cytokines and chemokines and generally dampens all antigen presentation-induced responses.

# A35 Does Not Affect the RsL.11 or CTLL T Cells Directly

In the antigen presentation experiments described above, PEC were pre-infected prior to addition of antigen or T cells. However, it remained possible that the T cells also became infected during the co-incubation, as some T cells can be infected by VACV (30, 175). To determine if VACV and A35 had any direct effects on the responding T cells, we performed a similar assay but with *infected* T cells and *uninfected* PEC. We determined if VACV and A35 affected the ability of the RsL.11 T cell to produce IL-2. RsL.11 T cells were incubated with either WR or A35 $\Delta$  for 3 h, washed, and then incubated with a titration of uninfected antigenpulsed PEC. Supernatants were harvested 24-48 hpi, similar to experiments in Fig 12 and 13, and tested for IL-2. Infection with either virus did not significantly affect the response of the T cell compared to uninfected T cells (Fig 14a). We also found that VACV did not affect RsL.11 responses to mitogen (ConA) or chemical stimulation (PMA/ionomycin) (Fig 14b).

We next wanted to assess whether RsL.11 T cells were permissive to VACV infection. We incubated VACV with the known permissive cell line, BS-C-1, and RsL.11 T cells. Levels of infectious virus increased 2 logs in the BS-C-1 culture but did not increase in the RsL.11 T cell culture (data not shown), and infection had no significant effect on cellular metabolism up to 64 hpi (Fig 14c). Together these data indicate that the RsL.11 T cells are refractory to VACV infection.

To assess viral affects on the CTLL cells used in the IL-2 bioassay, CTLL were incubated with WR or A35 $\Delta$  for 5 h and then placed in IL-2-containing media to stimulate their proliferation. IL-2 increased the response of the uninfected CTLL compared to media containing no IL-2, and VACV did not significantly alter this response up to 48 hpi (Fig 14d). These data suggest that VACV (with or without the A35 gene) has little effect on either the RsL.11 or CTLL under these assay conditions and that A35 exerts its influence directly on the APC instead. In order to further test this hypothesis, we performed an experiment using a paraformaldehyde fixed infected human B cell line to present antigen in triplicate as previously described (116). WR infected (MOI=10) fixed B cells presented 30% as well as uninfected fixed B cells, and significantly less than the A35 $\Delta$  infected fixed B cells, which presented 68% of the levels of uninfected fixed B cells. These data mirror what we have seen in the rodent system using unfixed antigen presenting cells where A35 potentiates VACV inhibition of antigen presentation. Together these data indicate that the APC are directly affected by A35 prior to interaction with T cells. Thus we further explored the effects of A35 on APC.

## A35Δ is as Infectious as WR Virus

We had previously shown that A35 $\Delta$  mutant virus particles were equally infectious on a per particle basis as wild type WR parental virus (170) in BS-C-1 cells, however it was possible that the A35 $\Delta$  virus infected immune cells (PEC) less well than the wild type, thus allowing WR to be more inhibitory. In order to assess viral infectivity in these cells, PECs were incubated with WR and A35 $\Delta$  for 10 h, and viral antigens were measured by FACS analysis using a human polyclonal anti-VACV hyperimmune serum. In three experiments, the A35 $\Delta$  showed as much viral antigen staining as wild type virus (Fig 15a), indicating that the A35 $\Delta$  is as infectious as wild type virus in these cells and proceeds normally through viral protein expression up to 10 hpi. Uninfected cells stained with anti-VACV hyperimmune serum and VACV infected cells stained with secondary antibody alone gave comparable negative results.

#### A35∆ Replicates Equal to WR in PECs

We also assessed the replication of both viruses in PEC using a one-step growth curve. We infected PEC and BS-C-1, a known permissive cell line, with WR or A35 $\Delta$ , and harvested supernatants and cells for titers at various time points. WR and A35 $\Delta$  were able to replicate similarly in BS-C-1 cells increasing approximately 2 logs by 30 hpi (Fig 15b), while neither virus replicated well in PEC. We also measured virus released into supernatants (not shown), and showed that WR and A35 $\Delta$  had very similar supernatant titers. These data indicate that A35 does not alter viral replication in PEC.

## A35 Does Not Induce Apoptosis of PEC

One possible explanation for the A35 mediated reduction in antigen presentation was that A35 might reduce the viability of the APC since VACV is known to induce apoptosis in many APC types (22, 62, 80, 95). To determine this, PEC were infected with WR or A35Δ, and metabolism/viability was measured. While virus infection reduced metabolism/survival of both cell types by 24 hpi, there was no difference in metabolism between the WR- and A35Δ-infected groups, suggesting that A35 does not promote cell death (Fig 16a). Similar experiments were carried out in the murine RAW 264.7 macrophage line, and similar results were obtained: VACV decreased metabolism of RAW, but A35 had no effect. Apoptosis induction was also measured in PEC using annexin V and propidium iodide staining at 4, 6 and 28 hpi. VACV infection induced apoptosis as previously reported, from 17% to 43% in Fig 16b, but A35 had no effect at

any time point measured, indicating that the A35-induced reduction in antigen presentation was not likely due to the increased induction of cell death.

#### A35 Does Not Affect Antigen-Independent NO Production

Since A35 acts on APC, and A35 caused an inhibition of NO production by PEC in antigen presentation assays with T lymphocytes (Fig 12), we tested the effects of A35 on NO production in response to purified LPS and IFN<sub>γ</sub> in PEC and the murine RAW 264.7 macrophage cell line. We infected cells for 4 h with either WR or A35Δ, stimulated the cells with IFN<sub>γ</sub>, LPS, or both, and then measured NO production in supernatants 24 hpi. NO was produced by uninfected PEC and RAW in response to each stimulus (Fig 17), and VACV infection significantly reduced the amount of NO produced as previously reported (13), however the presence of A35 had no effect on this outcome. We performed this experiment with a higher MOI of 5 and a lower MOI of 1 to assess whether an A35 effect might be seen at lower virus infectious dose, but no effect could be detected. Thus, A35 does not always decrease macrophage NO responses, but inhibits NO production specifically as the result of antigen presentation interactions with T cells (Fig 12). These data suggested that A35 specifically blocks the interaction between the PEC and the RsL.11.

# A35 and MHC Class II and B7.2 Expression on APC

Since data suggested that A35 might block interactions between APC and T cells, we measured the effect of A35 on surface expression of B7.2/CD86 and MHC class II, proteins important in antigen presentation. Several labs have now shown that VACV can inhibit MHC class II and CD86 expression on APC *in vitro* and *in vivo* under various conditions (62, 86, 95, 116, 227). PEC were infected for 4 h at an MOI of 10 and analyzed by flow cytometry. Uninfected PECs were 43% bright positive for MHC class II, A35Δ-infected PECs were 39%

and WR-infected PEC were 29% (data not shown), indicating that the A35 protein plays a role in inhibiting the highest expression of MHC II on the surface of PECs. We also looked at how A35 affected the MHC II expression on the 1153 murine B cell line. Following a similar approach to that described for the PEC, uninfected 1153 B cells were 38% bright positive (arrow shown) for MHC II while WR-infected 1153 B cells were 15% (Fig 18), and A35∆-infected cells were 23%, indicating that the presence of A35 in WR mildly reduced MHC II surface expression. In the same experiments, there was no difference in CD45 (leukocyte common antigen) expression between the groups, indicating that VACV and the presence of the A35 gene mildly but specifically decrease MHC class II on the surface of APC. CD28 stimulation through B7 is required for protection from poxvirus infection (65), and B7.2 expression was also measured. PEC and the mouse 1153 B cell line were infected at an MOI of 5 for 4 hours and incubated with primary antibodies that recognize B7.2/CD86 costimulatory molecules. Surface expression of B7.2 costimulatory molecule was decreased from 16% in uninfected and A35∆ infected cells to 10% in WR infected cells, but infection did not decrease surface expression of CD45. These data suggest that A35 may modestly downregulate surface proteins required for antigen presentation.

# A35 Decreases the Amount of Peptide Presented in MHC II

One level of immune regulation, both in homeostasis and infection, lies in controlling the association of peptides with the MHC molecules that present them (82). We next sought to determine whether A35 affected the association of peptides with MHC II on the cell surface. To do this, we used the Y-Ae antibody, which specifically detects peptide 52-68 from I-E<sup>d</sup> MHC class II bound in the cleft of mouse MHC class II I-A<sup>b</sup> (84, 173). MHC class II molecules frequently present self peptides from surface proteins that recirculate through endosomes and are degraded, similar to exogenous antigens that are internalized. The Y-Ae antibody recognizes a

major determinant (approximately 12% of MHC molecules) in mice expressing both of these class II molecules (173, 200). We measured the amount of peptide bound in the cleft of MHC class II on the surface of uninfected, WR and A35 $\Delta$  infected spleen cells. As Figure 19 shows, uninfected and A35 $\Delta$  infected cells were 63% positive for class II MHC molecules complexed with this I-E peptide, while infection with WR reduced this to 30% 3 hpi, with only a slight decrease in MHC class II expression. These data indicate that A35 interferes specifically with the loading of this model peptide into the cleft of MHC class II molecules or expression of such molecules on the cell surface. As surface expression of antigenic peptide was decreased by A35 in this model system, we tested whether MHC class II bound to the remnant chaperone invariant chain peptide CLIP was transported to the cell surface. CLIP peptide was detectable on approximately 14% of uninfected cells, 24% of A35 $\Delta$  infected cells and 33% of WR infected cells (Fig 19) suggesting that A35 enhances the binding and/or transport of CLIP peptides and thus may interfere with presentation of a wide variety of naturally occurring MHC class II presented antigenic peptides.

To determine whether A35 affects VACV stimulated immune responses to VACV antigenic peptides during natural infection, we infected groups of 5 mice with 1000 pfu VACV i.n. as previously described (170) and enumerated VACV specific IFN  $\gamma$  secreting spleen cells on day 8 post infection. WR infected mice produced significantly fewer IFN $\gamma$  secreting cells compared to A35 $\Delta$  infected mice and produced significantly lower levels of VACV specific antibody, suggesting that A35 also acts *in vivo* to suppress immune responses to VACV (164). PBS-vaccinated mice and vaccinated mouse cells without virus stimulation were used as negative controls and produced no signal.

#### A35 Localizes to the Endosomes

Since MHC and B7 proteins recycle in endosomes, and MHC class II is loaded with peptides in the endosomes, we determined the intracellular localization of A35 in APCs. We had published previously that A35 localizes intracellularly in viral factories in BS-C-1 fibroblast cells, in which there is no A35 phenotype (170). Since our data suggest that A35 functions in APC early after infection, we determined the localization of A35 in PECs at a time point when an A35 phenotype is seen in antigen presentation. PEC were infected with either WR or A35 $\Delta$ , and A35 was visualized using fluorescent microscopy. The presence of A35 in the WR-infected PEC could be seen as diffuse punctuate staining throughout the cell (Fig 20), which is consistent with the staining of endosomal structures, where many aspects of MHC II antigen processing and presentation occur. In order to verify endosomal localization, we co-localized the A35 protein with known endosomal markers, Rab 5 (plasma membrane and early endosomes), Rho B (multivesicular bodies), Rab 7 (late endosomes)), and Lamp-1 (late endosomes and lysosomes) (33, 66, 119, 167). A35 showed partial co-localization with these endosomal markers, although least with Rab 5 (Fig 20). In each case there were endosomal structures that had both A35 and the marker (yellow colocalization), but also punctate staining for each antibody alone (green or red). Thus, A35 localizes generally throughout the range of endosomes in the cell, but is not found in all endosomes and does not partition to any distinct endosomal type. The presence of A35 in these structures suggests that A35 protein may interact with or affect proteins in endosomes including class II MHC, although further research is required to elucidate with which proteins A35 interacts specifically.

# Discussion

We showed previously that the VACV A35 gene is an important virulence factor,

increasing virulence by approximately 100-1000 fold (164, 170), but its function was unknown. We have shown here that the VACV A35 gene product is not required for replication in a variety of cell types and tissues in six different mammals. Furthermore, A35 does not control early replication in mouse tissues on days 1-3 post infection before specific immunity develops. However, we have shown that A35 affects the development of specific immune responses *in vitro*, specifically acting on APC. A35 contributes to VACV-induced reduction in MHC II antigen presentation (Fig 12) and subsequent cytokine synthesis (Fig 13) using *primary* macrophages as APC, even though the mutant virus was able to infect the APC as efficiently as wild type (Fig 15). A35 did not affect metabolism, permissiveness, apoptosis of PEC nor NO production induced by immunostimulators in rat PEC or the murine RAW macrophage cell line. These data suggested that A35 did not have a major systemic effect on macrophage, but rather that it specifically interfered with the interaction between APC and T cells since those assays specifically showed an A35-dependent phenotype.

We subsequently found that A35 mildly affected the expression of MHC class II on the surface of the APC (Fig 19). While several labs have now shown that VACV can inhibit MHC class II and CD86 expression on APC *in vitro* and *in vivo* under various conditions, there has been much debate about the circumstances under which this regulation occurs and its significance (116). Some laboratories have associated the reduction in surface molecules with induction of apoptosis (95), while others have concluded that VACV does not block basal B7.2 or class II MHC expression but that it blocks activation-induced B7.2 or class II MHC expression (62 2000). We have found that early after infection, VACV and the A35 gene can mildly decrease expression of these surface markers both in rat PEC and in a murine B cell line. Whether a small decrease in MHC class II levels will have physiologic significance is unknown,

however it is known that MHC class II antigen presentation is crucial to protection from poxvirus infection. In studies with knockout mice, it was found that the absence of MHC class I molecules or CD8 T cell response did not diminish protection but that decreases in CD4 or MHC class II expression caused a loss of protective immunity (221, 224).

VACV genes B1R and H5R have been shown to inhibit CD1d-mediated non-classical lipid antigen presentation, although the importance of this function was difficult to ascertain because of the pleiotropic effects of these genes (220). Several laboratories have shown that VACV also blocks MHC class II antigen presentation in a number of assays using different APC, model antigens (exogenous, virus encoded and cellular endogenous), and response measures (163). VACV-infected primary Langerhans cells were deficient in presenting KLH peptide to a cognate T cell line, as measured by production of IFNy (51). Primary rodent bone marrow derived macrophages infected with VACV were deficient in presenting lysozyme peptide to T cells, as measured by stimulation of IL-2 production (126). Li et al found that VACV inhibited MHC class II antigen presentation in *in vitro* infected human and rodent APC, including B cell lines, dendritic cells, macrophage and fibroblasts presenting several antigens (116). The accumulation of data indicates that VACV generally inhibits MHC class II antigen presentation; however, no viral gene had previously been identified as blocking antigen presentation. We have shown here that A35 interferes with antigen presentation responses to an exogenous model antigen (Fig 12, 13), as well as surface expression of an endogenous peptide in MHC class II (Fig 19). We have also found that A35 increases surface CLIP expression in MHC class II suggesting that A35 may inhibit presentation of a range of antigenic peptides. Further, we have found that A35 diminishes anti-VACV T cell responses and antibody in mice (164) suggesting that A35 may similarly inhibit presentation of virally expressed VACV antigens during infection in vivo.

Our data suggest that VACV A35 contributes to viral inhibition of MHC class II antigen presentation by decreasing the expression of antigenic peptides in the cleft of MHC class II on the surface of infected cells. We showed this in the murine system with an MHC derived peptide as the antigen. Dr. Blum's laboratory showed that VACV decreases the amount of glutamate decarboxylase (GAD) peptide in the cleft of MHC class II in a human B cell line (116). Together these data suggest that VACV inhibition of peptide loading into the cleft is a general mechanism of immune response inhibition independent of the antigen or APC type. The fact that A35 is very highly conserved in mammalian tropic poxviruses suggests that A35 may act similarly in a number of different viruses and host species. Interestingly, Fig 19 shows that there is a population of cells in spleens that is unaffected by the presence of VACV and A35 gene (MOI of 10). Since splenocytes contain numerous cell types, these data suggest that there is a VACV resistant population in the spleen, consistent with other studies showing differing sensitivities to infection among immune cells (30, 175). It will also be important to determine the effects of A35 on lymphocytes in the target organs, especially the lungs.

In these experiments, we showed that A35 inhibited antigen presentation, suggesting that the A35 $\Delta$  mutant viruses will provide improved vaccines, as well as improved platform vaccines for other infectious diseases and cancer treatment. The A35 gene is conserved in all VACV vaccine strains including MVA. While A35 inhibited antigen presentation, it was also clear that the A35 deletion mutant virus blocked antigen presentation when compared to uninfected APC (Fig 12, 13). This suggests that there are multiple poxvirus proteins that function independently to decrease antigen presentation. It is important to identify these immunosuppressive genes and test the cognate knockout viruses as improved poxvirus (or poxvirus platform) vaccines.

While we showed that both T cell and PEC cytokine production was reduced subsequent to antigen presentation interactions, our data indicated that it was the APC that were directly affected by VACV, and the T cells were indirectly affected via regulation of the APC. A35 had the effect of suppressing the production of numerous cytokines and chemokines, which are crucial in the development of an appropriate immune response. Notably, many of the cytokines that are regulated by VACV and A35 are chemotactic factors (MIP-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1, TNF- $\alpha$ , GRO/KC, RANTES, and MCP-1), which aid in the migration of immune response cells to sites of inflammation and infection. Interestingly, IL-18 was not significantly reduced by VACV and A35 (Fig 13). Perhaps this is because IL-18 is stored intracellularly as pro-IL-18 and rapidly released upon stimulation (69). Since IL-18 is an important factor in the induction of anti-viral IFN $\gamma$  production, its storage for rapid release may be an evolved host mechanism to contravene immunomodulation by viral gene products such as A35. The importance of IL-18 in antiviral defense is underscored by the possession of an IL-18 binding protein encoded by poxviruses (159).

There are multiple mechanisms by which A35 could decrease MHC II peptide presentation that must be further explored. Future experiments will address with which cellular proteins A35 interacts. Since A35 may affect peptide loading, it is possible that it interacts with invariant chain (Ii) that chaperones MHC class II proteins, directly with MHC class II itself, or DM molecules that are involved in the exchange of antigenic peptides. Furthermore, we will test various immune responses to the A35 $\Delta$  mutant virus in comparison to wild type virus in transgenic mouse models to understand which pathways are inhibited by A35. Our hypothesis is that A35 acts through blocking MHC class II antigen presentation, and we predict that anti-viral CD4 responses will be diminished, and that this decrease in T helper cells will diminish

development of most downstream anti-viral effector cells (including CD8 cytotoxic T cells, and antibody secreting B cells). Thus far our animal model data are consistent with this hypothesis, showing a reduction in both VACV specific antibody and splenic T lymphocyte responses (164).

# Figures

Figure 12: A35 inhibits the amount of antigen presentation-induced IL-2 and NO. PEC were isolated from a rat, infected with VACV (MOI=2) for 5 h, pulsed for 30 min with 50 nM GPMBP, and then incubated with the cognate CD4+ RsL.11 T cell line. Uninfected PEC served as a control. At 24- to 48-hpi, supernatants (50  $\mu$ l) were collected and assayed for either IL-2 using the IL-2 dependent cell line CTLL (a) or for NO using Greiss reagent (b). For the CTLL bioassay, media only was used to define the background control level and known IL-2 containing supernatants were used as positive control. IL-2 production was determined as the mean OD value of the experimental group minus the background control level. \* p < 0.05



Figure 13: A35 reduces antigen presentation-induced cytokine synthesis. PEC were harvested from Lewis rats, infected with WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus (MOI=2) for 5 h, pulsed with 50 nM GPMBP, and then co-cultured with the cognate CD4+ RsL.11 T cell line. Supernatants (50 µl) were collected at 24-h post incubation and assayed for the production of cytokines using the LincoPlex 24 Rat Cytokine/Chemokine Luminex Bead Immunoassay Kit. IL-2 and IFN $\alpha$  values were divided by 20 and 100 respectively to fit to scale. IL-6, IL-18, and MCP-1 were not significantly reduced by the presence of the A35 gene in WR, all other differences between WR and A35 $\Delta$  were p < 0.05.



**Figure 14: A35 does not directly affect T lymphocytes.** (a) RsL.11 T cells were infected with WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus (MOI= 4) for 4 h and then incubated with decreasing numbers of antigenpulsed PEC. After 24-48 h, supernatants (50 µl) were collected and assayed for IL-2 production using the CTLL IL-2 bioassay. (b) RsL.11 T lymphocytes were infected for 3-4 h and then stimulated with PEC/50 nM GPMBP, 25 µg/ml Con A, or 100 nM PMA/2 µM ionomycin. Supernatants (50 µl) were collected at 20- and 40-h and assayed for IL-2. (c) RsL.11 T cells were infected with VACV for 10 h, and growth metabolism was measured by reduction of 10 µl MTS/PMS. (d) CTLL cells were infected with VACV (MOI=5) for 4 h and then placed in media with varying amounts of an IL-2-containing supernatant. Proliferation was measured by adding 10 µl MTS/PMS.



Figure 15: A35 $\Delta$  mutant virus is as infectious as WR and replicates equally. a) PEC were incubated with WR and A35 $\Delta$  at an MOI of 10 for 10 h, fixed, permeabilized, and incubated with human polyclonal anti-VACV hyperimmune sera. Viral antigens were measured by flow cytometry. b) BS-C-1 cells or PEC were infected with either WR or A35 $\Delta$  mutant virus (MOI=10). Cells were collected at designated times post-infection and cell-associated virus was measured.


**Figure 16: A35 and apoptosis.** (a) PEC were infected with A35 $\Delta$  or VACV WR (MOI=2) and metabolism was measured by the reduction of 10 µl MTS/PMS. (c) PEC apoptosis was measured using annexin V and propidium iodide and flow cytometry following a 4 h infection.



Figure 17: A35 does not block antigen-independent NO production. PEC (a) or RAW 264.7 macrophages (b) were infected at an MOI of 1 for 4 h, and were stimulated with LPS, IFN- $\gamma$ , or a combination. Supernatants (50 µl) were collected at 24-48 h and then assayed for NO production.



Figure 18: A35 decreases MHC class II expression. 1153 B cells were infected with WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus for 5 h, washed and incubated with no primary antibody, anti-class II MHC, or anti CD45 and then FITC-conjugated secondary and analyzed by flow cytometry. Mean fluorescence intensities (MFI) for MHC class II were: UN 154, A35 $\Delta$  111, and WR 77.



**Figure 19: A35 decreases peptide-MHC class II complexes.** Splenocytes from B10.A-H2<sup>i5</sup> H2-T18<sup>a</sup>/(5R)SgSnJ mice (Jackson Labs) were infected for 3 h at an MOI=10, washed, and then incubated with no primary antibody, antibodies to MHC class II or CLIP, or biotin-conjugated Y-Ae anti-peptide in MHC antibody followed by streptavidin-RPE. Samples were analyzed by flow cytometry, and MFI for Y-Ae were: UN 85, A35 $\Delta$  76, and WR 36. MFI for CLIP were UN 5.7, A35 $\Delta$  8.2, and WR 13.9.



**Figure 20: A35 localization in PEC.** PEC were grown on coverslips for 4 h and then infected with WR or A35Δ virus at an MOI=10 for 2 h. The cells were then fixed and permeabilized, and stained with a rabbit anti-A35 antibody and one of the following: goat anti-LAMP, goat anti-Rab7, goat anti-RhoB, goat anti-Rab7. The A35 protein was visualized with a FITC-conjugated secondary antibody, and the endosomal markers were visualized with Alexa Fluor 633.

		15 μm
WR	A35Δ	2° only
Endosomes	A35	Merge
Lamp-1	WR	
Rab7	WR	
RhoB	WR	
Rab5	WR	

### **CHAPTER 4: THE POXVIRUS A35 PROTEIN IS AN IMMUNOREGULATOR**

*This manuscript has been published:* 

Kristina E. Rehm, Gwendolyn J.B. Jones, Alice A. Tripp, Mark W. Metcalf, and Rachel L. Roper. 2010, Journal of Virology, Volume 84, Issue 1, Pages 418-25, doi: 10.1128/JVI.01802-09.

Reproduced with permission from American Society of Microbiology

### Abstract

It has been shown previously that the highly conserved VACV A35 gene is an important virulence factor in respiratory infection of mice. We show here that A35 is also required for full virulence by the intraperitoneal route of infection. A virus mutant in which the A35 gene has been removed replicated normally and elicited improved antibody, IFN $\gamma$ -secreting cell and cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses compared to wild type virus, suggesting that A35 increases poxvirus virulence by immunomodulation. The enhanced immune response correlated with improved control of viral titers in target organs after the development of the specific immune response. Finally, the A35 deletion mutant virus also provided protection from lethal challenge (1000 x LD<sub>50</sub>) equal to that of the wild type virus. Together these data suggest that A35 deletion viruses will make safer and more efficacious vaccines for poxviruses. In addition, the A35 deletion viruses will serve as improved platform vectors for other infectious diseases and cancer and will be superior vaccine choices for post-exposure poxvirus vaccination as they provide improved kinetics of the immune response.

# Introduction

Poxviruses are large, complex viruses with a broad host range and worldwide distribution (141). Members of the family Poxviridae include Variola virus, the causative agent of smallpox, which induced a fatality rate of approximately 30% and killed hundreds of millions of people

before its eradication in 1980 (124). Currently the most dangerous extant human-infecting poxvirus is monkeypox virus, which is commonly found in African rodents. Monkeypox virus causes a smallpox-like illness with a 10% fatality rate. A recent study showed that 1.7% of people in the Likouala region in Africa had monkeypox specific IgM, indicating a significant ongoing infection rate (112). An outbreak of a low virulence strain of monkeypox occurred in the United States in 2003, causing more than 80 human infections and several hospitalizations (34). This outbreak raises concern that monkeypox virus could establish itself in wild rodent populations in North America (152), thus creating a local zoonotic reservoir for this emerging pathogen. Of further concern are the facts that monkeypox is spreading more efficiently in humans, (81, 110, 144) and that the current poxvirus vaccine is not universally protective against monkeypox infection (117). Both Variola and monkeypox viruses are considered bioterrorism and biowarfare concerns and are Category A select-agent pathogens. There are also other poxvirus infections that sporadically cause human outbreaks, including Cantagalo in South America (45, 185), buffalopox virus in India (100), and incidence of Tanapox appears to be increasing (52, 198). Molluscum contagiosum poxvirus accounts for approximately 300,000 doctor visits each year in the United States alone (140). Thus, the study of virulence mechanisms in this group of viruses is important.

The eradication of smallpox was accomplished through the use of the related VACV as a live virus vaccine. Despite its phenomenal success, the public vaccination program was discontinued because of the high incidence of complications due to the virulence of wild type VACV. It is estimated that approximately 25% of the population should not receive this vaccine because of immunodeficiency, eczema, pregnancy, or heart disease (60, 96, 211). Safer vaccines are necessary to protect against emerging or released poxviruses. In addition, poxviruses are

being used as platform vaccines for other diseases, such as human immunodeficiency virus, malaria, and cancer, because they induce a robust immune response and accommodate the insertion of large pieces of foreign DNA. It is therefore of great importance to identify poxvirus virulence genes in order to develop safer and more effective poxvirus vaccines. Replication-defective strains, such as Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA), have been used in an effort to reduce the risks associated with vaccination (41, 221), but production of these viruses can be challenging, they require higher doses of vaccine, and their protective efficacy against poxvirus infections in humans is unknown. As poxviruses inhibit activation of antigen presenting cells and antigen presentation (116, 163), another way to construct a safer vaccine is to develop replication-competent vaccine strains that exclude immunosuppressive genes (19) while retaining protective antigenic epitopes (79, 148). We show herein that the A35 gene is an excellent candidate for removal from vaccine strains.

The VACV A35 gene is highly conserved in mammalian-tropic poxviruses, and a sequence identity search has revealed that the protein has little similarity to any other poxvirus protein or any non-poxvirus protein, suggesting that this gene has an important and novel function (170). We have shown that the A35 gene is not required for viral replication *in vitro*, but is required for full virulence in the mouse model (170). We therefore tested the effects of A35R on immune responses during infection in the mouse model, and tested its protective efficacy against virulent challenge.

### **Materials and Methods**

### **Cells and Virus**

VACV Western Reserve (WR) strain and A35∆ mutant virus stocks were propagated using BS-C-1 cells in MEM containing 10% FBS as previously described (170). P815 cells (ATCC) were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM).

### **Mouse Infection and Sample Collection**

Four 5-week old BALB/c mice were anesthetized using isoflurane and infected intranasally (i.n.) as previously described (170) with purified virus in 18  $\mu$ l (100  $\mu$ l for i.p. infection), or mock infected with PBS. Titers were confirmed each experiment using the dilution used to infect mice that day. Mice were weighed and monitored daily for signs of illness and were euthanized if 20% weight loss occurred. For experiments assessing immune responses, five mice from each group were sacrificed, and the spleens were collected in ice cold RPMI medium. Splenocytes were obtained as previously described and incubated in RPMI (36). Blood was collected using cardiac puncture, followed by centrifugation to separate plasma from red blood cells. All experimental protocols were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of East Carolina University.

### ELISA

To determine antibody response, 96-well ELISA plates (Immulon H2B Thermo Electron) were coated overnight with 0.1  $\mu$ l/well (100  $\mu$ l) crude WR virus in ELISA coating buffer (10.3 g H<sub>2</sub>BO<sub>4</sub>, 7.31 g NaCl, 1 L double distilled H<sub>2</sub>O, pH 8.5) at 4°C. Plates were blocked with 1% FBS/PBS at room temperature for 30 min. Plates were washed with ELISA wash buffer (1x PBS, 0.02% Tween 20, 0.1% NaN3) and a titration of mouse sera was added. Plates were incubated at room temperature for 2 h and washed. Goat anti-mouse IgG-alkaline phosphatase (Southern

Biotech) was added and incubated at room temperature for 1 h. Plates were washed three times, developed (BioRad Alkaline Phosphate Substrate Kit) and absorbance was read at 405 nm. Anti-B5R ELISAs were similarly performed by coating plates with purified baculovirus-expressed B5R protein prepared by C-PERL (the kind gift of Stuart Isaacs).

#### Measurement of Neutralizing Antibody

VACV-specific neutralizing antibody was measured by incubating 25  $\mu$ l of sera from PBS, WR or A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice (n=5) with WR virus (200 pfu) in 100  $\mu$ l of media containing 10% heat inactivated FBS for 1 h on ice. The virus/serum mixture was then added to confluent monolayers of BS-C-1 cells, and plaques were counted 40 h later.

# IFNy Enzyme-Linked Immunospot Assay (Elispot)

Numbers of IFNγ secreting spleen cells were enumerated similarly to methods described previously (42, 70, 180). Ninety six-well plates (Immulon H2B Thermo Electron) were coated overnight with 0.2 µl anti-mouse IFNγ (1 mg/ml Pharmingen) at 4°C. Plates were washed with blocking buffer before adding a titration of murine splenocytes in RPMI 1640 medium. Stimulation of splenocytes was achieved by either the addition of WR virus only (MOI=2) or with the use of 50,000 WR-infected (MOI=3) P815 stimulator cells, followed by incubation for 40 h at 37°C. Plates were then washed and incubated with 0.4 µl biotinylated rat anti-mouse IFNγ (Pharmingen 0.5 mg/ml) for 2 h at 37°C. Plates were washed again and incubated with streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase (AP) for 1 h at 37°C. Plates were developed with agarose-BCIP (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolylphospahte)-AMP mixture, and spots were counted using a dissecting microscope.

# CTL Assay

Cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) activity was measured as the release of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) into supernatants from WR virus-infected P815 cells using Promega Cytotox kit. P815 target cells were infected (MOI=5) for 3 h and added to a titration of splenocytes from the vaccinated mice in round-bottom 96-well plates at  $37^{\circ}$  C. After 6 h, 50 µl of supernatant were collected and assayed for LDH by adding an equal volume of substrate and reading the absorbance at 492 nm. Incubation of splenocytes with uninfected P815 cells was used to measure non-specific lysis, which was subtracted from each experimental group to yield specific lysis.

## **Cytokine Measurement**

Sera were analyzed using the LincoPlex Mouse Cytokine/Chemokine Luminex bead immunoassay kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Linco Research). Sera were incubated with a panel of anti-cytokine antibodies immobilized on Luminex beads (murine 23plex, Bio-Rad Laboratories), run according to the manufacturer's instructions, and analyzed on the BioPlex protein array reader (Bio-Rad) at the Duke University Human Vaccine Institute Immune Reconstitution Core Facility (Durham, NC).

### **Virus Titrations**

Groups of mice (n=5) were sacrificed at various days post infection (dpi), and the organs were placed into 1 ml of ice cold RPMI medium. The organs were then freeze/thawed three times, homogenized, and sonicated. Viral replication was evaluated by titration of the organ on BS-C-1 monolayers and staining with 0.1% crystal violet in 20% ethanol 40 h later.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Experiments were repeated at least three times and representative data are shown. A twotailed Student's t test was used to compare groups. p values < 0.05 were considered significant.

# Results

### **Virulence Studies**

We had shown previously that the VACV A35 gene is not required for replication and is a major virulence factor in the mouse i.n. challenge model, increasing virulence almost 100 fold (170). It was unknown whether A35 would also play a role in infection via other challenge routes, or if perhaps A35 was required for replication in certain tissues such as nasal or lung tissue. We therefore challenged groups of mice (n=5) intraperitoneally (i.p.), bypassing the respiratory route, with the wild type parental VACV WR strain, the A35 $\Delta$  virus, or PBS as control. We found that VACV (WR and A35 $\Delta$ ) injected i.p. did not cause any weight loss at 10<sup>5</sup> and 10<sup>6</sup> pfu/mouse, but that at 10<sup>7</sup> pfu/mouse, the WR virus caused significant weight loss and death in 2 of 5 mice, while the A35 $\Delta$  virus was attenuated, causing only mild weight loss and no mortality (Fig 21). These data indicate that the A35 gene is required for virulence in mice infected by either the i.n. or i.p. route.

Since A35 is a virulence factor independent of the route of infection, and VACV can block MHC class II antigen presentation *in vitro* (116, 163), we wanted to measure the effect of A35 on immune responses *in vivo*. We anesthetized and i.n. infected groups of mice ( $n \ge 5$ ) with the VACV WR strain, the A35 $\Delta$  virus, or PBS as control. Since we wanted to evaluate the immune responses in the presence or absence of the A35 gene without any confounding effects of overall systemic illness in the animals, we titrated the infectious dose to identify a dose of virus such that the more virulent WR strain did not cause significant weight loss in animals (Fig 22). We found that  $10^5$  to  $10^4$  pfu/mouse caused significant weight loss and mortality in >80% of WR infected mice (approximate LD<sub>50</sub> of 5 x  $10^3$  pfu (161)) by day 8, while all A35 $\Delta$  infected mice survived (LD<sub>50</sub> of 5 x  $10^5$  pfu). At  $10^3$  pfu/mouse, WR caused significant weight loss while A35 $\Delta$  did not, and 11/12 WR infected mice and all A35 $\Delta$  infected mice survived. At 500 pfu/mouse, no weight loss was noted at any time point for either virus (Fig 22); therefore, we chose 500 pfu/mouse as our infection dose to study immune responses to these viruses.

# **Spleen Enlargement**

Visual observation during necropsy suggested that spleens of infected/vaccinated mice were larger than spleens of uninfected mice, and that spleens of A35 $\Delta$ - infected mice were larger than spleens of WR-infected mice. These observations suggested that A35 $\Delta$  virus might generate a superior immune response with robust lymphocyte proliferation. B and T lymphocytes proliferate in response to antigen, and a spike of T cell proliferation has been reported in the spleens and lymph nodes of mice days 5 to 7 after VACV infection was previously reported (223). To begin to understand the effects of A35 on the immune response, mice were infected i.n. with 500 pfu of WR or the A35 $\Delta$  virus. In all experiments, on at least one day (days 6-8 post infection), the spleens from A35 $\Delta$  infected mice were significantly (p<0.05) larger than those from WR-infected mice (Fig 23a). Enlarged spleens correlated with increased numbers of splenocytes isolated from spleens. This difference was reproducible, but not significant. A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice had higher numbers of splenocytes than WR-infected mice; however the difference was lost by 9 dpi (Fig 23b).

### **Antibody Response**

The effects of A35 on VACV specific immunoglobulin (Ig) production in mice were assessed. The generation of anti-VACV specific antibody was previously shown to be crucial in

protecting mice from poxvirus infections (14, 32, 151). VACV-specific Ig was not detected above background levels on days 5 and 6 pi (i.n.). By day 7, there was measurable anti-VACV Ig in the serum, and mice vaccinated with the A35 $\Delta$  virus produced significantly more VACVspecific Ig than mice infected with WR (Fig 24a), and this difference was maintained to 34 dpi (Fig 24b), the latest time point tested. These data reveal that A35 inhibits the production of Ig during a specific immune response, and that even a highly attenuated virus can induce an equal, or even superior, antibody response compared to the wild type vaccine strain. The B5R antigen is the major target of virus-neutralizing Ig in anti-VACV serum (12); therefore, we also measured Ig recognizing B5R protein in the sera of VACV-infected mice. A35 $\Delta$  infected mice also produced higher titers of B5R specific Ig, but the difference was not significant (Fig 24c).

Since A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice produced higher VACV-specific antibody titers, we next compared the levels of neutralizing antibody present in the sera from WR and A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice on day 34 pi. Sera from WR-infected mice reduced plaque formation by an average of two-fold compared to sera from mock-infected mice (data not shown). Impressively, sera from the A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice were able to reduce plaque formation nearly six-fold compared to sera from mock-infected mice and three-fold compared to the sera from WR-infected mice. Together, these data indicate that infection with A35 $\Delta$  not only generated larger amounts of total VACV-specific Ig, it also lead to the production of larger amounts of neutralizing Ig.

### **IFNy-Secreting Splenocytes**

The ELISPOT assay allows enumeration of cells secreting IFN $\gamma$  a cytokine known to be protective against VACV, in response to stimulation by VACV antigen presented in the context of MHC (42, 70, 180). We tested how the presence of the A35 gene in the virus infecting mice i.n. affects the induction of IFN $\gamma$  secreting cells in the spleens using two methods for antigenic stimulation of IFN<sub>Y</sub>: the addition of VACV infected P815 cells (70) or the addition of infectious virus directly to the splenocytes (42). As shown in Fig 25, splenocytes were stimulated to produce IFN<sub>Y</sub> by the addition of infectious virus directly to the cells, and the presence of the A35 gene in the WR virus significantly reduced the number of VACV-specific IFN<sub>Y</sub>-secreting splenocytes developed by the mouse, in some cases by 10 fold. Similar results were obtained when virus-infected P815 cells were used to stimulate the splenocytes (data not shown). A35 dependent differences were seen at early times pi (days 5 to 8), were significant on days 7 to 8, and were not consistently significantly higher at later times as the immune response waned (no significant differences were seen at day 9, 14 or 34). No IFN<sub>Y</sub> production was detected in PBS mock-infected mice or in any group without addition of virus or infected P815 cells as stimulators.

# **CTL Activity**

Since cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) are important in killing virally infected target cells and have been shown to be important in the defense against poxviruses (32, 88, 224), we measured the effect of A35 on CTL generated in spleens of i.n. infected mice. Splenocytes from PBS-, WR-, or A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice were incubated with VACV-infected P815 target cells at various ratios, and specific lysis of the P815 cells was measured through the release of LDH into the supernatants. As shown in Fig 26, A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice developed significantly stronger VACV-specific cytolytic activity than WR-infected mice. Differences were significant only on days 6 and 7 pi. Together the immune data suggest that an A35 $\Delta$  virus induces a significantly stronger B and T cell immune response especially early after infection/vaccination compared to wild type virus.

### **Cytokine Production**

In order to determine whether a cytokine signature could be identified for effective immune responses against poxvirus infection, and which cytokines might be mediating immune response differences in WR- and A35A-infected mice early after infection, we infected mice and harvested sera day 2 and 3 pi and measured 23 cytokines. As shown in Fig 27, VACV infection altered the serum cytokine composition on day 2 pi compared to PBS mock-infected mice, increasing levels of IL-6, G-CSF, and MIP-1 $\alpha$  significantly. However, there was no significant difference between WR- and A35Δ-infected mouse sera that might explain the later differences in immune responses to these virus infections. Sera levels of IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL -10, IL -12 p70, and eotaxin were below the standard curve values and are not shown. Day 3 data (not shown) were similar to day 2 with smaller differences between groups. Thus, it was not possible to predict the effectiveness of an immune response based on early post infection serum cytokine levels. We also assessed cytokine levels day 6 and 7 pi. On day 6 pi, differences were small; however, on day 7 pi, serum levels of MCP-1, IFNy, and G-CSF were elevated at least two-fold in WR- compared to A35A-infected mice, however as discussed below, viral titers were much higher in WR-infected mice at this time point, suggesting that these cytokines might be elevated in response to viral infection rather than immune response per se.

### **Viral Titers in Organs**

We had shown previously that the A35 gene was not required for replication in numerous tissue culture cell lines (170), but it was possible that A35 increased virulence by allowing VACV to replicate in certain animal tissues. We therefore wanted to compare virus replication levels in tissues both at early and late times after infection i.n. with WR and A35 $\Delta$  viruses. Furthermore, since A35 inhibits the generation of an anti-VACV immune response in terms of

VACV-specific antibody production, IFN $\gamma$  secretion, and CTL activity, we assessed viral titers in the organs at time points after development of the specific immune response (later than day 6) to assess whether the immune response was more effective in controlling virus in A35 $\Delta$  infected mice. On days 1, 2 and 3 pi, there were no reproducible significant differences in WR and A35 $\Delta$ virus titers in the tissues infected early after infection: lung, brain, nose, blood and spleen (data not shown). However, on days 6-9 pi, WR infected mice usually had approximately 2-to 10-fold higher viral titers in most organs (sometimes more than 100-fold) than A35 $\Delta$  (Fig 28), suggesting that the improved immune response in A35 $\Delta$  infected animals was better controlling viral replication. Peak titers were reached on day 7 for most organs, and after day 9 in these sublethally infected animals, titers dropped precipitously in the organs from both WR- and A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice.

### **Protection from Lethal Challenge**

We wanted to determine whether the A35 $\Delta$  virus would act as a protective vaccine. Since immune recognition of A35 epitopes has not been found in the analysis of human or mouse B (antibody) or T cells (88, 153), we hypothesized that its deletion would not harm vaccine efficacy. Further, the improved immune responses (Figs 23-26) suggest that, in addition to being safer (Figs 21-22), the A35 $\Delta$  virus might be a more efficacious vaccine. Mice were infected/vaccinated i.n. with a low dose of WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus (10<sup>3</sup> pfu/mouse) or mockvaccinated with PBS. Four weeks later, the mice were challenged with a high dose (LD<sub>50</sub> x 450) of virulent WR virus. Mock-vaccinated mice rapidly lost weight, and all died by 4 days post challenge (Fig 29a). However all WR- or A35 $\Delta$ -vaccinated mice survived to 3 weeks with only slight weight loss immediately after challenge. The A35 $\Delta$  virus mutant virus delivered i.p. also protected mice from virulent WR challenge (LD<sub>50</sub> x 600) as well as the WR virus vaccination (Fig 29b). We tested vaccination over a range from  $10^4$  to  $10^7$  i.p., and  $10^3$  to  $10^5$  i.n., with challenge up to (LD<sub>50</sub> x 1000), and found that in every case the A35 $\Delta$ -vaccinated mice were fully protected from weight loss and death, and protected as well as the surviving WR-vaccinated mice. We therefore predict that A35 $\Delta$  mutant viruses will be superior vaccines.

### Discussion

We have previously shown that the A35 gene is required for full virulence in the mouse respiratory infection model and that the protein is not required for viral replication (170). Here we demonstrate that the A35 protein is also important for virulence when introduced i.p. In the i.n. mouse model, our data here, together with our previous data (170), show that  $10^6$  pfu of A35 $\Delta$ -mutant virus is required to reach the same level of weight loss caused by  $10^3$  pfu of WR virus, a 1000-fold difference. It is difficult to compare the virulence of various gene deletion mutants because many have not been tested in the i.n. model measuring weight loss; intracranial inoculations or measures of viral titers in organs have often been performed instead. Available data indicate that the A35 $\Delta$  virus is similar in virulence to the IL-18 binding protein knock out virus (159), more attenuated than the A46R deletion mutant (195), and less attenuated than the E3L deletion, which causes a 1000-fold attenuation (216).

The A35 gene affects development of the host adaptive immune response. Compared to WR-infected mice, mice infected with the A35 $\Delta$  virus had larger spleens, generated higher titers of VACV-specific Ig and neutralizing antibody, and developed higher numbers of VACV-specific IFN $\gamma$ -secreting cells and improved CTL responses. The faster and greater magnitude immune response that developed in the A35 $\Delta$ -infected/vaccinated mice correlated with reduced viral replication in tissues. It is important that viral titers 1 to 4 dpi (before development of a specific immune response) were not significantly different. Thus the control of virus replication

correlates with the enhanced immunogenicity of the A35 $\Delta$  virus, suggesting that the immune response is responsible for decreases in virus titers. The relatively uniform reduction in viral load in multiple organs further implicates the immune control of virus rather than a tissue specific replication defect of the A35 $\Delta$  mutant.

Interestingly, the improved immune response seen in the A35 $\Delta$ -infected/vaccinated mice was most evident on early days (days 6 to 8) pi, suggesting that A35 delays the generation of virus-specific immunity allowing the virus an advantage in establishing a generalized infection. We have shown (Fig 22) that differences in weight loss between WR- and A35A virus-infected mice occur at the time when the specific adaptive immune response is developing in A35 $\Delta$ infected mice and delayed in WR-infected mice. This A35 mediated delay may allow enough time for the virus to replicate throughout the host organs and establish an infection in the mouse, resulting in weight loss and death. In contrast, the superior immune response in the A35 $\Delta$ infected mice results in a reduction in viral replication, clearance of the infection, and survival. While A35 seemed to delay T cell responses early, and the differences waned later during infection, the antibody response remained elevated in the A35A-infected mice to day 34 pi (the latest time point tested), indicating that the immune response is not only delayed by A35 in WR, but also persistently diminished even a month after infection. Impressively, this enhanced antibody response in A35A-infected mice occurs despite the increased antigen load and persistence of antigen in WR infected mice (demonstrated by viral titer data for days 6 to 8 pi).

Sublethal viral infection in a host may be simplistically considered in several overlapping steps; i) viral replication in tissues initially infected, ii) viral stimulation of and interaction with the innate immune system, iii) development of the specific immune response, iv) viral replication in target organs, and v) control of virus by immune mechanisms. Our data suggest that A35

interferes with the development of the specific immune response, because early viral replication up to day 4 is not diminished in the A35 $\Delta$ , and the difference seen between A35 $\Delta$  and WR occur with the same kinetics as the development of specific immunity. Since both B and T lymphocyte immunities are impeded by A35, it seems likely that A35 acts at an early stage in the initiation of a specific immune response, or potentially at the interface between innate and specific immunity. VACV is known to block MHC class II antigen presentation to CD4+ T lymphocytes (116). This would be predicted to result in smaller spleen size, which is indicative of decreased lymphocyte proliferation in this organ, and may also be expected to decrease Ig and CD8+ T lymphocyte responses that are dependent on CD4+ T helper cells. CD4+, CD8+ and B lymphocytes are known to be important for protection from poxvirus infections (14, 32, 68, 151, 224).

The fact that the A35 $\Delta$  mutant virus is highly attenuated and more immunogenic suggests that deletion of A35 will create superior vaccine strains. Indeed, in a lethal i.n. challenge model, the A35 $\Delta$  virus vaccine, even at low doses, was as efficacious as WR in multiple challenge experiments up to 1000 x LD<sub>50</sub>. It is important not to delete viral genes that contain protective epitopes from vaccine strains. Several groups have identified the CD4+ (26) and CD8+ (55, 88, 97, 148, 208) T cell epitopes that confer protection to poxviruses. None of these studies has identified A35 as a T cell determinant. Other groups have analyzed human vaccinia immune globulin in an effort to determine the VACV antigens that it recognizes (48, 91). Again, A35 was not among the reactive VACV antigens. Thus removal of the A35 gene is anticipated to improve vaccine safety, while having no detrimental effect on the generation of a protective immune response in mammals. Indeed the immune response is enhanced in A35 $\Delta$ -infected animals. This is important for the development of poxvirus vaccines, especially for post-

exposure vaccination, which requires a rapid immune response for protection. In addition, poxvirus platform vaccines for other infectious diseases and cancer will likely benefit from removal of the A35 gene.

# Figures

Figure 21: Intraperitoneal infection of mice. Groups (n=5) of female BALB/c mice were infected i.p. with  $10^7$  pfu/mouse of WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus, or mock-vaccinated with PBS, and weighed (g ±SEM) at various time points pi. \* Two mice died in the WR infected group.



**Figure 22: Intranasal infection of mice.** Groups of mice were infected i.n. with 500 to  $10^5$  pfu/mouse of WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus, or mock-vaccinated with PBS and weighed (g ±SEM) for 4 weeks. Weights increased after day 9. \*All mice (5/5) died in the group infected with  $10^5$  pfu WR, 6/7 mice died in the group infected with  $10^4$  pfu WR, and 1/11 mice died in the group infected with  $10^3$  pfu WR. No A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice died.



**Figure 23: Spleen weights and counts.** Mice were infected with WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus i.n. on day 0 with 500 pfu/mouse. Five mice per infection group were sacrificed, their spleens were weighed on day 7 (a), and total splenocytes were counted (b). Data show the average (+/- SEM).



Figure 24: VACV- and B5R-specific antibody response. Mice (n=5) were infected i.n. with WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus, and blood was collected on various days pi. Serum reactivity was measured by ELISA on VACV-coated plates for day 7 (a) or day 34 (b) sera, or on purified B5R-coated plates (c) for day 7 pi sera. Data show the average absorbances (+/- SEM). OD405, optical density at 405 nm.



**Figure 25: VACV-specific IFNγ-producing cells.** On days 6, 7 and 8 pi (i.n.), the spleens from five mice/group were harvested and splenocytes were analyzed by ELISPOT for virus-specific IFNγ production 48 h after stimulation with VACV-WR virus. Data show the average number of spots (+/- SEM).


**Figure 26:** Cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Mice were infected i.n. on day 0 with 500 pfu/mouse of WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus. On day 7 pi, the spleens from five mice/group were harvested and the splenocytes were incubated with WR-infected (MOI=5 for 3 h) P815 cells as targets. After 6 h, supernatants were collected and analyzed for the presence of LDH. Data show the average lysis (+/- SD). OD492, optical density at 492 nm.



**Figure 27: Cytokines in blood.** Mice were infected i.n. on day 0 with 500 pfu/mouse of WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus or PBS, and sera were collected on day 2 pi and analyzed for cytokine quantities (+/-SEM) by using a Luminex Bioplex assay. TNF $\alpha$  values were divided by 20 to better show all data.



**Figure 28: Viral titers in organs.** Mice were infected i.n. with 500 pfu/mouse of WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus, and organs were harvested from five mice per group per day into 1 ml cold RPMI medium. To quantify viral replication, organs were freeze/thawed three times, homogenized, and sonicated before titration on BS-C-1 cells. Monolayers were stained ~40 h later with crystal violet and the plaques were counted. Data show the average (+/- SEM). Lung and nose titers were divided by 2, and heart, liver, kidney were multiplied by 20, 50, and 100 respectively in order to make data more visible.



**Figure 29: Protection from lethal challenge.** (a) Mice were vaccinated i.n. on day 0 with 1000 pfu of WR or A35 $\Delta$  virus, or mock-vaccinated with PBS. Four weeks later, the mice were challenged i.n. with LD<sub>50</sub> x 450 virulent WR virus. (b) Mice were vaccinated i.p. with 10<sup>6</sup> or 10<sup>7</sup> pfu and challenged 4 weeks post vaccination with LD<sub>50</sub> x 600 WR.



# CHAPTER 5: DELETION OF THE A35 GENE FROM MODIFIED VACCINIA ANKARA INCREASES IMMUNOGENICITY, ISOTYPE SWITCHING, AND CREATES AN EFFECTIVE POXVIRUS VACCINE

#### Abstract

The Vaccinia virus (VACV) A35 gene (Copenhagen designation) is highly conserved in mammalian tropic poxviruses and is an important virulence factor in the mouse model, but it is not required for replication in the VACV Western Reserve strain. Futhermore, the protein mediates suppression of *in vitro* MHC class II-mediated antigen presentation and suppresses immune responses in mice. The Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA) virus has been used as a safer alternative poxvirus vaccine; however, concerns about its immunogencity and efficacy have been raised. Herein, we show that A35 is not required for the normal viral spread and replication of MVA in BHK-21 cells, and that infection of mice with an MVA A35 deletion mutant (MVA35 $\Delta$ ) virus enhanced B and T lymphocyte responses compared to MVA. Specifically, mice infected with the MVA35 $\Delta$  virus had enhanced class switching to IgG isotypes and increased numbers of virus-specific IFN $\gamma$ - secreting splenocytes. Both MVA and the MVA35 $\Delta$  virus were able to protect mice equally from a lethal challenge (500 x LD<sub>50</sub>). Our data suggest that the deletion of the A35 gene may be an effective strategy to enhance the immunogenicity of MVA-based vaccines without decreasing efficacy.

# Introduction

Vaccinia virus (VACV) was used as the live virus vaccine during the smallpox eradication campaign, and its use ultimately led to the eradication of this fatal disease (124). Despite being phenomenally successful, vaccination of the general public was discontinued due to the unacceptably high rate of adverse events, including disseminated vaccinia, progressive

vaccinia, eczema vaccinatum, and encephalitis (111). It has been estimated that 25% of the current population should not be vaccinated due to immunosuppression, inflammatory skin conditions, pregnancy, or heart abnormalities (60, 96, 211), and 1 out of every 450 people vaccinated will have a serious adverse reaction resulting in hospitalization (29).

Since the discontinuation of widespread poxvirus vaccination, there has been an increase in the incidence of human poxvirus infections throughout the world, including buffalopox in India (100), Cantagalo virus in South America (45, 185) and cowpox in Europe (107). The most dangerous emerging poxvirus is monkeypox, which is a zoonotic poxvirus that causes a smallpox-like illness and has a 10% fatality rate in humans. Monkeypox is endemic to Africa, but in 2003 there was an outbreak in the United States that was associated with the importation of African rodents (34, 112). This outbreak resulted in approximately 80 cases, but because this was an attenuated strain, no deaths occurred (34, 115). In addition to the threat of emerging poxvirus infections, there is also concern that the smallpox virus could be used as a biowarfare agent, resulting in widespread sickness and mortality in a now largely unvaccinated population. Thus, safer poxvirus vaccines are needed in the face of emerging disease and bioterrorism.

A safer alternative to the traditional poxvirus vaccine is the use of attenuated, replicationdeficient strains, such as Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA). Attenuation of this virus occurred after >570 serial passages in chicken embryo fibroblasts (CEF), resulting in deletion of approximately 25 kb of the VACV genome (136), including genes encoding immunomodulatory proteins (17), and the inability to replicate in most mammalian cells (17). MVA is being tested as a vaccine to protect against poxviruses (57, 67, 202), and is also being used as a platform vaccine for other infectious diseases and cancer (59, 105, 166). Poxviruses make good platform vaccines because they are easy to produce and stable, induce robust, long lasting cellular and humoral immune responses, and can accommodate the insertion of large pieces of foreign DNA (169). MVA has been shown to be safe when administered to immunodeficient mice (221), nonhuman primates (201) and humans (125, 199). Recent vaccine trials have shown that MVA can be given safely to those infected with HIV (41) and those with atopic dermatitis (90), two populations that cannot receive the traditional vaccine. Thus, this attenuated VACV shows promise as a safer alternative poxvirus vaccine and also as a platform vaccine.

While MVA is clearly safer, there are concerns about its immunogenicity and efficacy (8). In studies comparing the immunogenicity of MVA to traditional poxvirus vaccines, MVA was unable to elicit the same levels of both antibody and IFN<sub>γ</sub>-producing cells as traditional poxvirus vaccine strains, even when 10-100 times more virus was administered, although both viruses offered similar levels of protection (14, 67, 221). The immunogenicity of MVA may especially be a concern in populations with an already weakened immune system, such as cancer patients. Data available suggest that multiple doses of MVA may need to be administered in order to achieve the level of immunogenicity obtained with traditional replication-competent strains (14). One strategy that can be used to enhance the immunogenicity of MVA is to identify and exclude genes that are immunosuppressive. The Copenhagen A35 gene (Western Reserve strain gene 158, MVA gene 146R) is one such gene.

We have previously shown that the poxvirus A35 gene is highly conserved in all sequenced mammalian-tropic poxviruses, including MVA (170). It is an important virulence factor in the mouse model, increasing virulence by nearly 1000-fold, but is not required for replication of the VACV Western Reserve (WR) strain (164, 170). In addition, we have shown that A35 suppresses *in vitro* MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation (162), and, following intranasal (i.n.) infection in mice, the protein mediates immunosuppression, significantly

decreasing virus-specific antibody production, IFN $\gamma$ -secreting T cells, and CTL killing, resulting in the inability to control viral replication in target organs and thus contributing to morbidity and mortality of the host (164). Here, we characterize the A35 gene function in the background of the MVA genome.

#### **Materials and Methods**

# **Cells and Virus**

VACV Western Reserve (WR) stocks were propagated using BS-C-1 cells in MEM containing 10% FBS as previously described (170). MVA and MVA35Δ stocks were propagated using BHK-21. P815 and BHK-21 cells (ATCC) were grown in DMEM containing 10% FBS.

# **Immunostaining of Virus Infected Cells**

Immunostaining was performed as previously described (171). Briefly, BHK-21 cells were infected with a titration of either the MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$  virus for 72 h. Cells were then incubated with a 1:1000 dilution of polyclonal VACV rabbit antiserum (BEI Resources NR629) for 1 h at 4° C, followed by incubation with a 1:1000 dilution of goat anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxidase (HRP) for 1 h at 4° C. 1 ml of the following substrate solution was then added to the wells to visualize virus-infected cells: 12 µl of 30% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and 240 µl of dianisidine-saturated ethanol in 12 ml of PBS.

### Construction of the MVA35∆ Mutant Virus

The DNA segment containing the A35 flanking regions and the *E. coli* xanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase (*gpt*) gene was amplified from the existing vA35 $\Delta$  mutant made from WR (170) using the primer pair TCGTGTTCATGATCTTGTTC and TTGCCTAGACCGGATACTA. The PCR product was then transfected with *N*-[1-(2,3-dioleoyloxy)propyl]-*N*,*N*,*N*-trimethylammonium methyl-sulfate (DOTAP; Roche) into BHK-21

cells infected with the MVA strain. The mutant viruses were selected in media containing mycophenolic acid (Sigma). Recombinant viruses (two independent mutant lines) were plaque purified three times by using the immunostaining protocol described above and crude stocks were propagated in BHK-21 cells containing 10% FBS using previously described methods (170). Crude virus lysates were prepped for PCR by incubation with an equal volume of 2x PCR buffer (0.9% IGEPAL, 0.9% Tween-20, 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.3, 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 100 mM KCl) and 0.3 mg/mL Proteinase K for 30 m at 45° C, followed by heat-inactivation of the Proteinase K for 10 m at 94° C. The recombinant viruses were then PCR screened for the absence of A35 gene using the primers described above. All immunologic experiments were performed using both independently derived MVA35Δ mutant virus isolates to confirm that any difference seen compared to MVA was due to the deletion of the A35 gene.

# Western Blotting

Western blots were performed as previously described using polyclonal rabbit anti-A35 sera (170).

## **One-Step Growth Curve**

A one-step growth curve was performed to measure viral replication as previously described (170). Virus foci were enumerated using the immunostaining protocol already described above.

# **Mouse Vaccinations**

Female BALB/c mice (n=5) were infected intramuscularly (i.m.) with  $10^7$  pfu MVA or one of the two MVA35 $\Delta$  viruses in 100 µl, or mock infected with PBS. Titers were confirmed on the day of infection with the virus dilution used to infect the animals. For challenge experiments, mice were vaccinated i.m. as described above and then infected intranasally (i.n.) 4 weeks later with 500 x LD<sub>50</sub> of virulent WR (164). Mice were weighed and monitored daily for signs of illness, and were humanely euthanized using isoflurane overdose if 20% weight loss occurred. For experiments assessing the immune response, five mice from each virus group were sacrificed and the spleens were collected in ice cold RPMI. Splenocytes were obtained using previously described methods (36, 164). Blood was collected using a cardiac stick, followed by centrifugation to separate out the antibody-containing serum from the RBCs. All experimental protocols were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of East Carolina University.

#### Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Antibody response was measured similar to our previous work (164). Ninety six-well ELISA plates (Immulon H2B Thermo Electron) were coated overnight with 0.1  $\mu$ l/well (100  $\mu$ l) crude WR virus in ELISA coating buffer (10.3 g H<sub>2</sub>BO<sub>4</sub>, 7.31 g NaCl, 1 l ddH<sub>2</sub>O, pH 8.5) at 4°C. Plates were blocked with 1% FBS/PBS at room temperature for 30 min. Plates were washed with ELISA wash buffer (1x PBS, 0.02% Tween 20, 0.1% NaN3) and a titration of mouse sera from MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$ -vaccinated mice (n=5) was added. Plates were incubated at room temperature for 2 h and washed. Alkaline phosphatase (AP)-conjugated goat anti-mouse Ig, IgM, IgG, IgG1, or IgG2a (Southern Biotech) was added and incubated at room temperature for 1 h. Plates were washed 3 times, developed (BioRad Alkaline Phosphate Substrate Kit) and absorbance was read at 405 nm.

## **IFNy Elispot**

Numbers of IFN $\gamma$  secreting spleen cells were enumerated similar to our previous work (164). Ninety six-well plates (Immulon H2B Thermo Electron) were coated overnight with 0.2 µl anti-mouse IFN $\gamma$  (1 mg/ml Pharmingen) at 4°C. Plates were washed with blocking buffer before adding a titration of murine splenocytes in RPMI 1640. Stimulation of splenocytes was achieved

by either the addition of WR virus only (multiplicity of infection (MOI)=2) or with the use of 50,000 WR-infected (MOI=3) P815 stimulator cells, followed by incubation for 40 h at 37°C. Plates were then washed and incubated with 0.4  $\mu$ l biotinylated rat anti-mouse IFN $\gamma$  (Pharmingen 0.5 mg/ml) for 2 h at 37°C. Plates were washed again and incubated with streptavidin-AP for 1 h at 37°C. Plates were developed with agarose/BCIP/AMP mixture, and spots were counted using a dissecting microscope or color intensity was read at an absorbance of 492 nm.

# **Flow Cytometry**

Cell types present in spleens were analyzed by flow cytometry. Splenocytes (10<sup>6</sup>) from MVA or MVA35Δ-vaccinated mice (n=5) were fixed in 3% paraformaldehyde on ice for 5 min, washed, and then incubated for 15 min with an anti-Fc block (BD Pharmingen) to block non-specific binding of antibodies to Fc receptors. The following anti-mouse allophycocyanin (APC)-, Pacific Blue (PacBl)-, phycoerythrin (PE)-, or phycoerythrin-cyanine 7 (PE-Cy7)-conjugated monoclonal antibodies were then added to the samples for 45 min on ice: CD8a/Lyt-2 (clone 53-6.7, Southern Biotech); CD11b (clone M1/70, eBioscience); CD11c (clone N418, eBioscience); CD45R/B220 (clone 30-F11; eBioscience); CD49b (Dx5, NK marker; BD Pharmingen); Ly-6G/Ly-6C (granulocyte marker, clone RB6-8C5; BD Pharmingen); F480 (macrophage marker; Caltag Labs); MHC II (I-A/I-E, clone M5/114.15.2; eBioscience). Samples were run on an LSR II flow cytometer and data were analyzed using the FACS Diva software.

# **Statistical Analyses**

Experiments were repeated at least 2 times and representative data are shown. A two-tailed Student's t test was used to compare groups. p values < 0.05 were considered significant.

#### Results

#### **Molecular Characterization of MVA35**

We previously have shown that A35 in VACV strain Western Reserve (WR) inhibits in vitro MHC II-restricted antigen presentation (162) and suppresses both the T and B lymphocyte response in mice infected i.n. (164). We next wished to determine if removal of A35 from an attenuated vaccine strain would affect replication or increase immunogenicity using the attenuated poxvirus strain MVA. To determine the role of A35 during infection with MVA, a mutant virus missing the A35 gene was constructed. Similar to our previous A35 deletion mutant in the WR strain (designated A35 $\Delta$ ) (170), a PCR product containing the *E. coli gpt* gene with A35 flanking regions on either side was transfected into MVA-infected cells, and recombinant viruses were selected and purified. To confirm that A35 had been successfully knocked out of MVA, PCR analysis was performed using primers in the flanking regions. As shown in Fig 30a, PCR amplification of the parent MVA virus yielded a product of 1.5 kb, and PCR analysis of two independently isolated MVA35A mutants resulted in an approximately 400 base pair larger product when compared to the product from MVA. This is the expected size increase as a result of the insertion of *gpt*-containing PCR fragment. There was no wild type A35 detected in the mutants suggesting that the A35 gene had been successfully removed and indicating that the mutants were purified from MVA parental virus. To further confirm the absence of A35 from the recombinant viruses, a Western blot was performed to analyze reactivity with rabbit anti-A35 polyclonal sera (170) using lysates from MVA and MVA35A infected cells (Fig 30b). A protein band of about 23 kD (the approximate size of A35 (170)) was recognized in the lysates from the WR and MVA-infected cells, and this protein band was absent in the A35 $\Delta$  and MVA35 $\Delta$ -infected cells. Together, these data indicated that A35 was successfully knocked out of MVA in these two independently derived mutants.

#### **MVA35** Virus Replicates Normally

We previously reported that an A35 $\Delta$  mutant virus made from WR formed normal size plaques on the African green monkey kidney cells BS-C-1 and replicated normally in several cell lines and mouse tissues (162, 164, 170), but it was possible that the loss of A35 in WR was being compensated for by another VACV protein. Since MVA is missing ~ 25 kb of the genome of VACV, we assessed whether A35 might be required for MVA replication. The MVA35Δ virus formed normal, MVA-sized foci on BHK-21 cells (Fig 31a), indicating that the loss of A35 had no apparent effect on normal viral replication and spread in these cells. To compare the kinetics of replication of the MVA35 $\Delta$  virus with the parental MVA virus, we performed a one-step growth curve (Fig 31b). BHK-21 cells were infected (MOI=10) with either MVA35∆ or MVA for 2 h, and then inocula were removed. At various times post infection, cells and media were collected and the amount of virus in each was determined by titration on BHK-21 cells. For virus produced in the cells, there was <2-fold difference between the amount of virus produced by MVA and MVA35 $\Delta$  at all time points tested. Similarly, for virus in the supernatants, MVA35 $\Delta$  showed no decrease in virus production. Together, these data indicate that A35 is not required for the normal replication and release of MVA in BHK-21 cells and further our conclusion that A35 is not required for VACV replication or spread from cell to cell.

#### Infection of Mice with MVA and MVA35∆

The loss of A35 in virulent WR results in a 1000-fold decrease in virulence in the mouse model (164). To determine whether the deletion of A35 had any effect on the avirulence of MVA, mice were infected intramuscularly (i.m.) with  $10^7$  pfu MVA or one of the two MVA35 $\Delta$ 

mutant viruses, a typical route of administration of MVA at a dose that has been shown to elicit a measurable immune response (14, 67, 221), or mock-infected with PBS as a control. Mice were weighed and monitored daily for lesions or signs of illness. As shown in Fig 32, mice infected with either MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$  gained weight similar to PBS control and had no signs of illness. Similar results were seen with infection no matter which MVA35 $\Delta$  virus was used. In contrast, intranasal (i.n.) vaccination of mice with 10<sup>3</sup> pfu virulent WR results in significant weight loss and death (164, 170). These data confirm that the avirulence of MVA is not altered by the loss of A35 from the genome.

#### Antibody Response to Infection with MVA35∆

An effective poxvirus vaccine should elicit both a humoral and a cellular immune response, as both arms of the immune system have been shown to mediate aspects of protection against poxvirus infections (14, 32, 224). Our previous data with WR indicated that removal of A35 results in an increase in both cellular and humoral immunity (164), so we hypothesized that the removal of A35 from MVA would boost its immunogenicity, but this was not known. In WR is was possible that A35 interacted with another viral protein to be functional, and since MVA is has several large deletions, this interacting protein may have been deleted, rendering A35 non-functional. To begin to understand the effects of A35 in MVA on the immune response, we compared the production of anti-VACV specific Ig in the sera of mice infected with either MVA or MVA35∆ (Fig 33). Mice infected with MVA35∆ had significantly greater amounts of total VACV-specific serum Ig than those infected with MVA on days 7 and 10 pi. We also analyzed the production of various antibody isotypes on days 7 and 10 pi (Fig 34), and, by day 10, mice infected with MVA35∆ virus produced significantly more VACV-specific IgG, IgG1, and IgG2a than those infected with MVA. There was no significant difference in IgM production on these

days. Infection with either mutant MVA35Δ virus yielded similar results and representative data are shown. These data suggest that A35 in MVA decreases VACV-specific antibody production and inhibits isotype switching.

#### T Lymphocyte Response to Infection with MVA35∆

In order to measure the effect of A35 in MVA on the cellular immune response to infection, we used the ELISPOT assay to measure IFNy production as a result of stimulation with VACV antigens presented in MHC (42, 70, 180). IFNg is an important anti-poxvirus cytokine. Mice were infected and on day six pi their splenocytes were harvested and stimulated to produce IFNy by adding virus directly to the splenocytes. There was significantly more VACV-specific IFNy production in the cells of mice infected with MVA35A compared to the mice infected with the parental MVA (Fig 35a). On day 10 pi, there was a three-fold increase in the number of IFNy producing spleen cells in the MVA35 $\Delta$  group compared to the MVA group, but this difference did not reach statistical significance. Similar results were seen with both MVA35 $\Delta$  mutant viruses and when splenocytes were stimulated with VACV-infected P815 cells. No IFNy was produced by splenocytes from PBS control mice or in any of the groups without addition of virus or infected P815 cells, thus demonstrating the specificity of the response. Since CD8+ T cells produce most of the IFNy following a VACV infection (224), we also measured the percentage of CD8+ T cells in the splenocytes of infected mice on days 7 and 10 pi (Fig 35b). We found that MVA infection significantly increased the percentage of CD8+ T cells in the spleens, but there was no difference between the MVA and MVA35A-infected groups.

# Measurement of Cellular Subsets in the Spleens

We had previously noted that VACV WR infection induces splenomegaly, presumably as a systemic specific immune response develops, and that spleen size increased most when mice were infected with a virus that is missing the immunosuppressive A35 gene (164). To understand more about the mechanism of A35-mediated immunosuppression during infection with MVA, we performed a flow cytometry experiment to measure the percentage of cellular subsets within the spleens of MVA and MVA35A-infected mice. On day 6 pi, there was little change in splenocyte populations (Fig 36). There was a small but significant increase in the percentage of cells containing the macrophage marker CD11b+ and a marker for granulocytes in the splenocytes of the MVA35A-infected mice compared to MVA-infected mice (Fig 36a). The CD11b+ difference was maintained on day 8 pi (data not shown). Also, on day 8 pi, there was a small but significant increase in the percent of DX5+ natural killer (NK) cells found in the MVA35A group compared to the MVA group (data not shown). Since our *in vitro* data indicate that A35 specifically affects the APC (162), we also looked at APC subsets within the spleen, including B cells (B220+CD11c-), macrophages (CD11b+CD11c-), and dendritic cells (CD11b-CD11c+), and found that on day 6 pi, there was a small but significant increase in the percent of macrophages in the spleens of the MVA35A-infected mice compared to those infected with MVA (Fig 36b). There was no significant difference between the groups in the percentage of total MHC class II expressing cells (Fig 36a). Thus, infection with MVA results in a small but significant increase in cells expressing CD8 (Fig 35b), and A35 modestly reduces an infectioninduced increase in the percentage of granulocytes and CD11b+ expressing cells in spleens (Fig. 36).

# MVA35∆ Protects Mice from Lethal Challenge

It was next determined whether the MVA35 $\Delta$  virus would be an efficacious vaccine and protect mice from a lethal VACV challenge. Removal of A35 from the WR strain of VACV did not reduce vaccine efficacy (164). Many studies have been performed to determine the protective antigenic epitopes of VACV (88, 91), but only the most recent has identified A35 as containing possible CD8+ T cell epitopes (89). We therefore tested whether the removal of A35 from MVA would decrease vaccine efficacy due to the loss of predicted protective epitopes or perhaps increase efficacy due to enhanced immune responses. Mice were vaccinated i.m. with  $10^7$  MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$ , or PBS as control, and four weeks later were challenged i.n. with 500 x LD<sub>50</sub> virulent WR virus (Fig 37). PBS control mice quickly lost weight and all died by 4 days post challenge. All MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$  vaccinated mice survived the challenge with no significant weight loss and no signs of illness. Similar data were obtained no matter which MVA35 $\Delta$  virus was used to infect the mice. Together, these data support the hypothesis that an MVA-based vaccine that excludes the A35 gene will be both protective and highly immunogenic.

# Discussion

We have previously shown that the VACV A35 protein in WR is a virulence factor in the mouse model, increasing virulence by nearly 1000 fold and decreasing immunogenicity (164, 170). In this manuscript, we provide a characterization of A35 in the highly attenuated VACV strain, MVA. In WR, we have not demonstrated a role for A35 in replication (164, 170), but it was possible that its loss was being compensated for by another redundant VACV gene. Since MVA is missing nearly 25 kb of the VACV genome (136), including most immunomodulatory genes (17), we tested whether A35 was required for replication of MVA. We could not uncover

a replication function for A35 in MVA using BHK-21 cells (Fig 31); however, A35 may have been retained by MVA because it is necessary for the replication of the virus in avian cells (CEF), the cells used during its attenuation. During its > 570 passages in CEFs, MVA lost many of the immunosuppressive genes that are found in VACV, including the secreted receptor homologs for IFN $\gamma$ , IFN $\alpha$ , IFN $\beta$ , and TNF (17). It is interesting to note that MVA did retain a few immunoevasion genes, including the IL-1 $\beta$  receptor homolog (17) and A35 (170). It is unknown as to why only certain immunosuppressive genes were kept by MVA since these genes would not have been necessary for the survival of the virus in CEF. Perhaps these genes serve different functions for the virus in the avian host. We are currently performing experiments to determine whether A35 may be needed for the replication of MVA in avian cells.

Due to its avirulent phenotype, MVA is being tested as an alternative poxvirus vaccine and is also being used as a platform vaccine for delivering various other antigens, including those for cancer and HIV (59, 104, 166). Unfortunately, MVA fails to elicit the same levels of B and T cell responses as the traditional replicating poxvirus vaccines (14, 67, 221). This will especially be a concern when vaccinating persons with already weakened immune systems, such as those infected with HIV, cancer patients, and transplant recipients, as these individuals will require higher or multiple doses of the vaccine compared to those with a competent immune system. It is therefore important to develop strategies to increase the immunogenicity of MVA. Our previous work with A35 in WR suggested that the removal of A35 from MVA would result in a more immunogenic vaccine (164). It was therefore important to elucidate the functional effects of the A35 gene ortholog in this attenuated VACV strain. In WR, it was possible that A35 interacted with another viral protein and that this interaction was required for A35 to be functional. Since MVA is missing nearly 25 kb of the VACV genome (136), it was possible that any protein that interacted with A35 may have been deleted, rendering A35 ineffective. We show here that A35 does indeed function to suppress the specific immune response in the background of the MVA genome. Specifically, i.m. infection of mice with MVA35 $\Delta$  virus resulted in increased antibody production, isotype switching, and IFNy secreting T cells. This is consistent with our previous work with A35 in WR (164) and provides further evidence that that the removal of A35 from poxvirus-based vaccines will enhance their immunogenicity. In WR, the improved immune response in the absence of A35 correlated with improved control of virus replication in target organs (164), but since MVA does not replicate in mammalian tissues, we could not perform those experiments here. We also show that MVA35A virus can protect mice as well as MVA from a virulent challenge. While many studies have been performed in an attempt to identify the protective antigenic B and T cell epitopes of VACV (48, 88), only the most recent of these has identified A35 as containing antigenic CD8+ T cell epitopes (89). Our data presented here (and previous data with WR (164)) indicate that the removal of A35 has no measurable effect on vaccine efficacy in our challenge model, as the MVA35 $\Delta$  virus protected mice as well as MVA from a virulent challenge (Fig 37).

A35 in MVA decreased the production of VACV-specific IFNγ-secreting cells (Fig 35a), but it did not affect the percentage of CD8+ T cells in the spleens of these mice (Fig 35b). NK and CD4+ and CD8+ T cells can secrete IFNγ, but studies have implicated the CD8+ T cells as the main IFNγ secreting cells during VACV infection (57, 221, 224). Our results indicate that either A35 reduces the amount of virus specific IFNγ secretion without reducing the percent of CD8+ T cells in the spleen, suggesting that A35 either decreases the amount of IFNγ secretion on a per cell basis or blocks the production of this cytokine from another subset of IFNγ-producing cells, such as CD4+ T cells or NK cells. Interestingly, we did see a small but significant decrease in the percent of NK cells in the spleens in the MVA-infected mice compared to those infected with MVA35 $\Delta$  on day 8 pi. Splenocytes from infected mice will need to be stimulated with VACV and then double stained with antibodies to IFN $\gamma$  and CD8, CD4, or DX5 in order to determine specifically which IFN $\gamma$ -secreting cell type A35 is affecting.

A35 also inhibited the generation of VACV-specific antibody (Fig 33-34). We measured total Ig, IgM, IgG, IgG1, and IgG2a, and found that A35 had no effect on IgM production, but did significantly decrease Ig, IgG, IgG1, and IgG2a. IgG2a and IgG1 can be used as a measure of the Th1 and Th2 immune responses, respectively, (183). Compared to a Th2 response following VACV infection, a predominantly Th1 response is associated with smaller lesion size and decreased viral replication (150, 179). Furthermore, following VACV infection, persons with atopic dermatitis produce higher levels of cytokines and antibodies associated with the less protective Th2 response (11), resulting in uncontrolled replication of virus in the skin. We found no evidence that A35 was mediating immune deviation by skewing the immune response towards the less protective Th2 response since IgG1 production was not increased in the presence of A35. We also measured the levels of VACV-specific IgM, the first antibody to be produced during an infection, and found that A35 had no effect on the production of this antibody on days 7 and 10 pi. On these same days, there were significantly higher levels of the other antibody isotypes measured in the MVA35Δ-infected mice compared to the MVA-infected mice. These data indicate that mice infected with the MVA35Δ virus had enhanced switching of antibody to the more protective isotypes, such as IgG and its various subclasses.

Our data with A35 indicate that the protein regulates the host adaptive immune response. The presence of A35 in both WR and MVA correlated with decreased T and B lymphocyte responses in mice. Our data using the WR virus model showed that the removal of the A35 gene caused elevated antibody levels at least a month after vaccination (164), suggesting that A35 deletion mutant viruses may give effective protection for longer time periods. Since MHC class II antigen presentation to CD4+ T cells is necessary for the generation of optimal T and B cell immune responses in mice (224), it would be interesting to see if splenocytes from MVA- or WR-infected mice would be deficient in presenting antigen to CD4+ T cells *ex vivo*, as compared to MVA35 $\Delta$ - and A35 $\Delta$ -infected mice, similar to what we have observed following *in vitro* infection with VACV (162). It has been reported that splenic DCs from VACV-infected mice were deficient in presenting a model antigen to specific CD4+ T cells, but no VACV gene was identified as contributing to this effect in this model (227), so this would indeed be an exciting find. Nevertheless, the data presented further support that the removal of A35 from any poxvirus-based vaccine would result in increased antibody and T cell responses.

#### Figures

**Figure 30:** Molecular characterization of MVA35 $\Delta$ . a) PCR. MVA-infected cells were transfected with a recombinant PCR fragment containing the *E. coli gpt* gene inserted between the A35 flanking regions and recombinant viruses were selected in mycophenolic acid-containing media. Virus crude stocks were PCR analyzed using primers in the A35 flanking regions. Wild type A35 locus yields a product of 1400 kb size and the mutants with gpt inserted yield a size of approx 1900 kb. b) Western blot showing that A35 is not expressed in MVA35 $\Delta$ -infected cells. BHK-21 cells were infected with listed viruses at an MOI of 20 for 2 h and analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Blots were incubated with rabbit anti-A35 antibody at a 1:1000 dilution and developed with an anti-rabbit alkaline phosphatase-conjugated secondary antibody followed by incubation with the substrate Western Blue (Promega).



WR-A35∆

WR

-

Figure 31: A35 is not required for replication of MVA. a) MVA and MVA35 $\Delta$  mutant viruses form similarly sized foci on BHK-21 monolayers. Virus-infected cells were visualized by immunostaining. b) One step growth curve. BHK-21 cells were infected (MOI=10) with MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$ , and the amount of virus associated with cells and in the supernatants was titered on BHK-21 cells at various times post infection.





**Figure 32: Infection of mice with MVA and MVA35** $\Delta$ . Groups of mice (n=5) were infected i.m. with 10<sup>7</sup> pfu/mouse of MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$  virus, or mock-vaccinated with PBS and weighed (g ±SD) for 4 weeks. No mice lost weight or showed signs of illness.



ay pose incommence

**Figure 33: VACV-specific antibody response.** Mice (PBS n=3 day 7, n=4 day 10; MVA35 $\Delta$  n=4; MVA n=4) were infected i.m. with MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$  virus, and blood was collected on various days pi. Total VACV-Ig was measured by ELISA on VACV coated plates for day 7 and 10. Data show the average absorbance at 405 nm (+/- SEM).



Figure 34: VACV-specific antibody isotype response. Mice (n=3-5) were infected i.m. with MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$  virus, and blood was collected on various days pi. VACV-specific IgM, IgG, IgG1, and IgG2a were measured by ELISA on VACV coated plates for day 7 and 10. Data show the average absorbance at 405 nm (+/- SEM).


**Figure 35: VACV-specific IFN** $\gamma$ **-producing cells.** a) IFN $\gamma$  production. On days 6 and 10 pi (i.m.), the spleens from 5 mice/group were harvested and splenocytes were analyzed by ELISPOT for virus-specific IFN $\gamma$  production 48 h after stimulation with VACV-WR virus. b) CD8+ cells. On days 7 and 10 pi, spleens from vaccinated mice were analyzed by flow cytometry for the percentage of CD8+ T cells. Data show the average (+/- SEM).



A.

**Figure 36: Cellular subsets in spleens.** On day 6 pi, spleens from MVA and MVA35Δ-infected mice (n=5) were stained for various cell surface markers to enumerate percentage of different cell types. Data show average percentage (+/- SEM). Gran, granulocytes; NK, natural killer; MO, macrophage; DC, dendritic cell.



**Figure 37: Protection from lethal challenge.** Mice (n=5) were vaccinated i.m. on day with  $10^7$  pfu of MVA or MVA35 $\Delta$  virus, or mock-vaccinated with PBS. Four weeks later, the mice were challenged i.n. with LD<sub>50</sub> x 500 virulent WR virus. Data show average percent change in pre-challenge weight (+/- SEM). All mice died in the PBS mock vaccinated group.



## **CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION**

VACV encodes numerous proteins that function to evade the immune system, including inhibitors of apoptosis and soluble homologs of various cytokine receptors. We expand the repertoire of known poxviral immune evasion tactics and show that infection of APC with VACV significantly reduced MHC class II antigen presentation (163), resulting in the decreased synthesis of 13 chemokines and cytokines. We show that VACV specifically exerts its effects on the APC, rather than on the responding T cell (163). VACV significantly decreased antigenindependent NO production from PEC and RAW macrophages, induced apoptosis of the PEC, significantly decreased the amount of a model peptide displayed in the cleft of the MHC class II molecule and mildly reduced MHC class II surface expression on PEC and 1153 B cells (163). Interestingly, VACV decreased MHC class II expression on the 1153 B cells, but did not induce apoptosis of these cells (163). This indicates that VACV affects B lymphocytes differently than other APCs and that the reduction in MHC class II expression and antigen presentation is not always apoptosis dependent, as had been previously suggested (95). Our data suggests that the key mechanism of VACV inhibition of antigen presentation is its reduction of antigenic peptide loaded into the cleft of MHC class II molecules (163), which is consistent with data from the Blum laboratory showing that VACV decreases the amount of GAD peptide associated with MHC class II molecules in a human B cell line (116).

While many VACV immunomodulatory proteins have been identified and characterized, nearly 25 highly conserved genes remain uncharacterized (213). The poxvirus A35 protein was initially characterized by our laboratory in 2006 (170). This protein is highly conserved in mammalian-tropic poxviruses, but has no sequence similarity to any other known protein, suggesting an important and novel function. The initial characterization indicated that A35 was

not required for replication in eight cell lines, but was required for virulence when delivered i.n. in the mouse model (170). Here we demonstrate that the A35 protein is also important for virulence when delivered i.p., bypassing the respiratory system (164). In the i.n. mouse model, our data here, together with our previous data (170), show that  $10^6$  pfu of A35 $\Delta$ -mutant virus is required to reach the same level of weight loss caused by  $10^3$  pfu of WR virus, a 1000-fold difference (164). It was therefore important to determine the function of A35. We hypothesized that the protein promoted virulence by either affecting viral replication in certain cell types/tissues or by regulating the host immune response. Thus far, A35 has been found to not be necessary for replication in various cell lines and primary cells from six different mammalian hosts (162). Furthermore, A35 is not required for the replication of the virus in the murine host organs and tissues early after infection (days 1-3) before the development of specific immunity (164). Therefore we explored the effects of A35 on specific immunity.

To study the effects of A35 on the adaptive immune response, we used a model *in vitro* MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation assay and report that A35 significantly decreased the amount of IL-2 and NO that was produced by the T cells and the macrophages, respectively, as well as 13 other cytokines/chemokines (162). Further data showed that A35 did not have any significant effect on the T cells used in the assays, implicating the APC as the target of the protein (162). A35 $\Delta$  virus was able to infect the PEC as efficiently as WR, and A35 did not induce apoptosis of these cells (162). A35 did not reduce antigen-independent NO production, indicating that A35 regulated aspects of the APC-T cell interaction. A35 localized to the endosomes of the APC, modestly reduced MHC class II and B7.2 surface expression on the APC and significantly decreased the amount of peptide that was associated with MHC class II molecules (162) (Figure 38). Whether these minor decreases in MHC class II antigen

presentation will have *in vivo* significance is unknown, but it is known that both CD4 and MHC class II are needed for full protection from disease and for the generation of protective antibody (224), while an absence of CD8 or MHC class I did not reduce protection (221, 224).

VACV has been reported to decrease MHC class II antigen presentation in several model systems. Deng et al reported a decrease in the presentation of KLH peptide by primary Langerhans cells to cognate CD4+ T cells following VACV infection (51). Mann et al found that VACV infection decreased MHC class II mediated antigen presentation using primary macrophages as APC (126), and the Blum laboratory has reported a decrease in MHC class II antigen presentation using both professional and non-professional APC presenting numerous peptides (116). Decreases in MHC class II antigen presentation, concomitant with a decrease in MHC class II surface expression, has also been observed in in vivo infected murine splenic dendritic cells (227). Collectively, there is a growing amount of evidence to indicate that VACV perturbs peptide antigen presentation; however, no gene had been previously identified as contributing to this effect. We report here that A35 decreases the association of peptide with MHC class II molecules, while increasing the number of CLIP-MHC class II complexes on the cell surface (162) (Figure 38). This suggests that A35 may interfere with the processing and/or presentation of a wide variety MHC class II peptides. This is the first report to identify a specific VACV gene product, A35, as contributing to the inhibition of peptide antigen presentation (162). Since A35 is highly conserved in all sequenced mammalian tropic poxviruses (170), it may have a similar function in many different poxviruses that infect different host species.

Since MHC class II antigen presentation to CD4+ T cells is the seminal initiating event of the specific immune response, and both CD4 and MHC class II are important in the generation of a protective immune response *in vivo* (221, 224), we hypothesized that A35 would also decrease

the downstream effectors resulting from this event, including the generation of antigen-specific antibody-producing B cells, IFNy-secreting T cells, and cytolytic T cells. After infection of mice with a low dose of virus, we have shown that, compared to WR infected mice, A35∆ infected mice had larger spleens (suggesting a robust immune response), increased antigen-specific antibody production, increased IFNy secreting T cells, and increased CTL killing (164). The enhanced immunogenicity of the A35 $\Delta$  virus correlated with decreased viral replication in target organs (days 6-9 post infection) (164). Importantly, both A35 $\Delta$  mutant virus and WR could replicate similarly in the organs of the mouse on days 1-3 post infection (164), which is before an adaptive immune response has been generated (36). Thus, the decrease in viral replication seen in the A35 $\Delta$  infected mice correlated with the development of the specific immune response. The increased immunogenicity of the A35 $\Delta$  virus compared to WR was evident up to 34 days post infection, despite the presence of an increased antigen load following WR infection (164). Together, our data indicate that A35 is decreasing MHC class II antigen presentation to CD4+ T cells, which would result in smaller spleen size as a result of decreased lymphocyte proliferation or migration of immune cells to this organ, leading to a decrease in specific immunity including antibody production, IFNy secretion, and CTL killing, all of which are important for protection from poxviruses (14, 32, 151, 224).

Since the A35 $\Delta$  virus is 1000 times safer (164, 170) and is more immunogenic than WR virus (164), we hypothesized that it would be a superior vaccine choice. Impressively, the A35 $\Delta$  virus was able to protect mice as well as WR from a lethal challenge of up to 1000 x LD<sub>50</sub>, even when given at a low dose (500 pfu/mouse) (164). To be effective, vaccine strains need to retain the genes that encode proteins with protective B and T cell epitopes. Several studies have not detected A35 as having B or T cells epitopes (48, 88), but a recent study has shown that epitopes

derived from A35 can bind certain MHC class I alleles (89). Our data indicate that A35 deletion mutant vaccines would be superior to wild type strains, providing vastly increased safety coupled with improved immunogenicity and effective protection.

We performed similar replication and immune response experiments using the attenuated vaccine strain MVA. MVA was created by serial passage of wild-type VACV in CEFs. This resulted in the deletion of nearly 25 kb of genetic material (136) and a highly attenuated virus. While A35 was not found to be required for replication in WR, it was possible that its loss was being compensated for by another redundant VACV gene. Since MVA is missing a significant portion of the genome (136), we hypothesized that a replication function for A35 might be uncovered using this virus strain. However A35 was not required for MVA replication in BHK-21 cells, although it remains a possibility that A35 may be required for the replication of the virus in CEFs, the cells used during its attenuation.

MVA is being used as a safer alternative to the traditional replicating vaccine and also as a platform vaccine for other infectious diseases and cancer, although its immunogenicity and efficacy are of concern. MVA is unable to elicit the same levels of antibody and IFN $\gamma$  secreting cells as the traditional replicating vaccine, even when given at 10-100 times the dose (14, 67, 221). The immunogenicity of MVA is of concern especially in persons with a weakened immune system due to HIV infection, organ transplantation, or cancer. It is therefore important to find strategies that can increase the immunogenicity of MVA. One way to do this is to create an MVA vaccine strain that is missing immunosuppressive genes. Indeed, infection of mice with a mutant MVA virus lacking the gene for the soluble IL-1 $\beta$  receptor resulted in improved immunogenicity compared to the parental MVA (196). Since removal of A35 from WR enhanced the immune response to infection (164), we hypothesized that its removal from MVA may have a similar effect. In WR, it was possible that A35 required an interacting viral protein to be functional. Since MVA is missing nearly 25 kb of the VACV genome (136), it was possible that a protein that interacted with A35 had been deleted, rendering A35 ineffective. However, our data show that A35 still functions as an immunosuppressive gene in MVA, decreasing virus-specific antibody production, isotype switching, and IFNγ-secreting T cells. Thus, the removal of A35 from current vaccine strains will be beneficial by increasing their immunogenicity.

We have identified a new poxvirus virulence mechanism, the evolution of the A35 gene to block MHC class II antigen presentation. This is an important contribution to the repertoire of viral immune evasion mechanisms. This finding also has several important implications in human medicine. VACV is an effective vaccine against poxvirus infection, but its virulence results in a high rate of vaccine-related complications. It is therefore of importance to identify poxvirus virulence mechanisms in an effort to develop safer vaccines. The data presented herein strongly support the removal of A35 from poxvirus and poxvirus-based vaccines, such as MVA. A35 deletion mutant vaccines are 1000 times safer, more immunogenic than wild type strains, and offer protection from disease (164).

Besides contributing to the development of safer, more immunogenic poxvirus-based vaccines, our data are also applicable to the development of anti-poxvirus therapies. Post-exposure vaccination has been shown to be effective at preventing disease, with effectiveness decreasing as time between exposure and vaccination increases (130). Since the immune response to the A35 $\Delta$  virus has improved kinetics compared to WR virus, we predict that A35 $\Delta$  poxvirus vaccines would provide better protection from disease if given after exposure to the virus, even after the time when vaccination with the wild-type vaccine would be ineffective.

A35 would also be a good anti-poxvirus drug target. Since it is not required for replication in tissue culture, it would be difficult for drug-resistant virus strains to be produced.

Collectively, the data presented describe a novel poxvirus immuomodulatory mechanism and expand our knowledge of the arsenal of VACV immune evasion tactics. An effective immune response will result in the clearance of virus from the infected host. Our data indicate that the presence of A35 impedes initiation of the adaptive immune response (164). This decrease allows the virus to establish itself throughout the host, resulting in sickness and death. Several questions regarding the mechanism of A35 remain. It will be important to determine whether splenocytes from A35A-infected mice are better at presenting antigen to cognate CD4+ T cells compared to splenocytes from WR-infected mice, and if this inhibition occurs, the mechanism by which it occurs. It has been reported that VACV can decrease MHC class IIrestricted antigen presentation using in vivo-infected splenic dendritic cells as APC (227), but no protein was identified as contributing to the effect. It will also be important to determine with which cellular proteins A35 interacts. Several proteins are important in facilitating the exchange of the remnant chaperone protein CLIP with antigenic peptide, including DM (Figure 38). A35 could also interact with the CLIP peptide itself or with the invariant chain (Ii) (Figure 38). In preliminary microarray data, A35 did decrease the synthesis of both Ii and DM mRNA (data not shown). Furthermore, our data show that there is a population of cells in the spleen that is resistant to VACV and A35 (162). Indeed, other laboratories have shown that different cell types have different sensitivities to VACV infection (30, 175). It will be important to also determine how A35 affects immunity in other organs, such as the lungs. While some questions remain, it is clear that A35 is an important poxvirus immune evasion protein and its removal will increase both the immunogenicity and safety of poxvirus and poxvirus-based vaccines.

**Figure 38: Model of A35 within the APC.** A35 (shown by the yellow star) localizes to the endosomes within APC. It does not partition to a distinct endosomal compartment, but rather localizes throughout the range of endosomes. Data indicate that A35 reduces the surface expression of a model peptide within the cleft of MHC class II in a subset of cells within the splenocyte population, while increasing the expression of surface CLIP. The mechanism of how A35 does this is currently under investigation. It is not known whether A35 is outside of the endosome or inside. It is also not known with which cellular proteins A35 may interact. The chaperone protein DM, which is directly involved in the exchange of CLIP for antigenic peptide, is a likely candidate. A35 may also interact with MHC class II itself, or with the chaperone protein Ii.



## REFERENCES

- Alcami, A., and G. L. Smith. 1996. A mechanism for the inhibition of fever by a virus. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA 20:11029-11034.
- Alcami, A., and G. L. Smith. 1992. A soluble receptor for Interleukin-1 beta encoded by Vaccinia virus: A novel mechanism of virus modulation of the host response to infection. Cell 71:153-167.
- Alcami, A., and G. L. Smith. 1995. Vaccinia, cowpox, and camelpox viruses encode soluble gamma interferon receptors with a novel broad species specificity. J.Virol. 69:4633-4639.
- Alcami, A., J. A. Symons, P. D. Collins, T. J. Williams, and G. L. Smith. 1998. Blockade of chemokine activity by a soluble chemokine binding protein from vaccinia virus. J.Immunol. 160:624-633.
- 5. Alcami, A., J. A. Symons, and G. L. Smith. 2000. The vaccinia virus soluble alpha/beta interferon (IFN) receptor binds to the cell surface and protects cells from the antiviral effects of IFN. J Virol 74:11230-9.
- 6. Amara, R. R., P. Nigam, S. Sharma, J. Liu, and V. Bostik. 2004. Long-lived poxvirus immunity, robust CD4 help, and better persistence of CD4 than CD8 T cells. J Virol 78:3811-6.
- Arness, M. K., R. E. Eckart, S. S. Love, J. E. Atwood, T. S. Wells, R. J. Engler, L. C. Collins, S. L. Ludwig, J. R. Riddle, J. D. Grabenstein, and D. N. Tornberg. 2004. Myopericarditis following smallpox vaccination. Am J Epidemiol 160:642-51.
- Artenstein, A. W. 2008. New generation smallpox vaccines: a review of preclinical and clinical data. Rev Med Virol 18:217-31.

- Battegay, M., M. F. Bachmann, C. Burhkart, S. Viville, C. Benoist, D. Mathis, H. Hengartner, and R. M. Zinkernagel. 1996. Antiviral immune responses of mice lacking MHC class II or its associated invariant chain. Cell Immunol. 167:115-121.
- Baxby, D., M. Bennett, and B. Getty. 1994. Human cowpox 1969-93: a review based on 54 cases. Br J Dermatol 131:598-607.
- Becker, Y. 2003. Vaccinia virus pathogenicity in atopic dermatitis is caused by allergeninduced immune response that prevents the antiviral cellular and humoral immunity. Virus Genes 27:269-82.
- Bell, E., M. Shamim, J. C. Whitbeck, G. Sfyroera, J. D. Lambris, and S. N. Isaacs. 2004. Antibodies against the extracellular enveloped virus B5R protein are mainly responsible for the EEV neutralizing capacity of vaccinia immune globulin. Virology 325:425-31.
- Bellows, C. F., R. F. Garry, and B. M. Jaffe. 2003. Vaccinia virus-induced inhibition of nitric oxide production. J Surg Res 111:127-35.
- 14. Belyakov, I. M., P. Earl, A. Dzutsev, V. A. Kuznetsov, M. Lemon, L. S. Wyatt, J. T. Snyder, J. D. Ahlers, G. Franchini, B. Moss, and J. A. Berzofsky. 2003. Shared modes of protection against poxvirus infection by attenuated and conventional smallpox vaccine viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:9458-63.
- Bernet, J., J. Mullick, Y. Panse, P. B. Parab, and A. Sahu. 2004. Kinetic analysis of the interactions between vaccinia virus complement control protein and human complement proteins C3b and C4b. J Virol 78:9446-57.
- 16. Bisht, H., A. Roberts, L. Vogel, A. Bukreyev, P. L. Collins, B. R. Murphy, K. Subbarao, and B. Moss. 2004. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus spike protein

expressed by attenuated vaccinia virus protectively immunizes mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:6641-6.

- Blanchard, T. J., A. Alcami, P. Andrea, and G. L. Smith. 1998. Modified vaccinia virus Ankara undergoes limited replication in human cells and lacks several immunomodulatory proteins: implications for use as a human vaccine. J Gen Virol 79: 1159-67.
- Born, T. L., L. A. Morrison, D. J. Esteban, T. VandenBos, L. G. Thebeau, N. Chen, M. K. Spriggs, J. E. Sims, and R. M. Buller. 2000. A poxvirus protein that binds to and inactivates IL-18, and inhibits NK cell response. J Immunol 164:3246-54.
- Brandt, T. A., and B. L. Jacobs. 2001. Both carboxy- and amino-terminal domains of the vaccinia virus interferon resistance gene, E3L, are required for pathogenesis in a mouse model. J Virol 75:850-6.
- 20. Bray, M., and M. E. Wright. 2003. Progressive vaccinia. Clin Infect Dis 36:766-74.
- Brick, D. J., R. D. Burke, A. A. Minkley, and C. Upton. 2000. Ectromelia virus virulence factor p28 acts upstream of caspase-3 in response to UV light-induced apoptosis. J Gen Virol 81:1087-97.
- Broder, C. C., P. E. Kennedy, F. Michaels, and E. A. Berger. 1994. Expression of foreign genes in cultured human primary macrophages using recombinant vaccinia virus vectors. Gene 142:167-174.
- 23. Broyles, S. S. 2003. Vaccinia virus transcription. J Gen Virol 84:2293-303.
- Bublot, M., N. Pritchard, J. S. Cruz, T. R. Mickle, P. Selleck, and D. E. Swayne. 2007.
   Efficacy of a fowlpox-vectored avian influenza H5 vaccine against Asian H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza virus challenge. Avian Dis 51:498-500.

- 25. Burns, J. M., D. J. Dairaghi, M. Deitz, M. Tsang, and T. J. Schall. 2002. Comprehensive mapping of poxvirus vCCI chemokine-binding protein: Expanded range of ligand interactions and unusual dissociation kinetics. J Biol Chem 277:2785-9.
- Calvo-Calle, J. M., I. Strug, M. D. Nastke, S. P. Baker, and L. J. Stern. 2007. Human CD4+ T cell epitopes from vaccinia virus induced by vaccination or infection. PLoS Pathog 3:1511-29.
- Campos-Neto, A., P. Ovendale, T. Bement, T. A. Koppi, W. C. Fanslow, M. A. Rossi, and M. R. Alderson. 1998. CD40 ligand is not essential for the development of cell-mediated immunity and resistance to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Immunol 160:2037-41.
- Carter, G. C., M. Law, M. Hollinshead, and G. L. Smith. 2005. Entry of the vaccinia virus intracellular mature virion and its interactions with glycosaminoglycans. J Gen Virol 86:1279-90.
- Casey, C. G., J. K. Iskander, M. H. Roper, E. E. Mast, X. J. Wen, T. J. Torok, L. E. Chapman, D. L. Swerdlow, J. Morgan, J. D. Heffelfinger, C. Vitek, S. E. Reef, L. M. Hasbrouck, I. Damon, L. Neff, C. Vellozzi, M. McCauley, R. A. Strikas, and G. Mootrey. 2005. Adverse events associated with smallpox vaccination in the United States, January-October 2003. Jama 294:2734-43.
- Chahroudi, A., R. Chavan, N. Koyzr, E. K. Waller, G. Silvestri, and M. B. Feinberg.
   2005. Vaccinia virus tropism for primary hematolymphoid cells is determined by restricted expression of a unique virus receptor. J Virol 79:10397-407.

- Chang, H. W., J. C. Watson, and B. L. Jacobs. 1992. The E3L gene of vaccinia virus encodes an inhibitor of the interferon-induced double stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 89:4825-4829.
- 32. Chaudhri, G., V. Panchanathan, H. Bluethmann, and G. Karupiah. 2006. Obligatory requirement for antibody in recovery from a primary poxvirus infection. J Virol 80:6339-44.
- Chavrier, P., R. G. Parton, H. P. Hauri, K. Simons, and M. Zerial. 1990. Localization of low molecular weight GTP binding proteins to exocytic and endocytic compartments. Cell 62:317-29.
- 34. Chen, N., G. Li, M. K. Liszewski, J. P. Atkinson, P. B. Jahrling, Z. Feng, J. Schriewer, C. Buck, C. Wang, E. J. Lefkowitz, J. J. Esposito, T. Harms, I. K. Damon, R. L. Roper, C. Upton, and R. M. Buller. 2005. Virulence differences between monkeypox virus isolates from West Africa and the Congo basin. Virology 340:46-63.
- 35. Chen, Z., L. Zhang, C. Qin, L. Ba, C. E. Yi, F. Zhang, Q. Wei, T. He, W. Yu, J. Yu, H. Gao, X. Tu, A. Gettie, M. Farzan, K. Y. Yuen, and D. D. Ho. 2005. Recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara expressing the spike glycoprotein of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus induces protective neutralizing antibodies primarily targeting the receptor binding region. J Virol 79:2678-88.
- Clark, R. H., J. C. Kenyon, N. W. Bartlett, D. C. Tscharke, and G. L. Smith. 2006. Deletion of gene A41L enhances vaccinia virus immunogenicity and vaccine efficacy. J Gen Virol 87:29-38.

- Colamonici, O. R., P. Domanski, S. M. Sweitzer, A. Larner, and R. M. Buller. 1995.
   Vaccinia virus B18R gene encodes a type I interferon-binding protein that blocks interferon alpha signaling. J.Biol.Chem. 270:15974-15978.
- Cook, A. D., E. L. Braine, and J. A. Hamilton. 2003. The phenotype of inflammatory macrophages is stimulus dependent: implications for the nature of the inflammatory response. J Immunol 171:4816-23.
- 39. Corbett, M., W. M. Bogers, J. L. Heeney, S. Gerber, C. Genin, A. Didierlaurent, H. Oostermeijer, R. Dubbes, G. Braskamp, S. Lerondel, C. E. Gomez, M. Esteban, R. Wagner, I. Kondova, P. Mooij, S. Balla-Jhagjhoorsingh, N. Beenhakker, G. Koopman, S. van der Burg, J. P. Kraehenbuhl, and A. Le Pape. 2008. Aerosol immunization with NYVAC and MVA vectored vaccines is safe, simple, and immunogenic. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:2046-51.
- 40. Cory, A. H., T. C. Owen, J. A. Barltrop, and J. G. Cory. 1991. Use of an aqueous soluble tetrazolium/formazan assay for cell growth assays in culture. Cancer Commun 3:207-12.
- 41. Cosma, A., R. Nagaraj, C. Staib, C. Diemer, F. Wopfner, H. Schatzl, D. H. Busch, G. Sutter, F. D. Goebel, and V. Erfle. 2007. Evaluation of modified vaccinia virus Ankara as an alternative vaccine against smallpox in chronically HIV type 1-infected individuals undergoing HAART. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 23:782-93.
- 42. Coulibaly, S., P. Bruhl, J. Mayrhofer, K. Schmid, M. Gerencer, and F. G. Falkner. 2005. The nonreplicating smallpox candidate vaccines defective vaccinia Lister (dVV-L) and modified vaccinia Ankara (MVA) elicit robust long-term protection. Virology 341:91-101.

- Crotty, S., P. Felgner, H. Davies, J. Glidewell, L. Villarreal, and R. Ahmed. 2003. Cutting edge: long-term B cell memory in humans after smallpox vaccination. J Immunol 171:4969-73.
- 44. Dabbagh, K., Y. Xiao, C. Smith, P. Stepick-Biek, S. G. Kim, W. J. Lamm, D. H. Liggitt, and D. B. Lewis. 2000. Local blockade of allergic airway hyperreactivity and inflammation by the poxvirus-derived pan-CC-chemokine inhibitor vCCI. J Immunol 165:3418-22.
- 45. Damaso, C. R., J. J. Esposito, R. C. Condit, and N. Moussatche. 2000. An emergent poxvirus from humans and cattle in Rio de Janeiro State: Cantagalo virus may derive from Brazilian smallpox vaccine. Virology 277:439-49.
- 46. Damon, I., P. M. Murphy, and B. Moss. 1998. Broad spectrum chemokine antagonistic activity of a human poxvirus chemokine homolog. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:6403-7.
- Damon, I. K., C. E. Roth, and V. Chowdhary. 2006. Discovery of monkeypox in Sudan. N Engl J Med 355:962-3.
- Davies, D. H., X. Liang, J. E. Hernandez, A. Randall, S. Hirst, Y. Mu, K. M. Romero, T. T. Nguyen, M. Kalantari-Dehaghi, S. Crotty, P. Baldi, L. P. Villarreal, and P. L. Felgner. 2005. Profiling the humoral immune response to infection by using proteome microarrays: high-throughput vaccine and diagnostic antigen discovery. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:547-52.
- 49. Davies, D. H., L. S. Wyatt, F. K. Newman, P. L. Earl, S. Chun, J. E. Hernandez, D. M. Molina, S. Hirst, B. Moss, S. E. Frey, and P. L. Felgner. 2008. Antibody profiling by proteome microarray reveals the immunogenicity of the attenuated smallpox vaccine modified vaccinia virus ankara is comparable to that of Dryvax. J Virol 82:652-63.

- 50. de Witte, M. A., G. M. Bendle, M. D. van den Boom, M. Coccoris, T. D. Schell, S. S. Tevethia, H. van Tinteren, E. M. Mesman, J. Y. Song, and T. N. Schumacher. 2008. TCR gene therapy of spontaneous prostate carcinoma requires in vivo T cell activation. J Immunol 181:2563-71.
- 51. Deng, L., P. Dai, W. Ding, R. D. Granstein, and S. Shuman. 2006. Vaccinia virus infection attenuates innate immune responses and antigen presentation by epidermal dendritic cells. J Virol 80:9977-87.
- Dhar, A. D., A. E. Werchniak, Y. Li, J. B. Brennick, C. S. Goldsmith, R. Kline, I. Damon, and S. N. Klaus. 2004. Tanapox infection in a college student. N Engl J Med 350:361-6.
- Dobbelstein, M., and T. Shenk. 1996. Protection against apoptosis by the vaccinia virus SPI-2 (B13R) gene product. J Virol 70:6479-85.
- 54. Dobo, J., R. Swanson, G. S. Salvesen, S. T. Olson, and P. G. Gettins. 2006. Cytokine response modifier a inhibition of initiator caspases results in covalent complex formation and dissociation of the caspase tetramer. J Biol Chem 281:38781-90.
- 55. Drexler, I., C. Staib, W. Kastenmuller, S. Stevanovic, B. Schmidt, F. A. Lemonnier, H. G. Rammensee, D. H. Busch, H. Bernhard, V. Erfle, and G. Sutter. 2003. Identification of vaccinia virus epitope-specific HLA-A\*0201-restricted T cells and comparative analysis of smallpox vaccines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:217-22.
- Dunachie, S. J., M. Walther, J. E. Epstein, S. Keating, T. Berthoud, L. Andrews, R. F. Andersen, P. Bejon, N. Goonetilleke, I. Poulton, D. P. Webster, G. Butcher, K. Watkins, R. E. Sinden, G. L. Levine, T. L. Richie, J. Schneider, D. Kaslow, S. C. Gilbert, D. J. Carucci, and A. V. Hill. 2006. A DNA prime-modified vaccinia virus Ankara boost

vaccine encoding thrombospondin-related adhesion protein but not circumsporozoite protein partially protects healthy malaria-naive adults against Plasmodium falciparum sporozoite challenge. Infect Immun 74:5933-42.

- 57. Earl, P. L., J. L. Americo, L. S. Wyatt, L. A. Eller, J. C. Whitbeck, G. H. Cohen, R. J. Eisenberg, C. J. Hartmann, D. L. Jackson, D. A. Kulesh, M. J. Martinez, D. M. Miller, E. M. Mucker, J. D. Shamblin, S. H. Zwiers, J. W. Huggins, P. B. Jahrling, and B. Moss. 2004. Immunogenicity of a highly attenuated MVA smallpox vaccine and protection against monkeypox. Nature 428:182-5.
- 58. Earl, P. L., J. L. Americo, L. S. Wyatt, O. Espenshade, J. Bassler, K. Gong, S. Lin, E. Peters, L. Rhodes, Jr., Y. E. Spano, P. M. Silvera, and B. Moss. 2008. Rapid protection in a monkeypox model by a single injection of a replication-deficient vaccinia virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:10889-94.
- 59. Earl, P. L., C. Cotter, B. Moss, T. VanCott, J. Currier, L. A. Eller, F. McCutchan, D. L. Birx, N. L. Michael, M. A. Marovich, M. Robb, and J. H. Cox. 2009. Design and evaluation of multi-gene, multi-clade HIV-1 MVA vaccines. Vaccine 27:5885-95.
- 60. Eckart, R. E., S. S. Love, J. E. Atwood, M. K. Arness, D. C. Cassimatis, C. L. Campbell,
  S. Y. Boyd, J. G. Murphy, D. L. Swerdlow, L. C. Collins, J. R. Riddle, D. N. Tornberg, J.
  D. Grabenstein, and R. J. Engler. 2004. Incidence and follow-up of inflammatory cardiac complications after smallpox vaccination. J Am Coll Cardiol 44:201-5.
- Edghill-Smith, Y., H. Golding, J. Manischewitz, L. R. King, D. Scott, M. Bray, A. Nalca,
   J. W. Hooper, C. A. Whitehouse, J. E. Schmitz, K. A. Reimann, and G. Franchini. 2005.
   Smallpox vaccine-induced antibodies are necessary and sufficient for protection against monkeypox virus. Nat Med 11:740-7.

- Engelmayer, J., M. Larsson, M. Subklewe, A. Chahroudi, W. I. Cox, R. M. Steinman, and N. Bhardwaj. 1999. Vaccinia virus inhibits the maturation of human dendritic cells: a novel mechanism of immune evasion. J Immunol 163:6762-8.
- 63. Essbauer, S., M. Pfeffer, and H. Meyer. 2009. Zoonotic poxviruses. Vet Microbiol.
- Everett, H., M. Barry, S. F. Lee, X. Sun, K. Graham, J. Stone, R. C. Bleackley, and G. McFadden. 2000. M11L: a novel mitochondria-localized protein of myxoma virus that blocks apoptosis of infected leukocytes. J Exp Med 191:1487-98.
- 65. Fang, M., and L. J. Sigal. 2006. Direct CD28 costimulation is required for CD8+ T cellmediated resistance to an acute viral disease in a natural host. J Immunol 177:8027-36.
- Feng, Y., B. Press, and A. Wandinger-Ness. 1995. Rab 7: an important regulator of late endocytic membrane traffic. J Cell Biol 131:1435-52.
- 67. Ferrier-Rembert, A., R. Drillien, J. N. Tournier, D. Garin, and J. M. Crance. 2008. Shortand long-term immunogenicity and protection induced by non-replicating smallpox vaccine candidates in mice and comparison with the traditional 1st generation vaccine. Vaccine 26:1794-804.
- Frey, S. E., F. K. Newman, J. Cruz, W. B. Shelton, J. M. Tennant, T. Polach, A. L. Rothman, J. S. Kennedy, M. Wolff, R. B. Belshe, and F. A. Ennis. 2002. Dose-related effects of smallpox vaccine. N Engl J Med 346:1275-80.
- Gardella, S., C. Andrei, A. Poggi, M. R. Zocchi, and A. Rubartelli. 2000. Control of interleukin-18 secretion by dendritic cells: role of calcium influxes. FEBS Lett 481:245-8.

- 70. Gherardi, M. M., J. C. Ramirez, and M. Esteban. 2003. IL-12 and IL-18 act in synergy to clear vaccinia virus infection: involvement of innate and adaptive components of the immune system. J Gen Virol 84:1961-72.
- Gileva, I. P., T. S. Nepomnyashchikh, D. V. Antonets, L. R. Lebedev, G. V. Kochneva,
   A. V. Grazhdantseva, and S. N. Shchelkunov. 2006. Properties of the recombinant TNFbinding proteins from variola, monkeypox, and cowpox viruses are different. Biochim Biophys Acta 1764:1710-8.
- 72. Gomez, C. E., J. L. Najera, E. Domingo-Gil, L. Ochoa-Callejero, G. Gonzalez-Aseguinolaza, and M. Esteban. 2007. Virus distribution of the attenuated MVA and NYVAC poxvirus strains in mice. J Gen Virol 88:2473-8.
- 73. Graham, K. A., A. S. Lalani, J. L. Macen, T. L. Ness, M. Barry, L. Y. Liu, A. Lucas, I. Clark-Lewis, R. W. Moyer, and G. McFadden. 1997. The T1/35kDa family of poxvirus-secreted proteins bind chemokines and modulate leukocyte influx into virus-infected tissues. Virol. 229:12-24.
- Haga, I. R., and A. G. Bowie. 2005. Evasion of innate immunity by vaccinia virus.Parasitology 130 Suppl:S11-25.
- Hammarlund, E., M. W. Lewis, S. G. Hansen, L. I. Strelow, J. A. Nelson, G. J. Sexton, J. M. Hanifin, and M. K. Slifka. 2003. Duration of antiviral immunity after smallpox vaccination. Nat Med 9:1131-7.
- 76. Harrington, L. E., R. Most Rv, J. L. Whitton, and R. Ahmed. 2002. Recombinant vaccinia virus-induced T-cell immunity: quantitation of the response to the virus vector and the foreign epitope. J Virol 76:3329-37.

- 77. Hiller, G., and K. Weber. 1985. Golgi-derived membranes that contain an acylated viral polypeptide are used for vaccinia virus envelopment. J.Virol. 55:651-659.
- Hollinshead, M., G. Rodger, H. Van Eijl, M. Law, R. Hollinshead, D. J. Vaux, and G. L. Smith. 2001. Vaccinia virus utilizes microtubules for movement to the cell surface. J Cell Biol 154:389-402.
- Hooper, J. W., E. Thompson, C. Wilhelmsen, M. Zimmerman, M. A. Ichou, S. E. Steffen,
   C. S. Schmaljohn, A. L. Schmaljohn, and P. B. Jahrling. 2004. Smallpox DNA vaccine
   protects nonhuman primates against lethal monkeypox. J Virol 78:4433-43.
- Humlova, Z., M. Vokurka, M. Esteban, and Z. Melkova. 2002. Vaccinia virus induces apoptosis of infected macrophages. J Gen Virol 83:2821-32.
- Hutin, Y. J., R. J. Williams, P. Malfait, R. Pebody, V. N. Loparev, S. L. Ropp, M. Rodriguez, J. C. Knight, F. K. Tshioko, A. S. Khan, M. V. Szczeniowski, and J. J. Esposito. 2001. Outbreak of human monkeypox, Democratic Republic of Congo, 1996 to 1997. Emerg Infect Dis 7:434-8.
- 82. Inaba, K., S. Turley, T. Iyoda, F. Yamaide, S. Shimoyama, C. Reis e Sousa, R. N. Germain, I. Mellman, and R. M. Steinman. 2000. The formation of immunogenic major histocompatibility complex class II-peptide ligands in lysosomal compartments of dendritic cells is regulated by inflammatory stimuli. J Exp Med 191:927-36.
- Isaacs, S. N., G. J. Kotwal, and B. Moss. 1992. Vaccinia virus complement-control protein prevents antibody-dependent complement-enhanced neutralization of infectivity and contributes to virulence. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 89:628-632.
- Itano, A. A., S. J. McSorley, R. L. Reinhardt, B. D. Ehst, E. Ingulli, A. Y. Rudensky, and
   M. K. Jenkins. 2003. Distinct dendritic cell populations sequentially present antigen to

CD4 T cells and stimulate different aspects of cell-mediated immunity. Immunity 19:47-57.

- Jacobs, B. L., J. O. Langland, K. V. Kibler, K. L. Denzler, S. D. White, S. A. Holechek,
   S. Wong, T. Huynh, and C. R. Baskin. 2009. Vaccinia virus vaccines: past, present and
   future. Antiviral Res 84:1-13.
- 86. Jenne, L., C. Hauser, J. F. Arrighi, J. H. Saurat, and A. W. Hugin. 2000. Poxvirus as a vector to transduce human dendritic cells for immunotherapy: abortive infection but reduced APC function. Gene Ther 7:1575-83.
- 87. Jentarra, G. M., M. C. Heck, J. W. Youn, K. Kibler, J. O. Langland, C. R. Baskin, O. Ananieva, Y. Chang, and B. L. Jacobs. 2008. Vaccinia viruses with mutations in the E3L gene as potential replication-competent, attenuated vaccines: scarification vaccination. Vaccine 26:2860-72.
- Jing, L., T. M. Chong, C. L. McClurkan, J. Huang, B. T. Story, and D. M. Koelle. 2005. Diversity in the acute CD8 T cell response to vaccinia virus in humans. J Immunol 175:7550-9.
- Johnson, K. L., I. G. Ovsyannikova, C. J. Mason, H. R. Bergen, 3rd, and G. A. Poland.
   2009. Discovery of naturally processed and HLA-presented class I peptides from vaccinia virus infection using mass spectrometry for vaccine development. Vaccine 28:38-47.
- Jones, T. 2008. IMVAMUNE, an attenuated modified vaccinia Ankara virus vaccine for smallpox infection. Curr Opin Mol Ther 10:407-17.
- Jones-Trower, A., A. Garcia, C. A. Meseda, Y. He, C. Weiss, A. Kumar, J. P. Weir, and M. Merchlinsky. 2005. Identification and preliminary characterization of vaccinia virus (Dryvax) antigens recognized by vaccinia immune globulin. Virology 86: 2661-72.

- 92. Karupiah, G., R. M. Buller, N. Van Rooijen, C. J. Duarte, and J. Chen. 1996. Different roles for CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes and macrophage subsets in the control of a generalized virus infection. J Virol 70:8301-9.
- Karupiah, G., T. N. Fredrickson, K. L. Holmes, L. H. Khairallah, and R. M. Buller. 1993.
   Importance of interferons in recovery from mousepox. J Virol 67:4214-26.
- 94. Karupiah, G., Q. W. Xie, R. M. Buller, C. Nathan, C. Duarte, and J. D. MacMicking.
  1993. Inhibition of viral replication by interferon-gamma-induced nitric oxide synthase.
  Science 261:1445-8.
- 95. Kastenmuller, W., I. Drexler, H. Ludwig, V. Erfle, C. Peschel, H. Bernhard, and G. Sutter. 2006. Infection of human dendritic cells with recombinant vaccinia virus MVA reveals general persistence of viral early transcription but distinct maturation-dependent cytopathogenicity. Virology 350:276-88.
- 96. Kemper, A., M. Davis, and G. Freed. 2002. Expected Adverse Events in a Mass Smallpox Vaccination Campaign. Effective Clinical Practice 5(2): 84-90.
- 97. Kennedy, R., and G. A. Poland. 2007. T-Cell epitope discovery for variola and vaccinia viruses. Rev Med Virol 17:93-113.
- Kennedy, R. B., I. G. Ovsyannikova, R. M. Jacobson, and G. A. Poland. 2009. The immunology of smallpox vaccines. Curr Opin Immunol 21:314-20.
- 99. Kettle, S., A. Alcami, A. Khanna, R. Ehret, C. Jassoy, and G. L. Smith. 1997. Vaccinia virus serpin B13R (SPI-2) inhibits interleukin-1beta- converting enzyme and protects virus-infected cells from TNF- and Fas- mediated apoptosis, but does not prevent IL-1beta-induced fever. J Gen Virol 78:677-85.

- 100. Kolhapure, R. M., R. P. Deolankar, C. D. Tupe, C. G. Raut, A. Basu, B. M. Dama, S. D. Pawar, M. V. Joshi, V. S. Padbidri, M. K. Goverdhan, and K. Banerjee. 1997. Investigation of buffalopox outbreaks in Maharashtra State during 1992-1996. Indian J Med Res 106:441-6.
- 101. Konya, J., and C. H. Thompson. 1999. Molluscum contagiosum virus: antibody responses in persons with clinical lesions and seroepidemiology in a representative Australian population. J Infect Dis 179:701-4.
- 102. Kotwal, G. J., S. N. Isaacs, R. McKenzie, M. M. Frank, and B. Moss. 1990. Inhibition of the complement cascade by the major secretory protein of vaccinia virus. Science 250:827-830.
- 103. Kotwal, G. J., and B. Moss. 1988. Vaccinia virus encodes a secretory polypeptide structurally related to complement control proteins. Nature 335:176-178.
- 104. Kreijtz, J. H., Y. Suezer, G. de Mutsert, J. M. van den Brand, G. van Amerongen, B. S. Schnierle, T. Kuiken, R. A. Fouchier, J. Lower, A. D. Osterhaus, G. Sutter, and G. F. Rimmelzwaan. 2009. Preclinical evaluation of a modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA)-based vaccine against influenza A/H5N1 viruses. Vaccine 27:6296-9.
- 105. Kreijtz, J. H., Y. Suezer, G. de Mutsert, J. M. van den Brand, G. van Amerongen, B. S. Schnierle, T. Kuiken, R. A. Fouchier, J. Lower, A. D. Osterhaus, G. Sutter, and G. F. Rimmelzwaan. 2009. Recombinant Modified Vaccinia Virus Ankara Expressing the Hemagglutinin Gene Confers Protection against Homologous and Heterologous H5N1 Influenza Virus Infections in Macaques. J Infect Dis 199:405-13.
- 106. Kreijtz, J. H., Y. Suezer, G. van Amerongen, G. de Mutsert, B. S. Schnierle, J. M. Wood,T. Kuiken, R. A. Fouchier, J. Lower, A. D. Osterhaus, G. Sutter, and G. F.

Rimmelzwaan. 2007. Recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara-based vaccine induces protective immunity in mice against infection with influenza virus H5N1. J Infect Dis 195:1598-606.

- 107. Kurth, A., M. Straube, A. Kuczka, A. J. Dunsche, H. Meyer, and A. Nitsche. 2009. Cowpox virus outbreak in banded mongooses (Mungos mungo) and jaguarundis (Herpailurus yagouaroundi) with a time-delayed infection to humans. PLoS One 4(9):e6883.
- 108. Kuziel, W. A., S. J. Morgan, T. C. Dawson, S. Griffin, O. Smithies, K. Ley, and N. Maeda. 1997. Severe reduction in leukocyte adhesion and monocyte extravasation in mice deficient in CC chemokine receptor 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:12053-8.
- 109. Kwon, J. A., and A. Rich. 2005. Biological function of the vaccinia virus Z-DNA-binding protein E3L: gene transactivation and anti-apoptotic activity in HeLa cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:12759-64.
- 110. Learned LA, R. M., Wassa DW, Li Y, Olson VA, Karem K, Stempora LL, Braden ZH, Kline R, Likos A, Libama F, Moudzeo H, Bolanda JD, Tarangonia P, Boumandoki P, Formenty P, Harvey JM, Damon IK. 2005. Extended interhuman transmission of monkeypox in a hospital community in the Republic of the Congo, 2003. Am J Trop Med Hyg 73:428-34.
- 111. Lederman, E., R. Miramontes, J. Openshaw, V. A. Olson, K. L. Karem, J. Marcinak, R. Panares, W. Staggs, D. Allen, S. G. Weber, S. Vora, S. I. Gerber, C. M. Hughes, R. Regnery, L. Collins, P. S. Diaz, M. G. Reynolds, and I. Damon. 2009. Eczema vaccinatum resulting from the transmission of vaccinia virus from a smallpox vaccinee: An investigation of potential fomites in the home environment. Vaccine 27:375-7.

- Lederman, E. R., M. G. Reynolds, K. Karem, Z. Braden, L. A. Learned-Orozco, D. Wassa-Wassa, O. Moundeli, C. Hughes, J. Harvey, R. Regnery, J. V. Mombouli, and I. K. Damon. 2007. Prevalence of antibodies against orthopoxviruses among residents of Likouala region, Republic of Congo: evidence for monkeypox virus exposure. Am J Trop Med Hyg 77:1150-6.
- Lee, M. S., J. M. Roos, L. C. McGuigan, K. A. Smith, N. Cormier, L. K. Cohen, B. E. Roberts, and L. G. Payne. 1992. Molecular attenuation of vaccinia virus: mutant generation and animal characterization. J Virol 66:2617-30.
- 114. Lewis, F. M., E. Chernak, E. Goldman, Y. Li, K. Karem, I. K. Damon, R. Henkel, E. C. Newbern, P. Ross, and C. C. Johnson. 2006. Ocular vaccinia infection in laboratory worker, Philadelphia, 2004. Emerg Infect Dis 12:134-7.
- Lewis, M. W., M. B. Graham, E. Hammarlund, J. Hanifin, and M. K. Slifka. 2007. Monkeypox without exanthem. N Engl J Med 356:2112-4.
- Li, P., N. Wang, D. Zhou, C. S. Yee, C. H. Chang, R. R. Brutkiewicz, and J. S. Blum.
   2005. Disruption of MHC class II-restricted antigen presentation by vaccinia virus. J Immunol 175:6481-8.
- 117. Likos AM, S. S., Olson VA, Frace AM, Li Y, Olsen-Rasmussen M, Davidson W, Galloway R, Khristova ML, Reynolds MG, Zhao H, Carroll DS, Curns A, Formenty P, Esposito JJ, Regnery RL, Damon IK. 2005. A tale of two clades: monkeypox viruses. J Gen Virol 86:2661-72.
- 118. Lin, L., C. V. Hanson, H. J. Alter, V. Jauvin, K. A. Bernard, K. K. Murthy, P. Metzel, and L. Corash. 2005. Inactivation of viruses in platelet concentrates by photochemical treatment with amotosalen and long-wavelength ultraviolet light. Transfusion 45:580-90.

- 119. Lippincott-Schwartz, J., and D. M. Fambrough. 1987. Cycling of the integral membrane glycoprotein, LEP100, between plasma membrane and lysosomes: kinetic and morphological analysis. Cell 49:669-77.
- 120. Liu, J., S. Wennier, M. Reinhard, E. Roy, A. MacNeill, and G. McFadden. 2009. Myxoma virus expressing interleukin-15 fails to cause lethal myxomatosis in European rabbits. J Virol 83:5933-8.
- 121. Loparev, V. N., J. M. Parsons, J. C. Knight, J. F. Panus, C. A. Ray, R. M. Buller, D. J. Pickup, and J. J. Esposito. 1998. A third distinct tumor necrosis factor receptor of orthopoxviruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:3786-91.
- 122. Luttichau, H. R., J. Stine, T. P. Boesen, A. H. Johnsen, D. Chantry, J. Gerstoft, and T. W. Schwartz. 2000. A highly selective CC chemokine receptor (CCR)8 antagonist encoded by the poxvirus molluscum contagiosum. J Exp Med 191:171-80.
- MacMicking, J., Q. W. Xie, and C. Nathan. 1997. Nitric oxide and macrophage function. Annu Rev Immunol 15:323-50.
- 124. Mahalingam, S., I. K. Damon, and B. A. Lidbury. 2004. 25 years since the eradication of smallpox: why poxvirus research is still relevant. Trends Immunol 25:636-9.
- 125. Mahnel, H., and A. Mayr. 1994. [Experiences with immunization against orthopox viruses of humans and animals using vaccine strain MVA]. Berl Munch Tierarztl Wochenschr 107:253-6.
- 126. Mann, B. A., J. H. Huang, P. Li, H. C. Chang, R. B. Slee, A. O'Sullivan, M. Anita, N. Yeh, M. J. Klemsz, R. R. Brutkiewicz, J. S. Blum, and M. H. Kaplan. 2008. Vaccinia virus blocks Stat1-dependent and Stat1-independent gene expression induced by type I and type II interferons. J Interferon Cytokine Res 28:367-80.

- 127. Mannie, M. D., and M. S. Norris. 2001. MHC class-II-restricted antigen presentation by myelin basic protein-specific CD4+ T cells causes prolonged desensitization and outgrowth of CD4- responders. Cell Immunol 212:51-62.
- 128. Marq, J. B., S. Hausmann, J. Luban, D. Kolakofsky, and D. Garcin. 2009. The doublestranded RNA binding domain of the vaccinia virus E3L protein inhibits both RNA- and DNA-induced activation of interferon beta. J Biol Chem 284:25471-8.
- 129. Martina, B. E., G. van Doornum, G. M. Dorrestein, H. G. Niesters, K. J. Stittelaar, M. A. Wolters, H. G. van Bolhuis, and A. D. Osterhaus. 2006. Cowpox virus transmission from rats to monkeys, the Netherlands. Emerg Infect Dis 12:1005-7.
- Massoudi, M. S., L. Barker, and B. Schwartz. 2003. Effectiveness of postexposure vaccination for the prevention of smallpox: results of a delphi analysis. J Infect Dis 188:973-6.
- Mathew, A., F. A. Ennis, and A. L. Rothman. 2000. Transient decreases in human T cell proliferative responses following vaccinia immunization. Clin Immunol 96:100-7.
- Matz-Rensing, K., H. Ellerbrok, B. Ehlers, G. Pauli, A. Floto, M. Alex, C. P. Czerny, and
   F. J. Kaup. 2006. Fatal poxvirus outbreak in a colony of New World monkeys. Vet Pathol 43:212-8.
- Mayr, A., and K. Danner. 1978. Vaccination against pox diseases under immunosuppressive conditions. Dev Biol Stand 41:225-34.
- McKenzie, R., G. J. Kotwal, B. Moss, C. H. Hammer, and M. M. Frank. 1992.
   Regulation of Complement Activity by Vaccinia Virus Complement-Control Protein.
   J.Infect.Dis. 166:1245-1250.

- Medaglia, M. L., L. C. Pessoa, E. R. Sales, T. R. Freitas, and C. R. Damaso. 2009. Spread of cantagalo virus to northern Brazil. Emerg Infect Dis 15:1142-3.
- 136. Meisinger-Henschel, C., M. Schmidt, S. Lukassen, B. Linke, L. Krause, S. Konietzny, A. Goesmann, P. Howley, P. Chaplin, M. Suter, and J. Hausmann. 2007. Genomic sequence of chorioallantois vaccinia virus Ankara, the ancestor of modified vaccinia virus Ankara. J Gen Virol 88:3249-59.
- 137. Mercer, A., S. Fleming, A. Robinson, P. Nettleton, and H. Reid. 1997. Molecular genetic analyses of parapoxviruses pathogenic for humans. Arch Virol Suppl 13:25-34.
- Meyer, H., G. Sutter, and A. Mayr. 1991. Mapping of deletions in the genome of the highly attenuated vaccinia virus MVA and their influence on virulence. J.Gen.Virol. 72:1031-1038.
- 139. Midgley, C. M., M. M. Putz, J. N. Weber, and G. L. Smith. 2008. Vaccinia virus strain NYVAC induces substantially lower and qualitatively different human antibody responses compared with strains Lister and Dryvax. J Gen Virol 89:2992-7.
- Molino, A. C., A. B. Fleischer, Jr., and S. R. Feldman. 2004. Patient demographics and utilization of health care services for molluscum contagiosum. Pediatr Dermatol 21:628-32.
- Moss, B. 2001. Poxviruses, p. 2849-2884. *In* D. M. Knipe and P. M. Howley (ed.), Fields Virology, vol. 2. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia.
- Mossman, K., C. Upton, R. M. Buller, and G. McFadden. 1995. Species specificity of ectromelia virus and vaccinia virus interferon-gamma binding proteins. Virology 208:762-9.

- 143. Moyron-Quiroz, J. E., M. M. McCausland, R. Kageyama, A. Sette, and S. Crotty. 2009. The smallpox vaccine induces an early neutralizing IgM response. Vaccine 28:140-7.
- Mukinda, V. B., G. Mwema, M. Kilundu, D. L. Heymann, A. S. Khan, and J. J. Esposito.
  1997. Re-emergence of human monkeypox in Zaire in 1996. Monkeypox Epidemiologic
  Working Group [letter]. Lancet 349:1449-50.
- 145. Mullick, J., J. Bernet, Y. Panse, S. Hallihosur, A. K. Singh, and A. Sahu. 2005. Identification of complement regulatory domains in vaccinia virus complement control protein. J Virol 79:12382-93.
- 146. Murao, L. E., and J. L. Shisler. 2005. The MCV MC159 protein inhibits late, but not early, events of TNF-alpha-induced NF-kappaB activation. Virology 340:255-64.
- 147. Myskiw, C., J. Arsenio, R. van Bruggen, Y. Deschambault, and J. Cao. 2009. Vaccinia virus E3 suppresses expression of diverse cytokines through inhibition of the PKR, NFkappaB, and IRF3 pathways. J Virol 83:6757-68.
- Norbury, C. C., S. Basta, K. B. Donohue, D. C. Tscharke, M. F. Princiotta, P. Berglund,
   J. Gibbs, J. R. Bennink, and J. W. Yewdell. 2004. CD8+ T cell cross-priming via transfer of proteasome substrates. Science 304:1318-21.
- 149. Norbury, C. C., D. Malide, J. S. Gibbs, J. R. Bennink, and J. W. Yewdell. 2002.
   Visualizing priming of virus-specific CD8+ T cells by infected dendritic cells in vivo.
   Nat Immunol 3:265-71.
- 150. Oyoshi, M. K., A. Elkhal, L. Kumar, J. E. Scott, S. Koduru, R. He, D. Y. Leung, M. D. Howell, H. C. Oettgen, G. F. Murphy, and R. S. Geha. 2009. Vaccinia virus inoculation in sites of allergic skin inflammation elicits a vigorous cutaneous IL-17 response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:14954-9.
- 151. Panchanathan, V., G. Chaudhri, and G. Karupiah. 2006. Protective immunity against secondary poxvirus infection is dependent on antibody but not on CD4 or CD8 T-cell function. J Virol 80:6333-8.
- Parker S, N. A., Buller RM, Schultz DA. 2007. Human monkeypox: an emerging zoonotic disease. Future Microbiol 2:17-34.
- 153. Pasquetto, V., H. H. Bui, R. Giannino, F. Mirza, J. Sidney, C. Oseroff, D. C. Tscharke, K. Irvine, J. R. Bennink, B. Peters, S. Southwood, V. Cerundolo, H. Grey, J. W. Yewdell, and A. Sette. 2005. HLA-A\*0201, HLA-A\*1101, and HLA-B\*0702 transgenic mice recognize numerous poxvirus determinants from a wide variety of viral gene products. J Immunol 175:5504-15.
- 154. Pastoret, P. P., B. Brochier, B. Languet, C. Duret, G. Chappuis, and P. Desmettre. 1996.
  Stability of recombinant vaccinia-rabies vaccine in veterinary use. Dev Biol Stand 87:245-9.
- 155. Patel, D. M., R. W. Dudek, and M. D. Mannie. 2001. Intercellular exchange of class II MHC complexes: ultrastructural localization and functional presentation of adsorbed I-A/peptide complexes. Cell Immunol 214:21-34.
- 156. Putz, M. M., I. Alberini, C. M. Midgley, I. Manini, E. Montomoli, and G. L. Smith. 2005. Prevalence of antibodies to Vaccinia virus after smallpox vaccination in Italy. J Gen Virol 86:2955-60.
- 157. Raschke, W. C., S. Baird, P. Ralph, and I. Nakoinz. 1978. Functional macrophage cell lines transformed by Abelson leukemia virus. Cell 15:261-7.

- 158. Reading, P. C., A. Khanna, and G. L. Smith. 2002. Vaccinia virus CrmE encodes a soluble and cell surface tumor necrosis factor receptor that contributes to virus virulence. Virology 292:285-98.
- 159. Reading, P. C., and G. L. Smith. 2003. Vaccinia virus interleukin-18-binding protein promotes virulence by reducing gamma interferon production and natural killer and Tcell activity. J Virol 77:9960-8.
- 160. Reading, P. C., J. A. Symons, and G. L. Smith. 2003. A soluble chemokine-binding protein from vaccinia virus reduces virus virulence and the inflammatory response to infection. J Immunol 170:1435-42.
- Reed, L. J., and H. A. Muench. 1938. A simple method of estimating fifty per cent endpoints. Am J Hyg 27:493-497.
- Rehm, K. E., R. F. Connor, G. J. Jones, K. Yimbu, and R. L. Roper. 2010. Vaccinia virus A35R inhibits MHC class II antigen presentation. Virology 397:176-86.
- Rehm, K. E., R. F. Connor, G. J. B. Jones, K. Yimbu, M. D. Mannie, and R. L. Roper.
   2009. Vaccinia Virus Decreases MHC Class II Antigen Presentation, T cell Priming, and Peptide Association with MHC Class II. Immunol 128:381-392.
- 164. Rehm, K. E., G. J. Jones, A. A. Tripp, M. W. Metcalf, and R. L. Roper. 2010. The poxvirus A35 protein is an immunoregulator. J Virol 84:418-25.
- Rerks-Ngarm, S., P. Pitisuttithum, S. Nitayaphan, J. Kaewkungwal, J. Chiu, R. Paris, N. Premsri, C. Namwat, M. de Souza, E. Adams, M. Benenson, S. Gurunathan, J. Tartaglia, J. G. McNeil, D. P. Francis, D. Stablein, D. L. Birx, S. Chunsuttiwat, C. Khamboonruang, P. Thongcharoen, M. L. Robb, N. L. Michael, P. Kunasol, and J. H.

Kim. 2009. Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to prevent HIV-1 infection in Thailand. N Engl J Med 361:2209-20.

- 166. Reyes-Sandoval, A., T. Berthoud, N. Alder, L. Siani, S. C. Gilbert, A. Nicosia, S. Colloca, R. Cortese, and A. V. Hill. Prime-boost immunization with adenoviral and modified vaccinia virus ankara vectors enhances the durability and polyfunctionality of protective malaria CD8+ T-cell responses. Infect Immun 78:145-53.
- 167. Robertson, D., H. F. Paterson, P. Adamson, A. Hall, and P. Monaghan. 1995. Ultrastructural localization of ras-related proteins using epitope-tagged plasmids. J Histochem Cytochem 43:471-80.
- Robinson, M. R., I. J. Udell, P. F. Garber, H. D. Perry, and B. W. Streeten. 1992.
   Molluscum Contagiosum of the Eyelids in Patients with Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome. Ophthalmology. 99:1745-1747.
- 169. Rocha, C. D., B. C. Caetano, A. V. Machado, and O. Bruna-Romero. 2004. Recombinant viruses as tools to induce protective cellular immunity against infectious diseases. Int Microbiol 7:83-94.
- Roper, R. L. 2006. Characterization of the Vaccinia Virus A35R Protein and its Role in Virulence. J. Virol. 80:306-313.
- Roper, R. L., L. G. Payne, and B. Moss. 1996. Extracellular Vaccinia Virus Envelope Glycoprotein Encoded by the A33R Gene. J.Virol. 70:3753-3762.
- 172. Roper, R. L., E. J. Wolffe, A. Weisberg, and B. Moss. 1998. The envelope protein encoded by the A33R gene is required for formation of actin-containing microvilli and efficient cell-to-cell spread of vaccinia virus. J Virol 72:4192-204.

- 173. Rudensky, A., S. Rath, P. Preston-Hurlburt, D. B. Murphy, and C. A. Janeway, Jr. 1991.On the complexity of self. Nature 353:660-2.
- Sakala, I. G., G. Chaudhri, R. M. Buller, A. A. Nuara, H. Bai, N. Chen, and G. Karupiah.
   2007. Poxvirus-encoded gamma interferon binding protein dampens the host immune response to infection. J Virol 81:3346-53.
- Sanchez-Puig, J. M., L. Sanchez, G. Roy, and R. Blasco. 2004. Susceptibility of different leukocyte cell types to Vaccinia virus infection. Virol J 1:10.
- Saraiva, M., and A. Alcami. 2001. CrmE, a novel soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor encoded by poxviruses. J Virol 75:226-33.
- 177. Schell, J., N. F. Rose, N. Fazo, P. A. Marx, M. Hunter, E. Ramsburg, D. Montefiori, P. Earl, B. Moss, and J. K. Rose. 2009. Long-term vaccine protection from AIDS and clearance of viral DNA following SHIV89.6P challenge. Vaccine 27:979-86.
- Schmelz, M., B. Sodeik, M. Ericsson, E. J. Wolffe, H. Shida, G. Hiller, and G. Griffiths.
   1994. Assembly of Vaccinia Virus The Second Wrapping Cisterna Is Derived from the Trans Golgi Network. J.Virol. 68:130-147.
- 179. Scott, J. E., A. ElKhal, E. J. Freyschmidt, D. H. MacArthur, D. McDonald, M. D. Howell, D. Y. Leung, A. Laouar, N. Manjunath, T. Bianchi, M. Boes, H. C. Oettgen, and R. S. Geha. 2007. Impaired immune response to vaccinia virus inoculated at the site of cutaneous allergic inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 120:1382-8.
- 180. See, R. H., A. N. Zakhartchouk, M. Petric, D. J. Lawrence, C. P. Mok, R. J. Hogan, T. Rowe, L. A. Zitzow, K. P. Karunakaran, M. M. Hitt, F. L. Graham, L. Prevec, J. B. Mahony, C. Sharon, T. C. Auperin, J. M. Rini, A. J. Tingle, D. W. Scheifele, D. M. Skowronski, D. M. Patrick, T. G. Voss, L. A. Babiuk, J. Gauldie, R. L. Roper, R. C.

Brunham, and B. B. Finlay. 2006. Comparative evaluation of two severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) vaccine candidates in mice challenged with SARS coronavirus. J Gen Virol 87:641-50.

- 181. Seet, B. T., J. B. Johnston, C. R. Brunetti, J. W. Barrett, H. Everett, C. Cameron, J. Sypula, S. H. Nazarian, A. Lucas, and G. McFadden. 2003. Poxviruses and immune evasion. Annu Rev Immunol 21:377-423.
- 182. Seo, E. J., F. Liu, M. Kawagishi-Kobayashi, T. L. Ung, C. Cao, A. C. Dar, F. Sicheri, and T. E. Dever. 2008. Protein kinase PKR mutants resistant to the poxvirus pseudosubstrate K3L protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:16894-9.
- 183. Shih, P. C., M. S. Yang, S. C. Lin, Y. Ho, J. C. Hsiao, D. R. Wang, S. S. Yu, W. Chang, and D. L. Tzou. 2009. A turn-like structure "KKPE" segment mediates the specific binding of viral protein A27 to heparin and heparan sulfate on cell surfaces. J Biol Chem 284:36535-46.
- 184. Shisler, J. L., and B. Moss. 2001. Molluscum contagiosum virus inhibitors of apoptosis: The MC159 v-FLIP protein blocks Fas-induced activation of procaspases and degradation of the related MC160 protein. Virology 282:14-25.
- 185. Silva-Fernandes, A. T., C. E. Travassos, J. M. Ferreira, J. S. Abrahao, E. S. Rocha, F. Viana-Ferreira, J. R. dos Santos, C. A. Bonjardim, P. C. Ferreira, and E. G. Kroon. 2009. Natural human infections with Vaccinia virus during bovine vaccinia outbreaks. J Clin Virol 44:308-13.
- 186. Smee, D. F., M. H. Wong, K. W. Bailey, J. R. Beadle, K. Y. Hostetler, and R. W. Sidwell. 2004. Effects of four antiviral substances on lethal vaccinia virus (IHD strain) respiratory infections in mice. Int J Antimicrob Agents 23:430-7.

- 187. Smith, C. A., T. D. Smith, P. J. Smolak, D. Friend, H. Hagen, M. Gergart, L. Park, D. J. Pickup, D. Torrance, K. Mohler, K. Schooley, and R. G. Goodwin. 1997. Poxvirus genomes encode a secreted, soluble protein that preferentially inhibits beta chemokine activity yet lacks sequence homology to known chemokine receptors. Virology. 236:316-327.
- Smith, V. P., and A. Alcami. 2000. Expression of secreted cytokine and chemokine inhibitors by ectromelia virus. J Virol 74:8460-71.
- Smith, V. P., and A. Alcami. 2002. Inhibition of interferons by ectromelia virus. J Virol 76:1124-34.
- 190. Smith, V. P., N. A. Bryant, and A. Alcami. 2000. Ectromelia, vaccinia and cowpox viruses encode secreted interleukin-18- binding proteins. J Gen Virol 81: 1223-30.
- 191. Snyder, J. T., I. M. Belyakov, A. Dzutsev, F. Lemonnier, and J. A. Berzofsky. 2004. Protection against lethal vaccinia virus challenge in HLA-A2 transgenic mice by immunization with a single CD8+ T-cell peptide epitope of vaccinia and variola viruses. J Virol 78:7052-60.
- Spriggs, M. K., D. E. Hruby, C. R. Maliszewski, D. J. Pickup, J. E. Sims, R. M. Buller, and J. VanSlyke. 1992. Vaccinia and cowpox viruses encode a novel secreted interleukin-1- binding protein. Cell 71:145-52.
- 193. Spriggs, M. K., B. H. Koller, T. Sato, P. J. Morrissey, W. C. Fanslow, O. Smithies, R. F. Voice, M. B. Widmer, and C. R. Maliszewski. 1992. Beta 2-microglobulin-, CD8+ T-cell-deficient mice survive inoculation with high doses of vaccinia virus and exhibit altered IgG responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:6070-4.

- 194. Sroller, V., V. Ludvikova, L. Maresova, P. Hainz, and S. Nemeckova. 2001. Effect of IFN-gamma receptor gene deletion on vaccinia virus virulence. Arch Virol 146:239-49.
- 195. Stack, J., I. R. Haga, M. Schroder, N. W. Bartlett, G. Maloney, P. C. Reading, K. A. Fitzgerald, G. L. Smith, and A. G. Bowie. 2005. Vaccinia virus protein A46R targets multiple Toll-like-interleukin-1 receptor adaptors and contributes to virulence. J Exp Med 201:1007-18.
- 196. Staib, C., S. Kisling, V. Erfle, and G. Sutter. 2005. Inactivation of the viral interleukin 1beta receptor improves CD8+ T-cell memory responses elicited upon immunization with modified vaccinia virus Ankara. J Gen Virol 86:1997-2006.
- 197. Steinborn, A., S. Essbauer, and W. Marsch. 2003. [Human cowpox/catpox infection. A potentially unrecognized disease]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 128:607-10.
- 198. Stich, A., H. Meyer, B. Kohler, and K. Fleischer. 2002. Tanapox: first report in a European traveller and identification by PCR. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:178-9.
- Stickl, H., V. Hochstein-Mintzel, A. Mayr, H. C. Huber, H. Schafer, and A. Holzner.
   1974. [MVA vaccination against smallpox: clinical tests with an attenuated live vaccinia virus strain (MVA) (author's transl)]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 99:2386-92.
- Stimpfling, J. H. 1965. Immunogenetics of mouse cellular isoantigens. Wistar Inst Symp Monogr 3:5-10.
- 201. Stittelaar, K. J., T. Kuiken, R. L. de Swart, G. van Amerongen, H. W. Vos, H. G. Niesters, P. van Schalkwijk, T. van der Kwast, L. S. Wyatt, B. Moss, and A. D. Osterhaus. 2001. Safety of modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) in immune-suppressed macaques. Vaccine 19:3700-9.

- 202. Stittelaar, K. J., G. van Amerongen, I. Kondova, T. Kuiken, R. F. van Lavieren, F. H. Pistoor, H. G. Niesters, G. van Doornum, B. A. van der Zeijst, L. Mateo, P. J. Chaplin, and A. D. Osterhaus. 2005. Modified vaccinia virus Ankara protects macaques against respiratory challenge with monkeypox virus. J Virol 79:7845-51.
- 203. Stober, C. B., U. G. Lange, M. T. Roberts, A. Alcami, and J. M. Blackwell. 2007. Heterologous priming-boosting with DNA and modified vaccinia virus Ankara expressing tryparedoxin peroxidase promotes long-term memory against Leishmania major in susceptible BALB/c Mice. Infect Immun 75:852-60.
- 204. Sutter, G., and B. Moss. 1992. Nonreplicating vaccinia vector efficiently expresses recombinant genes. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA. 89:10847-10851.
- 205. Symons, J. A., E. Adams, D. C. Tscharke, P. C. Reading, H. Waldmann, and G. L. Smith. 2002. The vaccinia virus C12L protein inhibits mouse IL-18 and promotes virus virulence in the murine intranasal model. J Gen Virol 83:2833-44.
- 206. Symons, J. A., A. Alcami, and G. L. Smith. 1995. Vaccinia virus encodes a soluble type I interferon receptor of novel structure and broad species specificity. Cell 81:551-560.
- 207. Symons, J. A., D. C. Tscharke, N. Price, and G. L. Smith. 2002. A study of the vaccinia virus interferon-gamma receptor and its contribution to virus virulence. J Gen Virol 83:1953-64.
- 208. Terajima, M., J. Cruz, G. Raines, E. D. Kilpatrick, J. S. Kennedy, A. L. Rothman, and F. A. Ennis. 2003. Quantitation of CD8+ T cell responses to newly identified HLA-A\*0201-restricted T cell epitopes conserved among vaccinia and variola (smallpox) viruses. J Exp Med 197:927-32.

- 209. Tewari, M., and V. M. Dixit. 1995. Fas- and tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis is inhibited by the poxvirus *crmA* gene product. J.Biol.Chem. 270:3255-3260.
- 210. Thurau, M., H. Everett, M. Tapernoux, J. Tschopp, and M. Thome. 2006. The TRAF3binding site of human molluscipox virus FLIP molecule MC159 is critical for its capacity to inhibit Fas-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 13:1577-85.
- Upfal, M. J., and S. Cinti. 2004. Smallpox vaccination and adverse cardiac events. Emerg Infect Dis 10:961-2.
- 212. Upton, C., K. Mossman, and G. McFadden. 1992. Encoding of a homolog of the IFNgamma receptor by myxoma virus. Science 258:1369-1373.
- 213. Upton, C., S. Slack, A. L. Hunter, A. Ehlers, and R. L. Roper. 2003. Poxvirus orthologous cluster: toward defining the minimum essential poxvirus genome. J Virol 77:7590-600.
- 214. Vancova, I., C. La Bonnardiere, and P. Kontsek. 1998. Vaccinia virus protein B18R inhibits the activity and cellular binding of the novel type interferon-delta. J Gen Virol 79: 1647-9.
- Vanderplasschen, A., M. Hollinshead, and G. L. Smith. 1998. Intracellular and extracellular vaccinia virions enter cells by different mechanisms. J Gen Virol 79: 877-87.
- Vijaysri, S., G. Jentarra, M. C. Heck, A. A. Mercer, C. J. McInnes, and B. L. Jacobs.
   2008. Vaccinia viruses with mutations in the E3L gene as potential replicationcompetent, attenuated vaccines: intra-nasal vaccination. Vaccine 26:664-76.

- 217. Viner, K. M., N. Girgis, H. Kwak, and S. N. Isaacs. 2006. B5-deficient vaccinia virus as a vaccine vector for the expression of a foreign antigen in vaccinia immune animals. Virology 361(2): 356-63.
- Viner, K. M., and S. N. Isaacs. 2005. Activity of vaccinia virus-neutralizing antibody in the sera of smallpox vaccinees. Microbes Infect 7:579-83.
- 219. Waibler, Z., M. Anzaghe, T. Frenz, A. Schwantes, C. Pohlmann, H. Ludwig, M. Palomo-Otero, A. Alcami, G. Sutter, and U. Kalinke. 2009. Vaccinia virus-mediated inhibition of type I interferon responses is a multifactorial process involving the soluble type I interferon receptor B18 and intracellular components. J Virol 83:1563-71.
- 220. Webb, T. J., R. A. Litavecz, M. A. Khan, W. Du, J. Gervay-Hague, G. J. Renukaradhya, and R. R. Brutkiewicz. 2006. Inhibition of CD1d1-mediated antigen presentation by the vaccinia virus B1R and H5R molecules. Eur J Immunol 36:2595-600.
- 221. Wyatt, L. S., P. L. Earl, L. A. Eller, and B. Moss. 2004. Highly attenuated smallpox vaccine protects mice with and without immune deficiencies against pathogenic vaccinia virus challenge. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:4590-5.
- 222. Xiang, Y., and B. Moss. 1999. IL-18 binding and inhibition of interferon gamma induction by human poxvirus-encoded proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:11537-42.
- 223. Xiao, Z., J. M. Curtsinger, M. Prlic, S. C. Jameson, and M. F. Mescher. 2007. The CD8 T cell response to vaccinia virus exhibits site-dependent heterogeneity of functional responses. Int Immunol 19:733-43.
- 224. Xu, R., A. J. Johnson, D. Liggitt, and M. J. Bevan. 2004. Cellular and humoral immunity against vaccinia virus infection of mice. J Immunol 172:6265-71.

- 225. Xu, R. H., M. Cohen, Y. Tang, E. Lazear, J. C. Whitbeck, R. J. Eisenberg, G. H. Cohen, and L. J. Sigal. 2008. The orthopoxvirus type I IFN binding protein is essential for virulence and an effective target for vaccination. J Exp Med 205:981-92.
- 226. Xu, X., P. Nash, and G. McFadden. 2000. Myxoma virus expresses a TNF receptor homolog with two distinct functions. Virus Genes 21:97-109.
- 227. Yao, Y., P. Li, P. Singh, A. T. Thiele, D. S. Wilkes, G. J. Renukaradhya, R. R. Brutkiewicz, J. B. Travers, G. D. Luker, S. C. Hong, J. S. Blum, and C. H. Chang. 2007. Vaccinia virus infection induces dendritic cell maturation but inhibits antigen presentation by MHC class II. Cell Immunol 246:92-102.
- Zafar, A., R. Swanepoel, R. Hewson, M. Nizam, A. Ahmed, A. Husain, A. Grobbelaar,
  K. Bewley, V. Mioulet, B. Dowsett, L. Easterbrook, and R. Hasan. 2007. Nosocomial buffalopoxvirus infection, Karachi, Pakistan. Emerg Infect Dis 13:902-4.

## APPENDIX A: ANIMAL AND BIOHAZARDOUS MATERIALS USE APPROVALS



Animal Care and Use Committee East Carolina University 212 Ed Warren Life Sciences Building Greenville, NC 27834 252-744-2436 office • 252-744-2355 fax

August 25, 2006

Rachel Roper, Ph.D. Department of Micro/Immuno Brody 5E-106A ECU Brody School of Medicine

Dear Dr. Roper:

Your Animal Use Protocol entitled, "Analysis of A35R Protein Interactions and Functions Using the Murine Challenge Model," (AUP #K139) was reviewed by this institution's Animal Care and Use Committee on 8/25/06. The following action was taken by the Committee:

"Approved as submitted"

A copy is enclosed for your laboratory files. Please be reminded that all animal procedures must be conducted as described in the approved Animal Use Protocol. Modifications of these procedures cannot be performed without prior approval of the ACUC. The Animal Welfare Act and Public Health Service Guidelines require the ACUC to suspend activities not in accordance with approved procedures and report such activities to the responsible University Official (Vice Chancellor for Health Sciences or Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs) and appropriate federal Agencies.

Sincerely yours.

Robert G. Carroll, Ph.D. Chairman, Animal Care and Use Committee

RGC/jd

enclosure

East Carolina University is a constituent institution of the University of North Carolina. An Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Employe



Animal Care and Use Committee East Carolina University 212 Ed Warren Life Sciences Building Greenville, NC 27834 252-744-2436 office • 252-744-2355 fax

June 10, 2009

Rachel Roper, Ph.D. Department of Micro/Immuno Brody 5E-106 ECU Brody School of Medicine

Dear Dr. Roper:

Your Animal Use Protocol entitled, "Analysis of A35R Protein Interactions and Functions Using the Murine Vaccination Challenge Model," (AUP #K139a) was reviewed by this institution's Animal Care and Use Committee on 6/10/09. The following action was taken by the Committee:

"Approved as submitted"

## \*Please contact Dale Aycock at 744-2997 prior to biohazard use\*

A copy is enclosed for your laboratory files. Please be reminded that all animal procedures must be conducted as described in the approved Animal Use Protocol. Modifications of these procedures cannot be performed without prior approval of the ACUC. The Animal Welfare Act and Public Health Service Guidelines require the ACUC to suspend activities not in accordance with approved procedures and report such activities to the responsible University Official (Vice Chancellor for Health Sciences or Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs) and appropriate federal Agencies.

Sincerely yours,

UsCandl, Ph.D

Robert G. Carroll, Ph.D. Chairman, Animal Care and Use Committee

RGC/jd

enclosure

East Carolina University is a constituent institution of the University of North Carolina. An Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Employer.



Animal Care and Use Committee East Carolina University 212 Ed Warren Life Sciences Building Greenville, NC 27834 252-744-2436 office • 252-744-2355 fax

March 27, 2006

Mark Mannie, Ph.D. Department of Micro/Immuno Brody 5E-106 ECU Brody School of Medicine

Dear Dr. Mannie:

Your Animal Use Protocol entitled, "Antigen-Specific Vaccines," (AUP #K144) was reviewed by this institution's Animal Care and Use Committee on 3/27/06. The following action was taken by the Committee:

"Approved as submitted"

A copy is enclosed for your laboratory files. Please be reminded that all animal procedures must be conducted as described in the approved Animal Use Protocol. Modifications of these procedures cannot be performed without prior approval of the ACUC. The Animal Welfare Act and Public Health Service Guidelines require the ACUC to suspend activities not in accordance with approved procedures and report such activities to the responsible University Official (Vice Chancellor for Health Sciences or Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs) and appropriate federal Agencies.

Sincerely yours,

Robul & Carmel, Ph.D

Robert G. Carroll, Ph.D. Chairman, Animal Care and Use Committee

RGC/jd

enclosure

ast Carolina University is a constituent institution of the University of North Carolina. An Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Employer.



Animal Care and Use Committee East Carolina University 212 Ed Warren Life Sciences Building Greenville, NC 27834 252-744-2436 office • 252-744-2355 fax

March 27, 2006

Mark Mannie, Ph.D. Department of Micro/Immuno Brody 5E-106 ECU Brody School of Medicine

Dear Dr. Mannie:

Your research proposal entitled, "Antigen-Specific Inhibition of EAE," submitted to the National Multiple Sclerosis Society, was reviewed by this institution's Animal Care and Use Committee on 3/27/06. The following action was taken by the Committee:

"Approved as submitted"

Attached is an approval letter to be submitted by you to the National Multiple Sclerosis Society.

Please contact me if I can be of further assistance.

Sincerely yours,

bland, Ph.D

Robert G. Carroll, Ph.D. Chairman, Animal Care and Use Committee

RGC/jd

enclosure

East Carolina University is a constituent institution of the University of North Carolina. An Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Employer.



The Brody School of Medicine Office of Prospective Health East Carolina University 188 Warren Life Science Building Greenville, NC 27834 252-744-2417 fax

Occupational Medicine Employee Health 252-744-2070	TO:	Dr. Rachel Roper Department of Microbiology & Immunology
Radiation Safety 252-744-2236	FROM	Benton Daw
Infection Control 252-744-3202		Biological Safety
Biological Safety 252-744-3437	DATE:	January 20, 2006

~

SUBJECT: Biohazardous Agent Update for RoperR01

The East Carolina University Institutional Biological Safety Committee approved your biohazardous agent update on January 19, 2006 for your research involving biosafety level 2 poxviruses infections of mice pending the following clarifications:

- Weighing Mice Section of Protocol #8
  - Add sanitized hands.
- Transport of Virus to animal care facilities
  - Add biohazardous label to outer container
    - Disinfect ice bucket after use
    - Use freight elevator
- Final lab inspection of animal facilities by the office of Biological Safety

After I have received a final copy of your protocol, I will notify comparative medicine and employee health.

Thank you for your continued cooperation, and please contact me with any further questions (744-2237).

212



## The Brody School of Medicine

Office of Prospective Health East Carolina University 188 Warren Life Science Building • Greenville, NC 27858-4354 252-816-2417 fax

Occupational Medicine Employee Health 252-816-2070

Radiation Safety 252-816-2236 Infection Control 252-816-3202

Biological Safety 252-816-3437

8/17/06 Dear Dr. Roper:

Thank you for submitting your revised Registration for the Use of Biohazardous Agents. The Biosafety Committee reviewed your registration form and has approved the work of Project Title: Poxvirus virulence.

Thank you,

John Williams Associate Biological Safety Officer Office of Prospective Health/ Biological Safety Office: Brody GE-94 Telephone: 252-744-2237 Email: williamsjohna@ecu.edu

CC: Jeff Smith, PhD. Chair

~

East Carolina University is a constituent institution of the University of North Carolina. An Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Employer.

## **APPENDIX B: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS**

## Chapter 2

#### JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jan 12, 2010

This is a License Agreement between Kristina E Rehm ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	2331110165695
License date	Dec 16, 2009
Licensed content publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed content publication	Immunology
Licensed content title	Vaccinia virus decreases major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II antigen presentation, T-cell priming, and peptide association with MHC class II
Licensed content author	Rehm Kristina E., Connor Ramsey F., Jones Gwendolyn J. B., et al
Licensed content date	Jan 1, 0015
Start page	381
End page	392
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

renns and conditions

## TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one if its group companies (each a "Wiley Company") or a society for whom a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular journal (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account (these are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

### Terms and Conditions

1. The materials you have requested permission to reproduce (the "Materials") are protected by copyright.

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?IID=2009121 1261021197695

2. You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sublicensable, non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license is for a one-time use only with a maximum distribution equal to the number that you identified in the licensing process. Any form of republication granted by this licence must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this licence (although copies prepared before may be distributed thereafter). Any electronic posting of the Materials is limited to one year from the date permission is granted and is on the condition that a link is placed to the journal homepage on Wiley's online journals publication platform at www.interscience.wiley.com. The Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher and on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Material. Any third party material is expressly excluded from this permission.

3. With respect to the Materials, all rights are reserved. No part of the Materials may be copied, modified, adapted, translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner. You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Materials, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.

4. The Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc or one of its related companies (WILEY) or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto.

5. WILEY DOES NOT MAKE ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND WAIVED BY YOU.

6. WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.

7. You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.

8. IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF AR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.

Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?lID=2009121\_1261021197695

possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.

10. The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.

11. This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.

12. These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.

13. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.

14. WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

15. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and you agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts.

BY CLICKING ON THE "I ACCEPT" BUTTON, YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU HAVE READ AND FULLY UNDERSTAND EACH OF THE SECTIONS OF AND PROVISIONS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT YOU ARE IN AGREEMENT WITH AND ARE WILLING TO ACCEPT ALL OF YOUR OBLIGATIONS AS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT.

#### V1.2

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

If you would like to pay for this license now, please remit this license along with your payment made payable to "COPYRIGHT CLEARANCE CENTER" otherwise you will be invoiced within 30 days of the license date. Payment should be in the form of a check or money order referencing your account number and this license number 2331110165695.

If you would prefer to pay for this license by credit card, please go to <u>http://www.copyright.com/creditcard</u> to download our credit card payment authorization form.

Make Payment To: Copyright Clearance Center Dept 001 P.O. Box 843006 Boston, MA 02284-3006

If you find copyrighted material related to this license will not be used and wish to cancel, please contact us referencing this license number 2331110165695 and noting

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?lID=2009121\_1261021197695

## ELSEVIER

- Home
- Products
- Alerts ٠
- User Resources
- About Us
- Support & Contact
   Elsevier Websites

#### Advanced Product Search Search

COPYRIGHT

changes also retroactive?

Journal authors'

For Authors

- home Why publish with
- Elsevier Resource center
- Guide to publishing
- with Elsevier
- Funding body
- agreements/policies Authors' rights

- Track your accepted article FAQ
- Book authors' home
- Permissions

Products Support & contact

About Elsevier

User Resources

- As a journal author, you retain rights for large number of author uses, including use by your employing institute or company. These rights are retained and permitted without the need to obtain specific permission from Elsevier. These include:
  - the right to make copies (print or electric) of the journal article for their own personal use, including for their own classroom teaching use;
  - the right to make copies and distribute copies (including via email) of the journal article to research colleagues, for personal use by such colleagues (but not for Commercial Purposes\*\*, as listed below);
  - the right to post a pre-print version of the journal article on Internet web sites including electronic pre-print servers, and to retain indefinitely such version on such servers or sites (see also our information on <u>electronic preprints</u> for a more detailed discussion on these points);
  - the right to post a revised personal version of the text of the final journal article (to reflect changes made in the peer review process) on the author's personal or institutional web site or server, incorporating the complete citation and with a link to the Digital Object Identifier (DOI) of the article; the right to present the journal article at a meeting or
  - conference and to distribute copies of such paper or article to the delegates attending the meeting;
  - The belegates attending the fineeding, for the author's employer, if the journal article is a 'work for hire', made within the scope of the author's employment, the right to use all or part of the information in (any version of) the journal article for other intra-company use (e.g. training), including by posting the article on secure, internal corporate intranets:
  - patent and trademark rights and rights to any process or procedure described in the journal article; the right to include the journal article, in full or in part, in a
  - thesis or dissertation;
  - the right to use the journal article or any part thereof in a printed compliation of works of the author, such as collected writings or lecture notes (subsequent to publication of the article in the journal); and
    the right to prepare other derivative works, to extend the

### http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/authorsview.authors/copyright

#### 1/12/2010

How do I obtain a Journal Publishing Agreement? Can I post my article on the Internet? Why does Elsevier request transfer of copyright? Why does Elsevier believe it needs exclusive rights? Can you provide me with a PDF file of my article?

What rights do I retain as a journal author\*?

What is Elsevier's policy on plagiarism and conflicts of interest?

When Elsevier changes its journal usage policies, are those

What rights do I retain as a journal author\*?

 Obtain permission to use Elsevier material

Your question not found here?

Submit question
 Specific contacts

## Chapter 4

#### AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR MICROBIOLOGY LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jan 12, 2010

This is a License Agreement between Kristina E Rehm ("You") and American Society for Microbiology ("American Society for Microbiology") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by American Society for Microbiology, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	2344370877116
License date	Jan 08, 2010
Licensed content publisher	American Society for Microbiology
Licensed content publication	Journal of Virology
Licensed content title	The Poxvirus A35 Protein Is an Immunoregulator
Licensed content author	Kristina E. Rehm, Rachel L. Roper
Licensed content date	Jan 1, 2010
Volume	84
Issue	1
Start page	418
End page	425
Type of Use	Dissertation/Thesis
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Full article
Order reference number	
Title of your thesis / dissertation	THE POXVIRUS A35 PROTEIN PROMOTES VIRULENCE BY REGULATING THE HOST ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSE
Expected completion date	May 2010
Estimated size(pages)	150
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

Publisher Terms and Conditions

The publisher for this copyrighted material is the American Society for Microbiology (ASM). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

1. ASM hereby grants to you a non-exclusive license to use this material. Licenses are for onetime use only with a maximum distribution equal to the number that you identified in the licensing process; any form of republication must be completed within 1 year from the date

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?IID=2010010\_1262983621116

hereof (although copies prepared before then may be distributed thereafter). The copyright of all material specified remains with ASM, and permission for reproduction is limited to the formats and products indicated in your license. The text may not be altered in any way without the express permission of the copyright owners.

2. The licenses may be exercised anywhere in the world.

3. You must include the copyright and permission notice in connection with any reproduction of the licensed material, i.e. Journal name, year, volume, page numbers, DOI and reproduced/amended with permission from American Society for Microbiology.

4. The following conditions apply to photocopies:

a. The copies must be of high quality and match the standard of the original article.

b. The copies must be a true reproduction word for word.

c. No proprietary/trade names may be substituted.

d. No additional text, tables or figures may be added to the original text.

e. The integrity of the article should be preserved, i.e., no advertisements will be printed on the article.

f. The above permission does NOT include rights for any online or other electronic reproduction.

5. The following conditions apply to translations:

a. The translation must be of high quality and match the standard of the original article.

b. The translation must be a true reproduction word for word.

c. All drug names must be generic; no proprietary/trade names may be substituted.

d. No additional text, tables or figures may be added to the translated text.

e. The integrity of the article should be preserved, i.e., no advertisements will be printed on the article.

f. The translated version of ASM material must also carry a disclaimer in English and in the language of the translation. The two versions (English and other language) of the disclaimer MUST appear on the inside front cover or at the beginning of the translated material as follows:

The American Society for Microbiology takes no responsibility for the accuracy of the translation from the published English original and is not liable for any errors which may occur. No responsibility is assumed, and responsibility is hereby disclaimed, by the American Society for Microbiology for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of product liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of methods, products, instructions or ideas presented in the Journal. Independent verification of diagnosis and drug dosages should be made. Discussions, views, and recommendations as to medical procedures, choice of drugs and drug dosages are the responsibility of the authors.

g. This license does NOT apply to translations made of manuscripts published ahead of print as "[ASM Journal] Accepts" papers. Translation permission is granted only for the final published version of the ASM article. Furthermore, articles translated in their entirety must honor the ASM embargo period, and thus may not appear in print or online until 6 months after the official publication date in the original ASM journal.

6. While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by ASM or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. In addition, permission granted is contingent upon author permission, which you MUST obtain, and appropriate credit (see item number 3 for details). If you fail to comply with any material provision of this license, ASM shall be entitled to revoke this license immediately and retain fees paid for the grant of the license. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and ASM reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?lID=2010010 1262983621116

1/12/2010

Page 2 of 4

7. ASM reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. ASM makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material and adopts on its own behalf the limitations and disclaimers established by CCC on its behalf in its Billing and Payment terms and conditions for this licensing transaction.

9. You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless ASM and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

10. This license is personal to you, but may be assigned or transferred by you to a business associate (or to your employer) if you give prompt written notice of the assignment or transfer to the publisher. No such assignment or transfer shall relieve you of the obligation to pay the designated license fee on a timely basis (although payment by the identified assignee can fulfill your obligation).

11. This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of ASM, by CCC on ASM 's behalf).

12. Objection to Contrary terms: ASM hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and ASM (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

13. The following terms and conditions apply to Commercial Photocopy and Commercial Reprint requests and should be considered by requestors to be additional terms. All other ASM terms and conditions indicating how the content may and may not be used also apply.

#### Limitations of Use:

The Materials you have requested permission to reuse in a commercial reprint or commercial photocopy are only for the use that you have indicated in your request, and they MAY NOT be used for either resale to others or republication to the public. Further, you may not decompile, reverse engineer, disassemble, rent, lease, loan, sell, sublicense, or create derivative works from the Materials without ASM's prior written permission.

14. Revocation: This license transaction shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of Washington, DC. You hereby agree to submit to the jurisdiction of the federal and state courts located in Washington, DC for purposes of resolving any disputes that may arise in connection with this licensing transaction. ASM or Copyright Clearance Center may, within 30 days of Issuance of this License, deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will ASM or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to ASM and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

### v1.5

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?IID=2010010 1262983621116